

The role of hBCATc in breast cancer progression through IGF-1 and insulin signalling cascades

Mai Ahmed Shafei

Department of Biological, Biomedical and Analytical Sciences, University of the West of England, Bristol

October, 2019

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the University of the West of England, Bristol for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

This research programme was carried out in collaboration with the Department of Translational Health Sciences at the Bristol Medical School

Copyright disclaimer

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement

Acknowledgements

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious and the Most Merciful. All praises are due to Allah who gave me the strength and blessings to complete this research project. This thesis and research would not have been possible without all of the support from my family, friends and supervisory team. There are not enough words to express my appreciation for everyone that has been there to support me through this PhD journey.

I would like to especially express my sincere gratitude to my primary supervisor Prof. Myra Conway for her invaluable support through constructive comments and suggestions throughout the PhD journey and continually believing in me. Thanks for pointing out the positive aspects from my results especially when I was having a bad day. Many thanks to my supervisory team Dr. David Qualtrough and Dr. Sarah Dean for their support in this project as well as the technical team at UWE; David Corry, Jeff Davey, Paul Kendrick and all others. Special thanks to my PhD colleagues Dr. Arwa Flemban, Jasmine Davis, Grace Okoro, Fred Hudd, Marcela Usmari, Dr. Tom Forshaw and Dr. Mathew Harris, Layla Al Hijab, Tareg Belali, Sultan Al-Malki, Bertrand Monnier, Claire Caygill and Samantha Jumbe for their advice, support and help in time of need. It was lovely to work with all of you in the lab and you all really made the PhD experience an enjoyable one.

Also, much appreciation goes to everyone at Southmead Hospital for allowing me to use their facilities and offering support with new protocols. I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Claire Perks, Reham Mashat, Ahmed Alghamdi and the technical team there. Sincere thanks to my friends and family whom have continually supported in many ways from emotional support to listening to me talking endlessly about my research. In particular special thanks to my mother Dr. Ahlam El-Gendy for her endless love and encouragement who has truly been my inspiration and guiding light throughout this journey. Thank you to everyone that made this thesis possible.

Abstract

Introduction and Aims: Breast cancer remains the leading cause of cancer mortality in women globally, despite advances in the development of targeted therapies. Driven by oncogenic signals, cancer cells undergo metabolic reprogramming, upregulating metabolite transporters and shuttling nutrients to promote proliferation and migration. The expression of key metabolic enzymes involved in BCAA metabolism (hBCATc and hBCATm), isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH1 and IDH2) and serine metabolism (PHGDH) have been demonstrated to be upregulated in breast cancer. However, the expression patterns and the role of these metabolic proteins in breast cancer tumourigenesis remains to be elucidated. This research hypothesises that these metabolic pathways converge in tumour cells, whereby particular metabolic pathways are favoured differentially between breast cancer subtypes, which could lead to the identification of novel therapeutic targets. In breast cancer insulin/IGF-1 signalling has been demonstrated to contribute to tumourigenesis through the activation of growth signalling effectors which is mediated by two chief pathways: Akt/mTOR and RAS/MAPK. As nutrient levels of BCAAs particularly leucine, substrates of hBCAT, regulate the mTOR pathway hBCAT was hypothesised to play a role in the regulation of proliferation and migration of triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) cells through the IGF-1 and insulin signalling pathways.

Methods: Using immunohistochemistry, the expression profile of the metabolic proteins was assessed between breast cancer subtypes. The impact of hBCATc expression on proliferation, migration, invasion, apoptosis and modulation of PI3K/Akt and RAS/MAPK signalling was assessed using molecular biological investigations, Western blot and confocal analysis.

IV

Results and discussion: Using serial sections, hBCATm was found to be significantly associated with IDH1 expression, indicating that these two metabolic pathways are activated concomitantly. Expression of hBCATm and IDH1 correlated with luminal A breast cancer and smaller breast tumours, indicating better prognosis. Differentially, hBCATc expression was found to be significantly associated with the more aggressive HER2+ and TNBC subtypes. For the first time, knockdown of hBCATc was demonstrated to significantly reduce insulin and IGF-1-mediated proliferation, migration and invasion in TNBC cells. An analysis of this pathway showed that when overexpressed hBCATc regulates proliferation through the PI3K/Akt/mTOR axis, whilst simultaneously attenuating the Ras/MAPK pathway, indicating that hBCATc acts as a conduit between these two pathways. Overexpression of hBCATc ultimately led to the increase in FOXO3a, Nrf2 and GRP78, which play fundamental roles in cell proliferation, cell survival and protein folding. Therefore, hBCATc has been demonstrated to provide TNBC cells with metabolic plasticity to alter dependence on the RAS/MAPK and PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling cascades, in response to IGF-1/insulin, to promote tumour survival and progression.

Poster presentations and Publications

Poster presentations:

- Characterisation of metabolic proteins in breast cancer cell lines, Postgraduate Research Conference, UWE (23/06/2016).
- Characterisation of metabolic proteins in breast cancer cell lines and human breast tissue, CRIB Annual Meeting, UWE (13/01/2017).
- Characterization of metabolic proteins in tumour cell lines and human breast tissue, Tumour Metabolism: Mechanisms and Targets (X3), Whistler, Canada (08/03/2017).
- Characterization of Metabolic Proteins in Breast Tumour Cell Lines and Human Breast Tissue, CRIB Annual Meeting, UWE (20/04/2018).

Publications:

- Daly, C.S., Flemban, A., Shafei, M., Conway, M.E., Qualtrough, D. and Dean, S.J. (2018). Hypoxia modulates the stem cell population and induces EMT in the MCF-10A breast epithelial cell line. *Oncology Reports* (39) pp. 483-490.
- Shafei, M.A., Harris, M. and Conway, M.E. (2017). Divergent Metabolic Regulation of Autophagy and mTORC1—Early Events in Alzheimer's Disease?. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience* (9) pp. 1-9.

Table of Contents

AcknowledgementsII	1
AbstractIV	/
Poster presentations and PublicationsV	I
Poster presentations:V	I
Publications:V	I
List of FiguresXI	I
List of TablesXVII	I
AbbreviationsXIX	(
1.0 Introduction	2
1.1 Breast cancer	2
1.1.1 Breast cancer epidemiology2	2
1.1.2 Normal breast development and the progression to breast cancer.	1
1.1.3 Diagnosis and screening of breast cancer	7
1.1.4 Breast cancer grading and staging	3
1.1.5 Subclassification of breast cancer11	I
1.2 Prognosis and current treatment strategies14	1
1.2.1 Prognostic factors for breast cancer14	1
1.2.2 Current treatment for breast cancer15	5
1.2.2.1 Surgery15	5
1.2.2.2 Radiotherapy16	3
1.3.3 Systemic therapy16	3
1.3 Breast cancer molecular subtypes17	7
1.3.1 Luminal breast cancer17	7
1.3.2 HER2-positive breast cancer21	I
1.3.3 Triple-negative breast cancer24	1
1.4 Tumour metabolism re-programming26	3
1.5 Isocitrate dehydrogenase enzymes29)

1.6 Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase	32
1.7 The human branched-chain aminotransferase proteins	35
1.7.1 hBCAT expression in tumours	37
1.7.2 The hBCAT CXXC redox sensitive motif	39
1.7.3 The novel role of hBCAT in deregulated tumour signalli	ng pathways
	40
1.8 Insulin and IGF-1 signalling axis	41
1.8.1 Insulin	41
1.8.2 IGF-1	42
1.8.3 The insulin and IGF-1 receptors	44
1.8.4 The RAS/MAPK signalling cascade	46
1.8.5 The PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling cascade	48
1.9 Overall aims	51
1.9.1 General hypothesis:	51
1.9.2 Overall aims and objectives	52
2.0 Materials and Methods	
2 4 Matariala	E 4
Z. I WALEDAIS	
	55
2.1.2 Cell lines	55
2.1.2 Cell lines	55 59
2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods: 2.2.1 Immunohistochemistry	55 59 59
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods: 2.2.1 Immunohistochemistry 2.2.1.1 Patient Characteristics 	55 59 59 59
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods:	55 59 59 59 59
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods: 2.2.1 Immunohistochemistry 2.2.1.1 Patient Characteristics 2.2.1.2 Immunohistochemical Staining and Scoring 2.2.2 Mammalian cell culture 	55 59 59 59 59 63
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods: 2.2.1 Immunohistochemistry 2.2.1.1 Patient Characteristics 2.2.1.2 Immunohistochemical Staining and Scoring 2.2.2 Mammalian cell culture 2.2.3 siRNA transfection 	
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods:	
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods:	55 59 59 59 63 63 63 63
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods: 2.2.1 Immunohistochemistry 2.2.1.1 Patient Characteristics 2.2.1.2 Immunohistochemical Staining and Scoring 2.2.2 Mammalian cell culture 2.2.3 siRNA transfection 2.2.4 Lentiviral shRNA transfection 2.2.5 Cell treatments 2.2.6 Protein extraction of tumour cell lines 	
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods: 2.2.1 Immunohistochemistry 2.2.1.1 Patient Characteristics	55 59 59 59 59 63 63 63 63 65 65 65
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods: 2.2.1 Immunohistochemistry	
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods: 2.2.1 Immunohistochemistry 2.2.1.1 Patient Characteristics 2.2.1.2 Immunohistochemical Staining and Scoring 2.2.1.2 Immunohistochemical Staining and Scoring 2.2.2 Mammalian cell culture 2.2.3 siRNA transfection 2.2.4 Lentiviral shRNA transfection 2.2.5 Cell treatments 2.2.6 Protein extraction of tumour cell lines 2.2.7 Protein quantification using Amido Black assay 2.2.8 Protein quantification using Bradford Assay 2.2.9 Protein expression using Western blot analysis 	
 2.1.2 Cell lines 2.2 Methods: 2.2.1 Immunohistochemistry 2.2.1.1 Patient Characteristics 2.2.1.2 Immunohistochemical Staining and Scoring 2.2.1.2 Immunohistochemical Staining and Scoring 2.2.2 Mammalian cell culture 2.2.3 siRNA transfection 2.2.3 siRNA transfection 2.2.4 Lentiviral shRNA transfection 2.2.5 Cell treatments 2.2.6 Protein extraction of tumour cell lines 2.2.7 Protein quantification using Amido Black assay 2.2.8 Protein quantification using Bradford Assay 2.2.9 Protein expression using Western blot analysis 2.2.9.1 Gel electrophoresis. 	

2.2.10 ³ H Thymidine Incorporation Proliferation Assay68
2.2.11 Apoptosis assay68
2.2.12 Migration and Invasion assay69
2.2.13 Immunocytochemistry70
2.2.14 Seahorse Glycolytic Rate assay71
3.0 Characterisation of Metabolic Proteins in Breast Cancer73
3.1 Introduction74
3.2 Aims and Objectives76
3.2.1 Hypothesis76
3.2.2 Specific Aims76
3.3 Results77
3.3.1 Verification of hBCATc, hBCATm, IDH1, IDH2 and PHGDH
antibodies77
3.3.2 Expression of metabolic proteins in human breast tissue77
3.3.3 Association of expression of metabolic enzymes to patients'
clinicopathological characteristics81
3.3.4 Increased expression levels of IDH1, IDH2 and PHGDH between
the tumour centre and invasive front90
3.3.5 hBCATc expression significantly associated with HER2+ breast
cancer compared to other subtypes97
3.3.6 hBCATm and IDH1 expression significantly associated with luminal
A breast cancer and ER/PR receptor status compared with other subtypes
3.3.7 hBCATm and IDH1 are co-expressed in the same tumour cells
3.3.8 Detection of metabolic enzymes associated with BCAA/TCA/ serine
metabolism in breast tumour cell lines103
3.4 Discussion109
3.4.1 Increased expression of IDH2 at the invasive front of breast cancer
tumours
3.4.2 Increased nuclear localisation of PHGDH at the invasive front of
breast cancer tumours111

3.4.3 hBCATm and IDH1 expression associated with luminal A breast
cancer subtype and ER/PR receptor status113
3.4.4 hBCATc expression associated with HER2+ breast cancer subtype
3.4.5 Summary118
4.0 The role of hBCATc in the IGF-1/insulin signaling cascades119
4.1 Introduction120
4.2 Aims and Objectives122
4.2.1 Hypothesis122
4.2.2 Specific Aims122
4.3 Results123
4.3.1 Confirmation of siRNA knockdown of BCAT1
4.3.2 Knockdown of BCAT1 reduced cell proliferation, migration and
invasion123
4.3.3 Knockdown of BCAT1 induces apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 cells
4.3.4 hBCATc regulates proliferation and migration through the IGF and
insulin signalling pathway129
4.3.5 Changes in expression of hBCATc does not affect glycolysis 131
4.3.6 Development of stable transfection model using shRNA134
4.3.7 hBCATc regulates IGF-1 mediated signalling pathway proteins but
attenuates MAPK phosphorylation136
4.3.8 hBCATc mediates insulin induced nuclear translocation of MAPK
4.3.9 hBCATc significantly increases insulin mediated activation of Akt
and increases protein levels of downstream targets144
4.4 Discussion149
4.4.1 Knockdown of BCAT1 reduces cell proliferation, migration and
invasion149
4.4.2 hBCATc regulates apoptosis150
4.4.3 hBCATc regulates proliferation, migration and invasion through the
IGF-1 and insulin signalling pathway152

4.4.4 BCAT1 knockdown reduces IGF-1 mediated glycolysis in TNBC
4.4.5 hBCATc significantly reduces IGF mediated activation of ERK154
4.4.6 hBCATc regulates cross-talk between the Ras/ERK and Akt/mTOR
pathways157
4.4.7 hBCATc regulates expression levels PI3K/Akt signalling effectors
4.4.8 Summary161
5.0 Summary and Future Work162
5.1 Summary163
5.2 Future work168
6.0 References171
7.0 Appendix199

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Structure of the mammary gland5
Figure 1.2 Oestrogen receptor (ER) signalling pathway and mechanism of
action of aromatase inhibitors and tamoxifen20
Figure 1.3 HER2 signalling pathway22
Figure 1.4 Schematic representation of oxidative phosphorylation and aerobic
glycolysis in normal and tumour cells28
Figure 1.5. Metabolic reactions of the isocitrate dehydrogenase enzyme
isoforms
Figure 1.6. Serine biosynthetic metabolic pathways and neomorphic function
of phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase (PHGDH)
Figure 1.7. Metabolism of the branched-chain amino acids
Figure 1.8. Structure of the IGF-1 and insulin receptors45
Figure 1.9. IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade47
Figure 3.1. Antibody validated using Western blot analysis and IHC78
Figure 3.2. Representative images for secondary antibody only controls and
peptide controls for hBCATc, hBCATm, IDH1, IDH2 and PHGDH antibodies
Figure 3.3 Representative images of the intensity of immune reaction for each
of the metabolic proteins, as indicated, in human breast cancer sections80
Figure 3.4. Representative images of scoring of the percentage of positive
tumour cells as indicated, in human breast cancer sections82
Figure 3.5. Representative sections stained to show cellular distribution83
Figure 3.6. Disease-free survival was not affected by expression of the
metabolic proteins
Figure 3.7 No significant difference between bBCATc expression in the
righte off. No significant and cheep between high root expression in the
tumour centre and at the invasive front
tumour centre and at the invasive front
righter of right of the significant difference between hBCATm expression in the tumour centre and at the invasive front
righter 0.11 Nor significant difference between hBCATm expression in the tumour centre and at the invasive front

Figure 3.10. IDH2 staining intensity and IRS class was higher at the invasive
front than in the tumour centre94
Figure 3.11. PHGDH nuclear expression was higher at the invasive front than
in the tumour centre95
Figure 3.12. Representation of increased expression of IDH1 and IDH2 and
PHGDH nuclear expression at the invasive front96
Figure 3.13. Proportion of cells expressing hBCATc and intensity of reaction
was significantly correlated with HER2 subtype98
Figure 3.14. Proportion of cells expressing hBCATm was significantly
correlated with Luminal A subtype and ER receptor status100
Figure 3.15. Proportion of cells expressing IDH1 intensity of reaction was
significantly correlated with Luminal A subtype101
Figure 3.16. Proportion of cells in the tumour centre expressing IDH2 was
significantly negatively correlated with Luminal B subtype102
Figure 3.17. Expression of PHGDH was not significantly negatively correlated
to breast cancer subtype104
Figure 3.18. Representative images of the metabolic proteins in different
molecular breast cancer subtypes105
Figure 3.19. hBCATm and IDH1 co-expression was found to be significantly
correlated106
Figure 3.20. Western blot analysis for metabolic protein expression in breast
cancer cell lines107
Figure 4.1. Optimisation of siRNA knockdown of BCAT1 in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 4.2. Knockdown of BCAT1 significantly reduces proliferation, migration
and invasion of MDA-MB-231 cells125
Figure 4.3. Branched-chain amino acid treatment regulates cell proliferation in
a dose-dependent manner127
Figure 4.4. BCAT1 promotes tumour cell survival by evasion of apoptosis.
Figure 4.5. Knockdown of BCAT1 significantly reduces insulin and IGF-1-
mediated proliferation of MDA-MB-231 cells130
Figure 4.6. Knockdown of BCAT1 significantly reduces insulin and IGF-1-
mediated migration of MDA-MB-231 cells132

Figure 4.7. hBCATc regulates IGF-1-mediated glycolysis in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 4.8. shRNA Knockdown of BCAT1 and overexpression confirmation in
MDA-MB-231 cells 135
Figure 4.9 Knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGE-1/insulin
signaling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 4.10. Knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 negatively regulates
nboshon/lation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 4.11 Knockdown of BCAT1 induces Insulin-mediated nuclear
translocation of phospho MAPK in MDA MR 231 colls
Figure 4.12 Insulin-mediated nuclear translocation of MAPK is significantly
increased with BCAT1 knockdown in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 4.13 Insulin increases phospho-MAPK co-localisation with hBCATc
142
Figure 4 14 Insulin increases MAPK co-localisation with hBCATc 143
Figure 4 15 Knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the Akt axis
in MDA-MB-231 cells 146
Figure 4.16. Knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the mTOR
axis in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 4.17. Knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates downstream
targets of the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 5.1 The role of hBCATc on the insulin/IGF-1 signalling cascades166
Figure 7.1. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A and 3.20C of metabolic
protein expression in breast cancer cell lines
Figure 7.2. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A and 3.20C of metabolic
protein expression in breast cancer cell lines
Figure 7.3. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein
expression in breast cancer cell lines
Figure 7.4. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein
expression in breast cancer cell lines
Figure 7.5. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein
expression in breast cancer cell lines
Figure 7.6. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein
expression in breast cancer cell lines

righte 7.7. Western blot repeats of righte 0.207 of metabolic protein
expression in breast cancer cell lines
Figure 7.8. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein
expression in breast cancer cell lines
Figure 7.9. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein
expression in breast cancer cell lines
Figure 7.10. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein
expression in breast cancer cell lines
Figure 7.11. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.1A of siRNA knockdown of
BCAT1 in MDA-MB-231 cells210
Figure 7.12. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.8B and 4.9A of shRNA
knockdown of BCAT1 and overexpression confirmation in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 7.13. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.8B and 4.9A of shRNA
knockdown of <i>BCAT1</i> and overexpression confirmation in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 7.14. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9B of knockdown and
overexpression of BCAT1 regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-
MB-231 cells
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA- MB-231 cells
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells MB-231 cells 214 Figure 7.16. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells MB-231 cells 215
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells MB-231 cells 214 Figure 7.16. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells MB-231 cells 215 Figure 7.17. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells MB-231 cells 214 Figure 7.16. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells 215 Figure 7.17. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA- MB-231 cells
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA- MB-231 cells 214 Figure 7.16. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA- MB-231 cells 215 Figure 7.17. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA- MB-231 cells 215 Figure 7.17. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA- MB-231 cells 215 Figure 7.17. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA- MB-231 cells 216 Figure 7.18. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10A of knockdown and
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA- MB-231 cells
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells 214 Figure 7.16. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells 215 Figure 7.17. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells 216 Figure 7.18. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10A of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells 214 Figure 7.16. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells 215 Figure 7.17. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells 216 Figure 7.18. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10A of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells 216 Figure 7.18. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10A of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells
Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells 214 Figure 7.16. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells 215 Figure 7.17. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells 216 Figure 7.18. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10A of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells 217 Figure 7.19. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10A of knockdown and overexpression of <i>BCAT1</i> negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells

Figure 7.20. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10B of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in Figure 7.21. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10B of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in Figure 7.22. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.15A of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells 221 Figure 7.23. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.15A of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells 222 Figure 7.24. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.15B of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells 223 Figure 7.25. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.15B of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells 224 Figure 7.26. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.16A of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the mTOR axis in MDA-MB-231 cells Figure 7.27. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.16A of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the mTOR axis in MDA-MB-231 cells Figure 7.28. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.16B of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the mTOR axis in MDA-MB-231 cells Figure 7.29. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.16B of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the mTOR axis in MDA-MB-231 cells Figure 7.30. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.17A of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates downstream targets of the Akt axis in Figure 7.31. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.17B of knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates downstream targets of the Akt axis in

XVI

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Breast cancer grading9	
Table 1.2 Staging criteria for breast cancer tumours 10	
Table 2.1: List of antibodies, dilution and source	
Table 2.2 Clinicopathological characteristics of the patient cohort according to	
breast cancer subtypes60	
Table 2.3 IRS and nuclear expression scoring system	
Table 3.1. Correlations between expression of hBCATc and	
clinicopathological characteristics	
Table 3.2. Correlations between expression of hBCATm and	
clinicopathological characteristics85	
Table 3.3. Correlation between expression of IDH1 and clinicopathological	
characteristics	
Table 3.4. Correlations between expression of IDH2 and clinicopathological	
characteristics	
Table 3.5. Correlations between expression of PHGDH and clinicopathological	
characteristics	

Abbreviations

2HG	2-Hydroxyglutarate
4EBP1	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1
α-KG	α-ketoglutarate
Akt	RAC-alpha serine/threonine-protein kinase
AMPK	5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
APS	Ammonium persulphate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BCAA	Branched-chain amino acids
BCAT	Branched-chain aminotransferase gene
BCAT1	Branched-chain aminotransferase gene (cytosolic isoform)
BCAT2	Branched-chain aminotransferase gene
	(mitochondrial isoform)
ВСКА	Branched-chain α-keto acid
BCKD	Branched-chain α -keto acid dehydrogenase
BCKDHA	Branched-chain α -keto acid dehydrogenase, E1 α subunit
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
cDNA	Complementary DNA
DAB	3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
DAPI	4',6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor

EGTA	Ethylene glycol-bis(β-aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-
	tetraacetic acid
ER	Oestrogen Receptor
FASN	Fatty Acid Synthase
FBS	Foetal Bovine Serum
FOXO3a	Forkhead Box O3
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GDH	Glutamate dehydrogenase
GLUT1	Glucose transporter 1
Grb2	Growth factor receptor-bound protein 2
Grx	Glutaredoxin
GSH	Glutathione (reduced)
GSK3β	Glycogen synthase kinase 3 β
eGFP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein
hBCAT	Human branched chain aminotransferase
hBCATc	Cytosolic human branched chain aminotransferase
hBCATm	Mitochondrial human branched chain
	aminotransferase
HER2	Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
ICC	Immunocytochemistry
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IDH	Isocitrate dehydrogenase
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor

IGFBP	Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein
IR	Insulin receptor
IRS1	Insulin receptor substrate 1
LC3	Microtubule-associated light chain 3
	phosphatidylethanolamine
LDS	Lithium dodecyl sulphate
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
mTORC1	Mammalian target of Rapamycin complex 1
MTS	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxy phenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H- tetrazolium
NADH	Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADPH	Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
Nrf2	Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2
P70S6K	Ribosomal protein S6 kinase beta-1
PBS	Phosphate buffered Saline
PHGDH	Phosphoglycerate Dehydrogenase
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PR	Progesterone Receptor
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
Shc	Src Homologous and Collagen
shRNA	Short hairpin RNA
siRNA	Small interfering RNA

SOS	Son of Sevenless
TBS	Tris-buffered Saline
TBST	Tris-buffered Saline Tween
TEMED	Tetramethylethylenediamine
TCA	Trichloroacetic acid
TNBC	Triple Negative Breast Cancer
Tris-HCL	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane hydrochloride
Trx	Thioredoxin
TSC1/2	Tuberin sclerosis complex 1/2
ТТІ	Tritiated thymidine incorporation
WB	Western blotting

Chapter 1

General Introduction

Mai Ahmed Shafei

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Breast cancer

1.1.1 Breast cancer epidemiology

Breast cancer is the most common malignancy worldwide in women accounting for almost one in four cancer cases (Bray et al., 2018). The incidence rate is increasing with a low survival rate of breast cancer globally (Coleman et al., 2008). Incidence rates of breast cancer varies worldwide with higher incidence in highincome regions (92 per 100,000 in North America) compared with lower-income regions (27 per 100,000 in middle Africa and eastern Asia) (Torre et al., 2016). These patterns reflect the availability of screening programmes and therefore the number of detected breast cancer cases (Harbeck et al., 2019). Moreover, several lifestyle factors such as obesity, smoking, alcohol consumption and diet also contribute to higher incidence of breast cancer in higher income countries (Momenimovahed and Salehiniya, 2019). For example, obesity is correlated with breast cancer due to higher rates of conversion of androgenic precursors to oestrogen through increased aromatase activity in adipose tissue (Matthews and Thompson, 2016). Moreover, high levels of insulin and insulin-like growth factors in response to obesity can stimulate the growth of cancer cells (Picon-Ruiz et al., 2017).

Globally, breast cancer is responsible for approximately 627,000 deaths each year (Bray *et al.*, 2018). Despite lower incidence in low- and middle-income countries breast cancer mortality is often higher due to delayed detection, late stage at diagnosis and limited access to treatment (Leong *et al.*, 2010; Bray *et al.*, 2018). In the UK, breast cancer remains the fourth leading cause of cancer death (CRUK, 2019). After being on a plateau for decades, in the 1990s, breast cancer

mortality began to decline in high-income countries such as the UK (Burton and Bell, 2013). Over the last decade, breast cancer mortality rates have reduced by 22% and the 10-year survival rate has doubled to 78% for women in the UK (CRUK, 2019).

Survival rates for breast cancer significantly decrease by stage at diagnosis with a 5-year survival rate of 26.2% for stage 4 tumours compared with 97.9% for stage 1 early breast cancer (CRUK, 2019). Fortunately, the incidence of late stage diagnosis has significantly decreased to an incidence of 13% of breast cancer cases diagnosed at stage 3-4 (CRUK, 2019) from approximately 31% between 1990-1992 (Sant *et al.*, 2003), which is largely due to increased multiple campaigns to promote awareness and encourage self-examination to enhance the chance of early detection and improved methods of detection (Anastasi and Lusher, 2019; Wang, 2017). Breast cancer mortality rates have demonstrated continuous, significant improvement in breast cancer survival rates and mortality rates are projected to fall further by 26% to 31 per 100,000 in the UK by 2035 (Smittenaar *et al.*, 2016; CRUK, 2019).

Additionally, there has been a significant improvement in the management of breast cancer in terms of prognostication and the identification of appropriate treatment strategies (Prat *et al.*, 2015; Ehinger *et al.*, 2017). Understanding the underlying biological mechanisms of carcinogenesis has led to the identification of novel molecular targets and major advances in the development of targeted therapies (Tong *et al.*, 2018). Targeted-therapies have been demonstrated to improve both recurrence-free interval and survival with metastatic disease in the same patients as well as longer survival after recurrence (Perez *et al.*, 2011). This highlights the importance of understanding the pathophysiology of the different

subtypes of breast cancer to further advance the development of novel targeted therapies and improve prognosis (Masoud and Pagès, 2017).

1.1.2 Normal breast development and the progression to breast cancer

The human mammary gland is an apocrine gland consisting of secretory lobules connected by a system of branching ducts embedded in a fat pad formed by adipocytes and infiltrated by vascular endothelial cells, fibroblasts and immune cells (Figure 1.1A) (Macias and Hinck, 2012; Deugnier et al., 2002). The mammary epithelium is composed of a bilayer of inner luminal cells and the basal outer layer of myoepithelial cells which are surrounded by a basement membrane (Figure 1.1B). Luminal cells are responsible for milk production whilst the basal outer layer of myoepithelial cells contract to guide the milk out of the breast ducts (Daniel and Smith, 1999). The mammary glands are one of the few tissues that are subjected to major morphological changes during developmental phases such as puberty and pregnancy (Macias and Hinck, 2012). During breast development, hormonal cues, notably oestrogen and progesterone, orchestrate a series of paracrine interactions between epithelial and stromal cell types to elicit phenotypic changes in the mammary gland (Sreekumar, Roarty and Rosen, 2015). The breast tissue microenvironment has been demonstrated to play an important role to support normal breast development whilst restricting tumour formation; the breast stroma releases regulatory signals initiated by extracellular matrix components such as laminin to promote cell differentiation and the formation of the normal breast architecture (Silberstein, 2001). Breast cancer cells transplanted with adult mouse mammary epithelial cells into epithelium-free fat pads of nude mice were shown to contribute to normal mammary gland development (Bussard and Smith, 2012), indicating the dominance of the tissue microenvironment over cancer cell fate.



Figure 1.1. Structure of the mammary gland. (**A**) The human breast is composed of lobules connected by a ductal network to the nipple, which are embedded in the stroma. Most breast cancers arise from the lobules or the ducts of the breast. In more advanced breast cancer, the tumour infiltrates the skin or components of the chest wall such as the pectoralis muscles (Macias and Hinck, 2012). (**B**) The ducts are surrounded by an outer basement membrane which is lined with a bilayer of inner luminal cells required for milk production and an outer layer of basal myoepithelial cells required for milk ejection (Daniel and Smith, 1999).

Chapter 1

Tumour progression is a multi-step process involving genetic instability leading to an over-proliferation of cells, which become transformed and initiate the development of solid tumours (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Mutations of tumour suppressor genes and abnormal amplification of oncogenes as well as the tumour microenvironment play key roles in breast cancer initiation and progression (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011; Bussard and Smith, 2012). Breast tumours usually start from ductal hyperproliferation which can develop into benign tumours or even metastatic carcinomas following constitutive stimulation by various carcinogenic factors (Sun *et al.*, 2017).

The initiating event in the development of breast cancer can be caused by inherited gene mutations, such as mutations in the tumour suppressor phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome ten (PTEN), which can lead to familial breast cancer (Tung et al., 2016). There is an 80% increased lifetime risk for carriers of *PTEN* mutations of developing breast cancer (Ngeow, Sesock and Eng, 2017). PTEN is an important tumour suppressor which inhibits phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) signalling by inhibiting phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5) trisphosphate (PIP₃), a critical lipid second messenger in tumourigenesis that activates RAC-alpha serine/threonine-protein kinase (Akt) and other signalling molecules involved in cell survival, proliferation and invasion (Lien, Dibble and Toker, 2017). *PTEN* reduces the pool of PIP₃ hence inhibiting growth and survival signals (Hopkins et al., 2014), therefore loss of PTEN allows constitutive activation of PI3K/Akt signalling leading to tumour development (Chalhoub and Baker, 2009). Breast cancer risk is also increased for carriers of other gene mutations such as breast cancer susceptibility gene 1/2 (BRCA1/BRCA2) whereby the risk of developing breast cancer doubles by having a first-degree relative with breast cancer (Feng et al., 2018; Ibrahim, Abdelmalek

and Elfiky, 2019). The risk of breast cancer also increases with age as random mutations can gradually accumulate in any breast cell, which can lead to their transformation into tumour cells if/when adequate mutations accumulate (Sun *et al.*, 2017). Other risk factors for breast cancer include obesity (Picon-Ruiz *et al.*, 2017), increased alcohol consumption (Jung *et al.*, 2016), smoking (Kispert and McHowat, 2017), prolonged use of hormone replacement therapy (Shah, Borenstein and Dubois, 2005) and late menopause (Sun *et al.*, 2017).

1.1.3 Diagnosis and screening of breast cancer

Early detection of breast cancer is critical in improving the chance of successful treatment as prognosis significantly decreases at the later stages of breast cancer, particularly for high-risk women that are genetically predisposed (Saadatmand et al., 2015). Screening programmes are employed worldwide for breast cancer with the primary aim of reducing the number of women presenting with late stage cancer thereby reducing mortality rates (Bleyer and Welch, 2012). Meta-analysis of 11 randomised control trials with a 13 year follow up has estimated a 20% reduction of breast cancer mortality rates for women invited for screening (Marmot et al., 2013). The UK has a national screening programme in place which invites women between the ages of 50-71 every 3 years for screening mammography, which involve the use of low-energy X-rays to detect breast cancer through the detection of characteristic masses and microcalcifications (Marmot et al., 2013). Alternatively, ultrasonography, which utilises an ultrasound transducer to measure the acoustic waves reflected from the breast, can be used for subjects where mammography is not suitable especially for women with dense breasts such as those under the age of 40 (Wang, 2017). Upon the detection of an abnormality, a biopsy or fine needle aspiration is taken to collect cells for microscopical examination which are assessed by a pathologist (Gnant and Harbeck, 2011).

1.1.4 Breast cancer grading and staging

Following diagnosis, breast cancer is initially classified according to stage and grade which aids prognosis. Histological grading provides an insight into how abnormal the cancer cells are whilst staging assesses the extent a tumour has infiltrated other areas of the body (Connolly et al., 2003). Histological grade is based on the microscopic appearance of tumour cells, which assesses the percentage of tubule formation, the degree of nuclear pleomorphism and numbers of mitotic figures (Elston and Ellis, 1991; Bloom and Richardson, 1957). A score of 1-3 is applied depending on the extent of how abnormal the cancer cells are for each criteria; these scores are then combined leading to a grade of 1-3 (table 1.1) (Elston and Ellis, 1991; Bloom and Richardson, 1957). Histological grading provides an insight into the degree of differentiation and growth rate of a tumour, whereby grade 3 represents the least differentiated and fastest growing tumours (Elston and Ellis, 1991; Bloom and Richardson, 1957). Tumour grade reflects the potential aggressiveness of the breast cancer and is a strong prognostic indicator as increasing histologic grade is significantly associated with a progressive decrease in 10-year survival rates of breast cancer patients (Ehinger et al., 2017; Schwartz *et al.*, 2014).

Breast cancer is staged following the guidelines of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) which is based on TNM evaluation of primary tumour size (T), degree of lymph node involvement (N) and extent of metastasis (M) (Ravaioli and Tassinari, 2000) as outlined in table 1.2. In the case of multifocal tumours in one

Table 1.1 Breast cancer grading

Feature graded	Clinical feature	Score
Tubule formation	> 75%	1
	10-75%	2
	< 10%	3
Nuclear polymorphism	Small, regular uniform cells	1
	Moderate increase and variability	2
	Marked variation	3
Mitotic figures (per 10 higher power fie	0-5 lds)	1
	6-10	2
	>11	3
Grade Total Score		
1 3-5		
2 6-7		
3 8-9		

Breast cancer is graded according to histological features; the score for each of these is then combined to give the final grade (Elston and Ellis, 1991; Bloom and Richardson, 1957).

TNM class	Clinical feature	Stage grouping	
Tumour (T)		Stage 1	T1 N0 M0 T0 N1 M0
Тх	Primary tumour cannot be measured	Stage 2A	T1 N1 M0
то	Primary tumour cannot be found		T2 N0 M0
		Stage 2B	T2 N1 M0 T3 N0 M0
T1	Tumour ≤ 2 cm	Stage 3A	T0 N2 M0
T2	Tumour > 2 cm but ≤ 5 cm	-	T1 N2 M0
тз	Tumour > 5.0 cm		T3 N1-2 M0
	Tumour of any size with direct extension to	Stage 3B	T4 N0 M0
T4	the chest wall or skin		T4 N2 M0
Lymph	n Node (N)		
NX	Cancer in nearby lymph node cannot be measured	Stage 3C	Any T N3 M0
N0	No regional lymph node metastasis	Stage 4	Any T Any N M1
N1	Metastasis in movable ipsilateral axillary lymph node(s)		
N2	Metastasis to ipsilateral axillary lymph node(s) fixed or matted		
N3	Metastasis in ipsilateral infraclavicular lymph nodes with or without axillary lymph node involvement		
Metastasis (M)			
мх	Distant metastasis cannot be assessed		
MO	No distant metastasis		
M1	Distant metastasis present		

Table 1.2 Staging criteria for breast cancer tumours

Breast cancer is staged according to the tumour size (T), amount of invasion to lymph nodes (N) and surrounding tissues (M). Following TNM classification, these scores are categorised into stages 1-4 (Egner, 2010; Koh and Kim, 2019a).

breast, the tumour with the highest T category is used for classification (Koh and Kim, 2019b). Breast cancer is then categorised into four stages (1-4) depending on the TNM criteria (Egner, 2010; Koh and Kim, 2019b). Breast cancers with lower tumour stage are strongly associated with better overall survival as the risk of mortality significantly increases with metastatic breast cancer (Saadatmand et al., 2015; Waks and Winer, 2019). Tumour staging provides valuable clinical guidance for control of the local tumour as well as to determine the benefit of systemic therapy (Harbeck et al., 2019). Recently, there has been a significant change in the TNM staging system with the incorporation of biomarkers into the anatomic staging to create prognostic stages (Koh and Kim, 2019b; Amin et al., 2017). The clinical prognostic stage combines the tumour grade, stage with the molecular subtype of breast cancer, whereby different prognostic stages are assigned to tumours of different molecular subtypes with the same anatomic stage as outlined in the 8th edition of the AJCC staging manual (Koh and Kim. 2019b; Amin et al., 2017). As breast cancer is considered a heterogeneous disease with different molecular characteristics that indicate different prognoses. patterns of recurrence and sensitivities to available therapies, combining these parameters provides a more informed indication of prognosis and appropriate treatment strategies (Sims et al., 2007; Amin et al., 2017).

1.1.5 Subclassification of breast cancer

Breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease that has several distinctive histological and biological subtypes (Malhotra *et al.*, 2010; Sørlie *et al.*, 2003). The ability to distinguish between the various subtypes is vital as they each have different prognoses and treatment implications. Histologically, breast cancer is categorised into ductal and lobular types which are further divided into *in situ*, invasive and metastatic carcinomas (Malhotra *et al.*, 2010; Feng *et al.*, 2018). Breast cancer can also be sub-classified according to a wide range of criteria, including cell type (e.g. apocrine carcinoma), amount, type and location of secretion (e.g. mucinous carcinoma), architectural features (e.g. papillary, tubular, and micropapillary carcinoma), and immunohistochemical profile (e.g. neuroendocrine carcinoma) (Makki, 2015). Rare forms of breast cancer include inflammatory, male and Phyllodes tumours which account for only 5% of all breast cancer subtypes (Feng *et al.*, 2018).

Ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) and lobular carcinoma in situ (LCIS) are considered pre-invasive tumours, which develop inside normal ducts and lobules in the breast. Both DCIS and LCIS demonstrate a high potential to become invasive without treatment (Feng et al., 2018), hence early treatment is important to prevent the development of tumour progression. Invasive carcinomas are characterised by invasion of the breast cancer cells to the surrounding stromal tissue outside of the normal breast lobules and ducts (Feng et al., 2018). Invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC) is the most common type of breast cancer, which accounts for 80% of breast cancer types (Makki, 2015). Generally, IDCs reflect a wide range of morphological variation, such as tumour size, grade, relative proportion of tumour cell and stroma with variable amount of ductal differentiation (Makki, 2015; Weigelt, Geyer and Reis-Filho, 2010). Invasive lobular carcinoma (ILC) is the second most common type of breast cancer which constitutes 10-15% of all diagnosed breast tumours, which predominantly affects older women in their early 60s (Feng et al., 2018; Weigelt, Geyer and Reis-Filho, 2010). ILC is characterised by typically round, small, relatively uniform, and non-cohesive tumour cells which have a characteristic growth pattern with single-file infiltration of the stroma (Makki, 2015; Weigelt, Geyer and Reis-Filho, 2010). These invasive tumours, IDC and ILC, have the potential to spread to other sites of the body,

Chapter 1

such as the lymph nodes or other organs thus entering the classification of metastatic breast cancer (Feng *et al.*, 2018).

Metastatic breast cancers are late stage breast cancers, which can be found in lymph nodes in the armpit, and/or in distant sites such as the lung, liver, bone and brain (Friberg and Nystrom, 2015). Following primary tumour excision, microscopic tumour cells or micro-metastases may remain in the body, which allows the cancer to return and disseminate (Friberg and Nystrom, 2015). Unfortunately, 6-7% of breast cancer are only detected at stage 4, whilst approximately 30% of women diagnosed with early-stage breast cancer will develop a metastatic form of the disease (Saadatmand *et al.*, 2015; Feng *et al.*, 2018). Breast cancer metastasis is the leading cause of breast cancer as well as understanding the mechanisms by which primary tumours undergo metastasis is paramount in reducing metastatic breast cancer morbidities.

Molecular classification of breast cancer, which reflects the biological diversity of tumour cells, allows clinicians to identify appropriate treatment plans (Normanno et al., 2009). These molecular breast cancer subtypes are defined by the status of oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and overexpression/amplification of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) (Kondov et al., 2018). Additionally, the cell proliferation marker (Ki67) is used to determine the prognosis of breast cancer patients (Sims et al., 2007). Molecular profiling has led to the identification of four intrinsic molecular subtypes; luminal A, luminal B, HER2+ and triple negative breast cancer (TNBC; ER-/PR-/HER2-) which represent biologically distinct disease entities (Perou et al., 2000; Sørlie et al., 2003).

1.2 Prognosis and current treatment strategies

1.2.1 Prognostic factors for breast cancer

Prognostic indicators for breast cancer include age, tumour grade, tumour stage and the molecular subtype (Harbeck et al., 2019). Breast cancer in younger patients, before the age of 35, a rare (< 5%) event, is more frequently associated with an increased familial risk and lower survival rates (Tao et al., 2019). Breast tumours are categorised based on several factors to provide prognosis including histological grade, tumour stage, histological type and the molecular subtype (Koh and Kim, 2019b). Each of these factors are combined in the pathological assessment by clinicians to provide a clearer prognosis for patients using scoring systems such as the Nottingham Prognostic Index, adopted in the UK, Europe and Australia, and Adjuvant, commonly used in the US (Hearne et al., 2015). These validated algorithms render good general estimates of patient prognosis and can aid in discussing therapy options with patients by providing numerical estimates of treatment efficacy (Phung, Tin Tin and Elwood, 2019; Lipkus et al., 2010). With advances in screening programmes the stage at diagnosis has significantly decreased and therefore prognostication is increasingly dependent on tumour biology; histological type, grade and molecular subtype (Harbeck et al., 2019).

The intrinsic subtypes are considered to be the most important criteria for treatment decisions (Harbeck *et al.*, 2019). These molecular subtypes display significant differences in disease-free survival with the basal-like/triple-negative subtype having the poorest prognosis (Prat *et al.*, 2015). HER2+ breast tumours more frequently display grade 2 to 3, medium to high proliferation, larger tumours and are associated with poor prognosis (Leone *et al.*, 2019). Molecular classification has allowed the stratification of ER+ tumours into the two distinct
subtypes; luminal A and luminal B, which have very different clinical outcomes, whereby luminal B tumours typically display high grade and proliferation with shorter survival rates (Ahn *et al.*, 2015; Prat *et al.*, 2015).

1.2.2 Current treatment for breast cancer

The appropriate breast cancer treatment strategy is selected based on the histological, clinicopathological features and the molecular subtype (Ehinger *et al.*, 2017). Treatment strategies for breast cancer include surgery, radiation and systemic therapies used singly or in combination (Nounou *et al.*, 2015). Systemic therapy includes the use of chemotherapy, endocrine therapy for hormone receptor-positive disease, chemotherapy, anti-HER2 therapy for HER2-positive disease and poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors for *BRCA1/2* mutation carriers (Harbeck *et al.*, 2019).

1.2.2.1 Surgery

Surgical management of breast cancer is a critical treatment modality, which includes lumpectomy, where just the tumour and some surrounding breast tissue is removed, or a mastectomy, where the whole breast is removed (Guarneri and Conte, 2004). There has been profound advances in oncoplastic surgical techniques to improve breast conservation in many clinical situations that had earlier led to primary mastectomy (Haloua *et al.*, 2013). Depending on the tumour burden surgery can also be preceded by neoadjuvant therapy, such as radiotherapy, to shrink the tumour and enhance breast conservation (Franceschini *et al.*, 2015). Surgery is usually followed by adjuvant therapy to target residual cancer cells that are not removed during surgery to ensure full recovery and minimize the risk of metastases (Dhankhar *et al.*, 2010).

1.2.2.2 Radiotherapy

Radiation therapy improves disease-free and overall survival for patients with early breast cancer with lymph node involvement (Darby *et al.*, 2011). This treatment modality is mediated by irreparable damage to the DNA of malignant cells resulting in cell death (Harris *et al.*, 2008). Additionally, radiotherapy augments the antitumoral immune response to target both primary tumours and distant sites of metastatic disease through the release of tumour antigens and cytokines into the tumour microenvironment (Harris *et al.*, 2008). Hence, radiotherapy plays a crucial role in the management of advanced metastatic breast cancer, alleviating symptoms from bone, brain and soft tissue metastases (Jutzy *et al.*, 2018).

1.3.3 Systemic therapy

Systemic therapies, both chemotherapy and targeted approaches, are highly effective particularly for early breast cancer in significantly reducing breast cancer mortality (Prat *et al.*, 2015). The appropriate treatment strategy is dependent on the molecular subtype, tumour burden and the risk of recurrence (Albain *et al.*, 2012; Tong *et al.*, 2018). Standard chemotherapy regimens include an anthracycline, such as Doxirubicin and a taxane, such as Cyclophosphamide given preferentially in sequence with care to avoid excessive toxicity (Von Minckwitz *et al.*, 2012). The clinical benefit for chemotherapy is particularly significant for TNBC and is also recommended for HER2-positive breast cancers, and in high-risk luminal tumours, depending on the individual risk of recurrence (Albain *et al.*, 2012). Overall, chemotherapy regimens reduce breast cancer mortality risk by one-third (Albain *et al.*, 2012). However, chemotherapy induces cytotoxic and genotoxic side effects due to non-specific damage to cells therefore,

there has been a massive effort to develop more advanced treatments with fewer side effects.

There has been a significant emergence of various novel targeted therapies for the molecular subtypes of breast cancer (Tong *et al.*, 2018). For example, for hormone receptor positive breast cancer endocrine therapy is the mainstay for treatment, which works by blocking the effects of hormone, such as tamoxifen, or lowering hormone levels, such as aromatase inhibitors (Waks and Winer, 2019). Since endocrine therapies utilise different mechanisms of action these are often used in combination to increase efficacy and reduce drug resistance (Boehnke Michaud, Jones and Buzdar, 2001). Novel agents, such as Pictilisib, are in development to reverse tumour-resistance to endocrine therapies, which can be induced by tumour cells through the upregulation of other signalling pathways (Schöffski *et al.*, 2018). The targeted therapies currently in clinical use are herein discussed further according to the molecular subtype of breast cancer.

1.3 Breast cancer molecular subtypes

1.3.1 Luminal breast cancer

Luminal A breast cancers are characterized by high expression of luminal epithelial genes, low expression of Ki-67 and a distinct methylation profile of more than 40 genes (Perou *et al.*, 2000). Luminal B breast cancers are characterized by higher Ki-67 and lower expression of several luminal-related genes (such as *ESR1* or *FOXA1*), genomic instability and a higher frequency of *TP53* gene mutations (Sørlie *et al.*, 2003; Creighton, 2012). Luminal B tumours are associated with a worse prognosis and a higher risk of relapse than luminal A breast cancers (Ahn *et al.*, 2015). Both luminal A and luminal B are characterised by the expression of the hormone receptors ER and PR, whilst a proportion of

luminal B tumours also express HER2 (Kondov *et al.*, 2018). During normal breast development, the hormones oestrogen and progesterone are largely responsible for coordinating the changes that occur in women through the activation of various transcription factors responsible for cell differentiation and growth (Sreekumar, Roarty and Rosen, 2015). However, constitutive activation of oestrogen signalling pathways along with acquired mutations of oncogenes leads to the uncontrolled proliferation of mammary epithelial cells and the development of malignant tumours (Feitelson *et al.*, 2015).

Oestrogenic signalling is mediated by ligand binding to ERs which dimerise and translocate to the nucleus where they bind to ER elements (EREs) to promote the activation of target genes (Osborne et al., 2001) (Figure 1.2). There are two main isoforms of ERs; ER α and ER β , which have different transcriptional activity (Huang *et al.*, 2014). ER α specifically has been demonstrated to be up-regulated in 75% of breast cancer cases (Nadji et al., 2005). Conversely, normal breast tissue typically expresses ER^β and the level of expression has been demonstrated to decline with the progression of breast tumours (Huang et al., 2014). ER α is a transcription factor for genes associated with cell survival, proliferation, and tumour growth, including insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor (IGF1-R), cyclin D1, anti-apoptotic BCL-2 protein, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Lipovka and Konhilas, 2016). On the other hand, ERβ has been found to be an important modulator of proliferation, as well as an inhibitor of cell motility and invasion in breast cancer cells (Lazennec et al., 2001). Hence, the loss of ER β expression has been suggested to be a leading event to the development of hormone positive breast cancer.



Figure 1.2 Oestrogen receptor (ER) signalling pathway and mechanism of action of aromatase inhibitors and tamoxifen. Breast cancer cells have relatively high ER α expression and low ER β expression. These two types of nuclear hormone receptors form homo- or heterodimers upon ligand binding. These ER dimers translocate into the cell nucleus where they bind to the ER response element (ERE) of target genes and recruit co-regulators to achieve the regulation of transcriptional activity. Targeted therapy for hormone receptor positive breast cancer includes Tamoxifen which prevents the binding of oestrogens to the ERs hence inhibiting the transcription of ER target genes. Aromatase inhibitors prevent the production of oestrogens by inhibiting the aromatase enzyme complex from converting androstenedione and testosterone to oestrogens such as oestrone and oestradiol. Adapted from Johnston and Dowsett (2003) and Feng *et al.* (2018).

Targeted therapy for ER+ breast cancer includes tamoxifen, an ER antagonist, that prevents oestrogen mediated transcriptional activation of proliferative and anti-apoptotic genes (Shagufta and Ahmad, 2018; Johnston and Dowsett, 2003) (Figure 1.2). Intratumoural oestrogen levels can also be increased by tumour cells which activate stromal fibroblasts to express aromatase, a key enzyme in oestrogen biosynthesis, which enhances oestrogenic signalling (Yamaguchi, 2007). Aromatase inhibitors prevent the conversion of androgens, such as testosterone, to oestrogen, and as a result reduces oestrogen production and ER activation (Johnston and Dowsett, 2003) (Figure 1.2). Clinical use of these targeted endocrine therapies has significantly reduced mortality rates, by about 25-30% (Haque and Desai, 2019). Despite this, not all ER-positive breast tumours respond to endocrine therapy, and even those that are initially responsive eventually become resistant as the disease progresses (Louie and Sevigny, 2017).

Emerging evidence suggests signalling through growth factor pathways contributes to endocrine therapy resistance by ligand-independent activation of ER (Osborne *et al.*, 2001). ER+ breast tumours which also overexpress growth factors such as HER2 and EGFR have been demonstrated to be more likely to become resistant to hormone therapy (Yang, Barnes and Kumar, 2004; Yamaguchi, 2007). Nuclear ER α has several different phosphorylation sites such as Ser118 and Ser167 for kinases such as MAPK and PI3K/Akt which are HER2 downstream signalling molecules (Le Goff *et al.*, 1994). Clinical trials with the use of PI3K/AKT inhibitors combined with aromatase inhibitors revealed promising results for ER+/HER2+ tumours with PI3K/AKT hyperactivation (Lee, Loh and Yap, 2015). Therefore, targeting growth factor pathways, in addition to ER, is a

developing strategy to prevent the development of resistance to endocrine therapy.

1.3.2 HER2-positive breast cancer

HER2+ breast cancer is characterised by the absence of ER and PR expression, *HER2* amplification and the low expression of luminal and basal clusters (Kondov *et al.*, 2018; Perou *et al.*, 2000). HER2 (also known as ERBB2) is a member of the epidermal growth factor (EGFR) family of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) including HER1, HER3 and HER4 (Yarden and Pines, 2012). Activation of HER2 signalling occurs through homo- or heterodimerization with other receptors from the EGFR family, which results in the autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues within the cytoplasmic domain of the receptor and initiates a variety of signalling pathways, such as mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and PI3K activation (Figure 1.3) (Iqbal and Iqbal, 2014).

HER2 signalling is an important mediator of cell proliferation and differentiation during normal breast development. However, *HER2* amplification leads to overexpression of the receptor which is associated with the development of HER2+ breast cancer. When overexpressed, HER2 exists in a constitutively open conformation, leaving it intrinsically capable of interacting with available RTK binding partners even in the absence of ligand (Cho *et al.*, 2003). The HER2-HER3 heterodimer is the most potent stimulator of downstream signalling pathways resulting in increased cell proliferation, survival, differentiation, angiogenesis, and invasion of the breast cancer cells (Holbro *et al.*, 2003; Iqbal and Iqbal, 2014).



Figure 1.3 HER2 signalling pathway. HER2 is located on the cell membrane which dimerises with members of the epidermal growth factor (EGFR) family of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) including HER1, HER3 and HER4 (Yarden and Pines, 2012). Upon ligand binding and receptor homo- or hetero-dimerization phosphorylation of the tyrosine kinase domain in the cytoplasm initiates downstream oncogenic signalling pathways such as phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K)/serine/threonine-specific protein kinase (Akt) pathway and the Ras/ the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway leading to cell cycle progression and proliferation (Feng *et al.*, 2018). Grb2, growth factor receptor-bound 2; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; Nrf2, nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like-2; PDK, phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase; PIP₂, phosphatidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate; PIP₃, phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5) trisphosphate; FOXO3a, forkhead box O3; Shc, Src homology 2 domain containing transforming protein; SOS, son of sevenless.

HER2+ breast cancer accounts for 15-20% of all diagnosed cases and is associated with a more aggressive disease, higher recurrence rate and shorter disease-free survival (Slamon et al., 1987; Igbal and Igbal, 2014). HER2 status of15-20% by immunohistochemistry (IHC) or an amplified HER2 gene copy number by fluorescence in situ hybridisation (FISH), identifies women that are likely to respond to HER2 targeted therapies (Wolff et al., 2013), such as trastuzumab (Kast et al., 2017). Trastuzumab is a monoclonal antibody which consists of two antigen-specific sites that bind to the juxtamembrane portion of the extracellular domain preventing the dimerization and activation of HER2 (Vu and Claret, 2012). This results in the inhibition of the downstream MAPK and PI3K signalling cascades, which induces the suppression of cell growth and proliferation (Vu and Claret, 2012). Pertuzamab, which inhibits the dimerization of HER2 and HER3 receptors, is also used in combination with trastuzumab for HER2+ breast cancer to enhance the inhibition of HER2 signalling (Capelan et al., 2013). Such novel targeted treatments have greatly improved the prognoses of patients with HER2+ metastatic breast cancer (Kast et al., 2017). However, multiple mechanisms of resistance have been demonstrated to decrease the efficacy of targeted therapies, such as the truncation or masking of the extracellular domain of HER2, which inhibit the binding of monoclonal antibodies (Vu and Claret, 2012). Increased expression of insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF-1R) has also been implicated in trastuzumab resistance (Vu and Claret, 2012). The up-regulation of IGF-1R was found to promote resistance in trastuzumab-sensitive SKBR3, HER2+ breast cancer cells, through the down regulation of the cell cycle inhibitor p27^{Kip1}, whilst the addition of IGF-binding protein-3 (IGFBP-3) restored trastuzumab-induced growth inhibition (Lu et al., 2001). Hence, understanding the molecular mechanisms by which tumour cells

confer resistance to therapy may reveal novel promising targets to enhance therapeutic benefit and improve prognosis further.

1.3.3 Triple-negative breast cancer

TNBC is characterised by tumours that lack the expression of ER and PR, the absence of HER2 overexpression, and high expression of Ki-67 (Kondov *et al.*, 2018). TNBC accounts for 10-20% of diagnosed breast cancers, frequently affects younger women and is more prevalent in African-American women (Lehmann *et al.*, 2011). At diagnosis, TNBC tumours are more likely to be T2 or T3, to have already metastasised to the lymph nodes and are more biologically aggressive than other subtypes of breast cancer (Dent *et al.*, 2007). TNBCs are less likely to be detected by screening methods such as mammography which has been suggested to be due to rapid growth rate or higher breast tissue density of women with TNBC leading to late detection (Dent *et al.*, 2007). Currently, TNBC patients have the worst prognosis compared with other breast cancer subtypes as there is a lack of specific therapy available for their treatment as there is for hormone receptor and HER2+ positive breast cancer.

The major issue for the development of targeted therapy against TNBC is the lack of specific oncogene drivers due to wide heterogeneity for this subtype (Shah *et al.*, 2012). Molecular profiling for TNBC has identified oncogenic drivers associated with TNBC such as the expression of HER1/EGFR in approximately 50% of cases and *BRCA1/2* mutations in up to 20% of cases (Nakai, Hung and Yamaguchi, 2016; Gonzalez-Angulo *et al.*, 2011). Of the TNBC subtypes approximately 70% are classified as basal-like tumours which demonstrate the worst prognosis of this subtype (Dawson, Provenzano and Caldas, 2009; Bertucci *et al.*, 2008). Basal-like tumours are characterised by the expression of distinctive genes of the epithelial cells in the basal or outer layer of the mammary gland such as cytokeratin 5 and 17 and EGFR (Lehmann *et al.*, 2011). Upregulation of basal markers such as cytokeratin 5 and 17 leads to the deregulation of genes involved in the cell cycle, DNA damage response pathways and alteration of growth factor signalling, leading to increased cell proliferation and tumour progression (Dai *et al.*, 2015).

Currently, radiation therapy and chemotherapy using cytotoxic agents are typically used for TNBC management (Lebert et al., 2018). Neoadjuvant chemotherapy for localised early-stage TNBC results in higher rates of pathological complete response compared with hormone-positive breast cancer (28% vs. 6.7%) (Von Minckwitz et al., 2012). In particular, patients with defective DNA repair mechanisms such as those with BRCA1/BRCA2 mutations, are highly responsive to chemotherapy (Lebert et al., 2018). PARP inhibitors offer targeted therapy for tumours with BRCA1/BRCA2 mutations, which interferes with the repair of single-stranded DNA breaks leading to cancer cell apoptosis (Rouleau et al., 2010). Although TNBC shows favourable clinical response to chemotherapy overall survival rate is lower compared with the other breast cancer subtypes. which is largely attributed to a more biologically aggressive disease (Wahba and El-Hadaad, 2015). EGFR signalling in TNBC has also been indicated to play an important role in tumour progression, however results of clinical studies of EGFRtargeted therapy in breast cancer have been disappointing (Masuda et al., 2012). Resistance to EGFR-targeted therapies has been suggested to be promoted by the upregulation of down-stream signalling independent of EGFR activation (Nakai, Hung and Yamaguchi, 2016). Perturbed growth factor signalling in breast cancer is largely attributed to altered cell metabolism (DeBerardinis and Chandel, 2016), elucidating the involvement of metabolic proteins in growth factor signalling may identify novel therapeutic targets which this thesis aims to explore further.

1.4 Tumour metabolism re-programming

Altered cellular metabolism is a fundamental adaptation of cancer during disease development (DeBerardinis and Chandel, 2016). Many metabolic pathways have been reported to be dysregulated in breast cancer leading to metabolite addiction, such as dependency on glutamine for tumour growth, which can be exploited in cancer therapy (El Ansari et al., 2018; Long, Li and Zhang, 2016). This reprogramming of cell metabolism in breast cancer is initiated by the activation of oncogenes such as *c-Myc* which enhances glutaminolysis or the inactivation of tumour suppressor genes such as p53 which suppresses glycolysis (Dang, 2009). TNBC and HER2+ subtypes typically overexpress *c-Myc* whilst ER+ breast tumours display increased fatty acid metabolism which is mediated by the upregulation of sterol response element binding protein 1 (SREBP1) (Xu, Chen and Olopade, 2010; Chen, Brown and Russo, 2009). Hence, genetic modulation in tumour cells gives rise to differential metabolic dependence between subtypes of breast cancer. Understanding the altered metabolic dependencies in tumour cells and thus identifying targetable metabolic vulnerabilities provides a novel approach for targeted therapy (Long, Li and Zhang, 2016).

Despite early preconception that cancer cells completely bypass the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and primarily utilize aerobic glycolysis, substantial evidence demonstrates that tumour cells, particularly those with dysregulated oncogene and tumour suppressor expression, also rely heavily on the TCA cycle which is supported by functional mitochondrial activity in tumour cells (Anderson *et al.*, 2018). The TCA cycle is comprised of a series of biochemical reactions occurring in the mitochondria, which provides energy, macromolecules, and redox balance to the cell (Anderson *et al.*, 2018). In the presence of oxygen, differentiated non-proliferating cells metabolise glucose to pyruvate via glycolysis, pyruvate is then

converted to acetyl-Coenzyme A (Acetyl-coA) in the mitochondrion which is catabolised by the TCA cycle and then enters oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), which leads to the net production of 36 ATPs compared with 2 ATPs generated by glycolysis alone (Zheng, 2012). However, Warburg, Wind and Negelein (1927) notably observed tumour tissue to exhibit high lactate production even in the presence of adequate oxygen despite aerobic glycolysis to produce less ATP than OXPHOS (Figure 1.4).

Lactate secreted into the tumour microenvironment as a result of increased aerobic glycolysis acidifies the extracellular space which increases activation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which supports tumour angiogenesis, and hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF1) even under normoxia (Giatromanolaki et al., 2006; Doherty and Cleveland, 2013). HIF1 activation by lactate acts as a positive feedback loop further enhancing tumour cell dependency on aerobic glycolysis (Mishra and Ambs, 2015). Elevated levels of ATP synthesised by OXPHOS inhibits phosphofructokinase 1 (PFK1), the rate-limiting enzyme in glycolysis, which suppresses glycolysis (Zheng, 2012). Hence, exceedingly high levels of ATP by OXPHOS is unfavourable for cancer cell growth. Additionally, although glycolysis yields less ATP than OXPHOS, the rate of ATP generation by glycolysis is higher than by OXPHOS, which is more suited to the energy demands of proliferative malignant cells (Pfeiffer, Schuster and Bonhoeffer, 2001). Enhanced glycolysis supplies tumour cells with biochemical precursors required for the synthesis of larger molecules such as lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids (Heiden, Cantley and Thompson, 2009). For example, glucose-6-phosphate fuels the pentose phosphate pathway to synthesise nucleic acids (Patra and Hay, 2014). Also, 3-phosphoglycerate in glycolysis feeds into the serine synthesis pathway,



Figure 1.4 Schematic representation of oxidative phosphorylation and aerobic glycolysis in normal and tumour cells. Normal differentiated cells under aerobic conditions first metabolise glucose to pyruvate which then undergoes oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondrion. As oxygen is required as the final electron acceptor to oxidise glucose, under hypoxic conditions cells are unable to undergo oxidative phosphorylation and lactate is generated in the cytosol (anaerobic glycolysis). Anaerobic glycolysis allows the recycling of NAD+ to NADH to allow glycolysis to continue (Zheng, 2012). In contrast, cancer cells heavily rely on glycolysis and divert most of the pyruvate to lactate production both under normoxia and hypoxia, despite lower ATP production compared with oxidative phosphorylation (Pfeiffer, Schuster and Bonhoeffer, 2001). Acetyl-coA, acetyl-coenzyme A; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; CS, citrate synthase; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; PDH, pyruvate dehydrogenase; TCA cycle, tricarboxylic acid cycle.

which metabolises glycine (Yang and Vousden, 2016), which goes into the one carbon pathway to produce nucleotides and proteins.

1.5 Isocitrate dehydrogenase enzymes

The isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) enzymes are responsible for the oxidative decarboxylation of isocitrate to produce α -ketoglutarate and CO₂ (Figure 1.5A) (Stoddard, Dean and Koshland, 1993). This reaction occurs in a two-step process which involves the oxidation of isocitrate to the intermediate oxalosuccinate and the reduction of NAD(P)⁺ to NAD(P)H (Hurley *et al.*, 1991). This is followed by the decarboxylation of the carboxyl group beta, forming α -ketoglutarate and CO₂. The IDH enzymes exist in three isoforms, IDH1 is localised in the cytoplasm whilst IDH2 and IDH3 are mitochondrial enzymes. The IDH1 and IDH2 enzymes are homodimeric proteins with 70% structural homology which use NADP+ as a cofactor whilst IDH3 is heterotetrametric (IDH3A, IDH3B, and IDH3G) and NAD⁺ dependent (Figure 1.5) (Ramachandran and Colman, 1980). IDH3 is the primary isoform involved in the TCA cycle where it catalyses the irreversible conversion of isocitrate to α -ketoglutarate while reducing NAD+ to NADH (Figure 1.5C). This isoform is regulated by substrate availability; ADP and citrate activate IDH3 whilst ATP, NADH and NADPH inhibit its activity (Gabriel, Zervos and Plaut, 1986). α -Ketoglutarate produced by IDH3 is further metabolized to succinate in the TCA cycle, and the NADH is used during OXPHOS to generate ATP (Barnes, Kuehn and Atkinson, 1971).

Similarly, in the mitochondria isocitrate can also be reversibly catalysed to α -ketoglutarate by IDH2 as part of the TCA cycle, to produce NADPH, which is utilised to reduce glutathione (GSH) that participates in the defence against



Figure 1.5. Metabolic reactions of the isocitrate dehydrogenase enzyme isoforms. (A) IDH1 and IDH2 catalyse the reversible decarboxylation of isocitrate and α -ketoglutarate using NADP+ as a cofactor (B) *IDH1* and *IDH2* mutation leads to neomorphic activity to convert α -ketoglutarate to 2-hydroxyglutarate (2HG) (C) IDH3 catalyses the irreversible conversion of isocitrate to α -ketoglutarate while reducing NAD+ to NADH (Stoddard, Dean and Koshland, 1993; Gabriel, Zervos and Plaut, 1986; Bhagavan *et al.*, 2015).

reactive oxygen species (ROS) and repair of mitochondrial oxidative damage (Calvert et al., 2017; Lu and Holmgren, 2014). This has been evidenced in glioma cells whereby IDH-mutant cells were found to have increased ROS levels and reduced GSH (Shi et al., 2015). IDH1 reversible oxidative carboxylation maintains levels of α -ketoglutarate in the cytosol which can be shuttled to the mitochondria via the membrane transporter SLC25A11 (Kabe et al., 2006). IDH1/2 mutations have been found to result in neomorphic activity to metabolize α -ketoglutarate to form the oncometabolite R-2-hydroxyglutarate (2HG) in gliomas (Figure 1.5B) (Dang et al., 2009). In gliomas, R132H is the most common IDH1 mutation, and R172K is the most common IDH2 mutation (Yan et al., 2009). However, mutations in IDH3 do not play a role in cancer as unlike IDH1 or IDH2, IDH3 does not catalyse the reverse reductive carboxylation reaction of α-ketoglutarate to isocitrate (Krell et al., 2011). Therefore, for IDH3 the gain of function effect observed with IDH1/2 mutations which leads to the production of 2HG is not applicable. Moreover, loss of function of IDH3 disrupts the TCA cycle and has a detrimental effect on cell growth causing the cell to apoptose rather than to proliferate and become malignant (Al-Khallaf, 2017).

In *IDH1/2* mutant gliomas, 2HG accumulates and inhibits α-ketoglutaratedependent chromatin-modifying enzymes, including histone demethylases and the ten-eleven translocation (TET) family of 5-methlycytosine (5mC) hydroxylases (Noushmehr *et al.*, 2010). This oncometabolite instigates epigenetic modulation of proto-oncogenes leading to carcinogenesis in glioblastomas (McBrayer *et al.*, 2018). 2HG levels have been found to be increased 100-fold in breast tumours compared with adjacent noncancerous tissue (Terunuma *et al.*, 2014). In contrast to gliomas, there is little evidence of *IDH1* mutations in breast cancer, with only

one reported case discussed in the literature (Raynaud *et al.*, 2010; Kim *et al.*, 2014). Instead, *Myc*-mediated 2HG production has been reported as the key instigator of 2HG accumulation induced by increased glutaminase (GLS1) expression (Terunuma *et al.*, 2014). Levels of 2HG were found to be significantly increased in ER- tumours and breast cancer cell lines (Raynaud *et al.*, 2010). Interestingly, the only case of *IDH1* mutation was found to be reported in ER+ breast cancer (Kim *et al.*, 2014) indicating *IDH1* mutations to be a rare event in breast cancer. Wild-type *IDH2* and to a lesser extent *IDH1* were found to induce 2HG production in TNBC MDA-MB-231 cells (Smolková *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, increased expression of the IDH enzymes, in the absence of *IDH* mutations in breast cancer, can be proposed to play an important role in breast cancer tissue in chapter 3.

1.6 Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase

Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase (PHGDH) is the first enzyme branching from glycolysis in the first committed step of the three-step serine biosynthesis pathway (Figure 1.6) (Snell, 1985). PHGDH catalyses the oxidation of the glycolytic intermediate 3-phosphoglycerate (3PG) to 3-phosphohydroxypyruvate (3PHP) using NAD+ as a cofactor (Achouri *et al.*, 1997). Phosphoserine aminotransferase (PSAT) then transaminates 3-PHP to phosphoserine (pSer) which is dephosphorylated to serine by phosphoserine phosphatase (PSPH) (Snell, 1985) (Figure 1.6A). The PHGDH reaction is reversible which under normal physiological conditions, the direction from 3PHP to 3PG is thermodynamically favoured (Fan *et al.*, 2015).





PHGDH is frequently amplified in breast tumours and melanomas (Possemato *et al.*, 2011; Locasale *et al.*, 2011). However, the mechanism by which *PHGDH* amplification supports cancer growth has not yet been fully elucidated. The simplest hypothesis is that it increases *de novo* serine synthesis which is a critical precursor for the biosynthesis of nucleotides and protein necessary for cell growth (Mattaini, Sullivan and Heiden, 2016). However, *PHGDH* knockdown does not significantly reduce the intracellular concentration of serine, and the growth inhibition caused by *PHGDH* knockdown cannot be rescued by the addition of exogenous serine (Chen *et al.*, 2013). Hence, increased PHGDH in breast cancer is proposed to play a functional role independent of its role in serine biosynthesis to promote tumour progression.

Possemato *et al.*, (2011) postulated that maintaining a replenished α ketoglutarate pool in cancer cells is likely a key function of PHGDH as knockdown of this enzyme causes a drop in α -ketoglutarate levels. The transamination reaction catalysed by PSAT is downstream of PHGDH in the serine biosynthesis which converts glutamate to α -ketoglutarate hence elevated levels of PHGDH can drive this reaction. However, other studies have reported this flux of α ketoglutarate to be relatively small compared with other sources such as IDH metabolism (Locasale *et al.*, 2011). Instead, Fan *et al.* (2015) have reported an additional enzymatic functional role for PHGDH beyond 3PG/3PHP oxidation/reduction whereby PHGDH was demonstrated to catalyse the reduction of α -ketoglutarate to 2HG in the *PHGDH*-amplified TNBC (MDA-MB-468) cell line (Figure 1.6B).

1.7 The human branched-chain aminotransferase proteins

Human branched-chain aminotransferases (hBCAT) are key metabolic enzymes that catalyse the reversible transamination of the essential branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs), leucine, isoleucine and valine to form their respective branchedchain α -ketoacids (BCKA) and glutamate (Ichihara and Koyama, 1966). Although the three BCAAs are often treated as one the hBCAT enzymes have substrate preferences of isoleucine \geq leucine > valine \geq glutamate (Hall *et al.*, 1993). Moreover, metabolite formation differs between the BCAAs whereby catabolism of leucine and isoleucine leads to the production of acetyl-coA whilst valine catabolism leads to the production of succinyl-coA (Figure 1.7).

The hBCAT proteins follow a 'ping-pong' reaction, whereby the enzyme and cofactor revert back to their initial state after release of the temporary amino group (Hall *et al.*, 1993; Berg, Tymoczko and Stryer, 2002). During the first half of the reaction, pyridoxal-5-phosphate (PLP), a vitamin B₆ co-factor, acts as a temporary acceptor of the α -amino group being donated from the BCAA and becomes pyridoxamine-5-phosphate (PMP) which releases the respective BCKA. The PMP-enzyme subsequently donates the amino group to α -ketoglutarate to produce glutamate restoring the PLP form of the enzyme (Berg, Tymoczko and Stryer, 2002).

The second reaction of BCAA metabolism is catalysed by the branched-chain αketo acid dehydrogenase enzyme (BCKD) complex (Harris *et al.*, 1986). The BCKD complex catalyses the irreversible decarboxylation of the branched-chain amino ketoacids (BCKA), leading to the synthesis of branched-chain acyl-CoAs,



Figure 1.7. Metabolism of the branched-chain amino acids. The BCAAs are first reversibly transaminated to their respective conjugate α -keto acid by the hBCAT proteins. These are then further metabolised by the BCKD complex into the CoA products. Following further metabolism, these metabolites enter the TCA cycle as either acetyl-CoA (for leucine and isoleucine catabolism) or succinyl-CoA (for valine catabolism). Adapted from Hutson, Sweatt and LaNoue (2005). Abbreviations: α -KG, α -Ketoglutarate; KIC, ketoisocaproate; KMV, ketomethylvalerate; KIV, ketoisovalerate; BCKD, branched-chain α -keto acid dehydrogenase; TCA cycle, tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle.

which are further metabolized to generate cellular energy through the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. The BCKD complex contains three enzymes: a branched-chain α -keto acid decarboxylase (E1), a dihydrolipoyl transacylase (E2), and a dihydrolipoyl dehydrogenase (E3) (Harris *et al.*, 1997). The activity of this complex is tightly controlled by covalent modification with phosphorylation of the E1 α subunits by a specific kinase (BDK) causing inactivation when BCAAs are required for protein synthesis (Shimomura *et al.*, 1990). The BCKD complex is then reactivated, when BCAAs are in excess, through dephosphorylation by a specific phosphatase (BDP) (Damuni *et al.*, 2006).

1.7.1 hBCAT expression in tumours

The hBCAT proteins exist in two main isoforms. The mitochondrial hBCAT isoform (hBCATm protein, BCAT2 gene) is widely expressed in most tissues, whereas the cytosolic hBCAT (hBCATc protein, BCAT1 gene) is restricted to highly specialised tissues including brain and placenta (Hall et al., 1993). These hBCAT proteins share 58% homology in their primary amino acid sequence (Davoodi et al., 1998; Hutson et al., 1998). Emerging studies have identified upregulation of hBCATc to be associated with increased cell proliferation, cell cycle progression in several malignancies including gliomas (Tönjes et al., 2013; Conway et al., 2016) ovarian, colorectal and breast cancer (Wang et al., 2015; Yoshikawa et al., 2006; Thewes et al., 2017). Similarly, upregulation of hBCATm has been demonstrated to promote proliferation of oestrogen receptor positive (MCF7) cells (Antanavičiūtė et al., 2017). The regulation of these proteins differs whereby BCAT1 is c-Myc regulated and BCAT2 is a Kruppel-Like factor 15 (Klf15) regulated gene (Ben-Yosef, Eden and Benvenisty, 1998; Benvenisty et al., 1992; Shimizu et al., 2011). SREBP1 (sterol response element binding protein 1) has been identified to regulate BCAT2 in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Dey et al., 2017) whilst

upregulation of *BCAT1* in breast cancer has been found to be due to histone H3K79 methylation by disruptor of telomeric silencing 1-like (DOT1L) in TNBC MDA-MB-231 cells (Oktyabri *et al.*, 2016). Both genes can also be transcribed by activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4) in response to cellular stresses such as starvation, and oxidative stress (Bröer and Bröer, 2017; Budczies *et al.*, 2013).

In gliomas, upregulation of hBCATc proteins has been demonstrated to correlate with increased grade and aggressiveness (Tönjes et al., 2013) whilst low expression of hBCATm was associated with improved prognosis (Conway et al., 2016), indicating hBCAT proteins to play an intrinsic role in tumour progression. Indeed, suppression of hBCATc in glioma cells, was found to reduce glutamate production resulting in reduced cell proliferation and invasion (Tönjes et al., 2013). Expression of the hBCAT metabolic proteins was demonstrated to be limited to wild-type IDH gliomas and were therefore identified as a potential novel therapeutic target in these poor prognosis tumours (Tönjes et al., 2013). On the contrary, gliomas with mutant-IDH result in neomorphic production of 2HG which has been demonstrated to inhibit hBCATc expression (Dang et al., 2009; Noushmehr et al., 2010; Mayers and Vander Heiden, 2013; McBrayer et al., 2018). Similarly, in breast cancer, shRNA-mediated knockdown of BCAT1 reduced proliferation, migration and invasion of TNBC cells, indicating an intrinsic role to tumour progression (Thewes et al., 2017). However, there is little evidence of IDH1 mutations in breast cancer (Raynaud et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2014), instead Myc-mediated 2HG production has been reported as the key instigator of 2HG accumulation induced by increased glutaminase (GLS1) expression in breast cancer (Terunuma et al., 2014). Interestingly, despite significantly elevated 2HG levels compared with adjacent noncancerous tissue (Terunuma et al., 2014), hBCATc expression has been demonstrated to be upregulated in TNBC tissue

(Thewes *et al.*, 2017). Given their correlated links in gliomas it is timely to investigate the association between IDH and hBCAT expression in breast cancer, which may point to crosstalk between these metabolic pathways offering insight into novel pathways that govern tumorigenesis.

1.7.2 The hBCAT CXXC redox sensitive motif

A novel function of the hBCAT proteins is that they are regulated by different redox environments (Davoodi *et al.*, 1998; Conway *et al.*, 2008). This is important in cancer as the redox environment is commonly disturbed in cancer (Hecht *et al.*, 2016). The hBCAT proteins have been characterised to have a redox-sensitive CXXC motif (Cys315-Gln336-Val337-Cys318 for hBCATm, Cys335-Val336-Val337-Cys338 for hBCATc), which was shown to be important for the binding of hBCATm to the E1 subunit of BCKDC, hence facilitating substrate channelling to BCKDC (Hull *et al.*, 2012). Conversely, under reduced conditions glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) facilitates the oxidative deamination of glutamate to regenerate BCKAs (Islam *et al.*, 2010). Both isozymes of BCAT catalyse reversible transamination of BCAAs, and it is this redox centre that permits this reversibility.

The oxidation state of the CXXC motif is essential for protein-protein interactions between hBCAT and other proteins, where the reactive thiols of cysteine are particularly sensitive to oxidation (Barford, 2004). Modifications with thiol specific reagents or oxidation of the thiols to a disulphide bond results in a loss of hBCAT activity (Conway *et al.*, 2002, 2008). Site-directed mutagenesis identified C315 and C318 cysteines for hBCATm and Cys335 and Cys338 for hBCATc to represent the most reactive thiols under reducing conditions. S-thiolation of hBCATc under oxidizing conditions, followed by de-glutathionylation via the

GSH/Grx repair pathway validated the thiols of the CXXC motif as key targets for the physiologically vital reducing systems of the cell. It has been suggested that these reducing mechanisms may be working together with hBCATc as a redox sink conserving GSH, or that the protein itself is regulated during oxidative stress via S-glutathionylation (Conway *et al.*, 2008). Through modification of reduced (GSH) to oxidized (GSSG) glutathione ratio (GSH:GSSG), the overall redox potential for hBCATc was found to be lower than that of hBCATm, which allows decreased sensitivity of hBCATm to the redox state thus preserving aminotransferase activity in the oxidising mitochondrial environment (Coles, Hancock and Conway, 2012). The differential redox potentials between the hBCAT CXXC motifs was suggested to reflect different biochemical behaviours as well as their different sub-cellular locations.

1.7.3 The novel role of hBCAT in deregulated tumour signalling pathways

During tumorigenesis oxidative stress is induced as the metabolic activity of cancer cells increases as either an overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) or insufficient antioxidant activity (Gorrini, Harris and Mak, 2013). However, excessive oxidative stress can induce apoptosis (Hole *et al.*, 2013), hence to counteract excessive ROS accumulation tumour cells increase their antioxidant capacity (Chandel and Tuveson, 2014). Overexpression of *BCAT1* has been demonstrated to decrease cell apoptosis in prostate cancer cells (Zhu, Shao and Peng, 2017), however the underlying mechanism has yet to be elucidated. As the hBCAT proteins have been demonstrated to regulate the expression of redox regulating proteins (Conway *et al.*, 2008), it can be hypothesised that the redox-sensitive hBCAT protein may play an intrinsic role in the evasion of apoptosis through modulation of the redox status in tumour cells. Moreover, hBCATm has

been demonstrated to play a protective role in Alzheimer's disease, through interaction with the protein-folding protein disulfide isomerase (PDI), which was regulated through S-glutathionylation under oxidative stress (Hindy *et al.*, 2014). This study highlighted a novel redox chaperone role for hBCATm through interaction with PDI which mediates an adaptive response to changes in the cellular redox environment to promote cell survival (Nakamura, 2005).

1.8 Insulin and IGF-1 signalling axis

Aberrant growth factor signalling such as amplified insulin/IGF-1 signalling in breast cancer has been demonstrated to play an intrinsic role in oncogenesis and tumour progression in addition to contributing to resistance to targeted therapies (Christopoulos, Msaouel and Koutsilieris, 2015; Vander Heiden and DeBerardinis, 2017). The insulin/insulin-like growth factor (IGF) system is a complex network essential for regulation of cell growth, proliferation and survival (Lewitt and Boyd, 2019). Ordinarily these pathways are transiently activated in response to growth factor stimulation, however up-regulation of both insulin/IGF-1 and their receptors in breast cancer can lead to constitutive signalling (Tsujimoto, Kajio and Sugiyama, 2017; Law *et al.*, 2008; Obr *et al.*, 2018). Insulin/IGF-1 signalling plays a central role in tumour cell proliferation, survival, invasion, and metastasis in breast cancer (Christopoulos, Msaouel and Koutsilieris, 2018).

1.8.1 Insulin

Insulin is a polypeptide hormone consisting of 51 amino acids, which is secreted from pancreatic β -cells into the blood and plays a major role in regulating glucose uptake and metabolism (Sanger, 1960; Leroux *et al.*, 1975). In response to increased glucose levels, insulin increases glucose absorption by promoting the

translocation of the glucose transporter proteins from the cytoplasm to the cell membrane (Leroux *et al.*, 1975). Insulin acts as an anabolic protein by increasing the uptake and incorporation of amino acids into protein, inhibits protein degradation, stimulates lipogenesis, and suppress lipolysis (Leroux *et al.*, 1975; Qaid and Abdelrahman, 2016). Insulin may be considered a storage hormone by promoting movement of glucose directing absorbed amino acids into peripheral tissues (Qaid and Abdelrahman, 2016).

In the breast, insulin has been demonstrated to be important in the maintenance of milk secretion during lactation mediated by increased lipid synthesis (Jones, Ilic and Williamson, 1984). In addition to its metabolic effects, insulin also promotes cell proliferation and migration and inhibits apoptosis (Saltiel and Kahn, 2001). High levels of circulating insulin as well as increased expression of insulin receptor (IR) has been associated with increased breast cancer risk (Tsujimoto, Kajio and Sugiyama, 2017; Law *et al.*, 2008). Insulin is involved in tumour progression rather than initiation and neoplastic transformation of the breast epithelial cell (Rose and Vona-Davis, 2012). Hyperinsulinemia increases the secretion of adipokines, such as leptin, from tumour-associated adipose tissue to enhance cancer cell proliferation, survival and angiogenesis (Rose and Vona-Davis, 2012). Insulin may also indirectly promote breast cancer development, via the upregulation and modulation of the bioavailability of IGF-1, especially in the tumour microenvironment (Kang, LeRoith and Gallagher, 2018).

1.8.2 IGF-1

IGF-1 is a small peptide consisting of 70 amino acids and shares 70% structural similarity to insulin (Laron, 2001). The structural similarity to insulin explains the ability of IGF-1 to bind (with low affinity) to the IR (Kim and Accili, 2002). IGF-1 is

produced primarily in the liver under direct stimulation of growth hormone (GH) (Laron, 2001), which is essential for mammary gland development as demonstrated in mice lacking GH receptor (GHR) leads to a severely compromised ductal network (Marshman and Streuli, 2002). IGF-1 is expressed mainly in stromal cells of the mammary connective tissue (i.e. fibroblasts and adipocytes) whilst the IGF-1R is primarily expressed in the epithelial cells, supporting the vital role of stromal–epithelial for full mammary gland development (Sreekumar, Roarty and Rosen, 2015). Importantly, IGF-1 acts as a mediator of mammary branching and ductal formation, which is implicated in the pathogenesis of breast cancer (Macias and Hinck; Christopoulos, Msaouel and Koutsilieris, 2015).

IGF-1 plays a major mitogenic role in regulating cell proliferation, differentiation, migration and survival and also a metabolic role to increase the cellular uptake of glucose and amino acids and stimulate glycogen and protein synthesis (Zapf, Schmid and Froesch, 1984; Dimitriadis *et al.*, 1992). The family of six IGF binding proteins (IGFBP1-6) are major regulators of the bioavailability of IGF-1, which transport IGF-1 in the circulation, facilitate their movement out of the vascular compartment and elongate the half-life of the hormones (Rajpathak *et al.*, 2009; Bruning *et al.*, 1995). IGFBPs, preferentially IGFBP-3, bind IGF-1 with high affinity but do not bind to insulin (Bruning *et al.*, 1995). Elevated IGF-1 and decreased IGFBP-3 levels are observed in the serum of women presenting with early stage breast cancer indicating increased levels of available IGF-1 may contribute to breast cancer development (Bruning *et al.*, 1995). Additionally, increased expression of IGF-1R in breast cancer tissue compared with normal or benign

tissue indicates the IGF-1 signalling pathway plays a key role in tumour progression (Obr *et al.*, 2018).

1.8.3 The insulin and IGF-1 receptors

IR and IGF-1R are homologous receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) and share almost 84% structure similarity (Chitnis *et al.*, 2008). These two cell membrane receptors are composed of two extracellular spanning α subunits and two transmembrane β subunits connected by disulphide bonds to form homodimers (Figure 1.8) (Laron, 2001). The intracellular domain of the β subunit contains a tyrosine kinase domain, which constitutes the signal transduction mechanism (Kavran *et al.*, 2015). In addition to the homodimer receptors, the α and β chains from IGF-1R and IR can dimerize with each other to form functional heterodimer receptors referred to as hybrid receptors (Pandini *et al.*, 1999; Rajpathak *et al.*, 2009).

Binding of IGF-1 and insulin to the IGF-1R, IR and IGF-1/IR hybrids induces a conformational change in the catalytic domain of the β -subunit to promote phosphorylation of tyrosine residues 1158, 1162 and 1163 in the kinase regulatory loop (Hubbard, Mohammadi and Schlessinger, 1998; Girnita *et al.*, 2014). Autophosphorylation releases the regulatory loop from its inhibitory position, which allows the phosphorylation and recruitment of specific substrates, in particular insulin receptor substrate (IRS)-1, IRS-2 and Src homology 2 domain containing transforming protein (Shc) to the cell membrane (Hubbard, Mohammadi and Schlessinger, 1998; Girnita *et al.*, 2014). The activation of these substrates generates recruitment sites for downstream signalling proteins containing phosphor-tyrosine-recognition domains, such as the Src homology 2 (SH2) domain or the



Figure 1.8. Structure of the IGF-1 and insulin receptors. The receptors of the insulin/IGF-1 system are comprised of two half receptors, each with an extracellular ligand-binding domain and an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain (Bowers *et al.*, 2015). The insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF-1R) and insulin receptor (IR) receptors are highly similar in structure and both belong to the tyrosine kinase receptor family (Rajpathak *et al.*, 2009). Both IGF-1R and IR homodimers and IGF-1R/IR heterodimers can form (Bowers *et al.*, 2015). Ligand binding stimulates the kinase activity of these receptors via transphosphorylation of their beta subunits (Bowers *et al.*, 2015).

phosphotyrosine-binding (PTB) domain (Girnita *et al.*, 2014; Hakuno and Takahashi, 2018). This results in the activation of two major signalling pathways; the PI3K/AKT/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway, which is mainly responsible for metabolic activities (Saxton and Sabatini, 2017), and the Ras/MAPK pathway, which is involved in regulating cellular growth, proliferation and migration (McCubrey *et al.*, 2007).

1.8.4 The RAS/MAPK signalling cascade

IGF-1/IR activation and subsequent tyrosine-phosphorylated IRS1, IRS2 and Shc leads to the activation of the RAS/MAPK signalling cascade (Figure 1.9). The pathway is initiated by recruitment of Grb2 which consists of a SH2 domain flanked by N- and C-terminal Src homology 2 (SH3) domains (Giubellino, Burke and Bottaro, 2008). Grb2 is activated by binding directly to phosphorylated IRS or Shc through its SH2 domain, while the SH3 domains interact with son of sevenless (Sos), a guanine nucleotide exchange protein (Hakuno and Takahashi, 2018; Girnita *et al.*, 2014). Sos catalyses the release of guanosine diphosphate (GDP) and subsequent binding of guanosine triphosphate (GTP) to membranebound Ras (Mendoza, Er and Blenis, 2011). Activated (GTP-bound) Ras in turn interacts with and translocates the serine/threonine protein kinase Raf to the plasma membrane, where Raf becomes activated (Girnita *et al.*, 2014). Raf phosphorylates and activates the dual specificity MAPK, MEK, which in turn stimulates the ERK subset of MAPKs: extracellular-related kinase (ERK)1 and ERK2 (Girnita *et al.*, 2014).

The MAPKs, ERK1/2 are serine/threonine kinases which are the main effectors of the Ras/MAPK signalling cascade to regulate cell growth, proliferation and



Figure 1.9. IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade. Activation of insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF-1R) and insulin receptor (IR), mediated by ligand binding of IGF-1 or insulin activates phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K)/serine/threonine-specific protein kinase (Akt) pathway and the Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway signalling cascades (Girnita *et al.*, 2014). This initiates the phosphorylation of various signalling effector proteins coordinating cell growth, proliferation, migration, survival, apoptosis and redox homeostasis as indicated (Feng *et al.*, 2018). Grb2, growth factor receptor-bound 2; GRP78, glucose regulated protein 78; IRS, insulin receptor substrate; Keap1, kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; Nrf2, nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like-2; PDK, phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase; PIP₂, phosphatidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate; PIP₃, phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5) trisphosphate; FOXO3a, forkhead box O3; Shc, Src homology 2 domain containing transforming protein; SOS, son of sevenless.

migration (McCubrey *et al.*, 2007). The phosphorylation of MAPK results in an activation of its kinase activity to phosphorylate several cytoplasmic and nuclear targets, including kinases, phosphatases, transcription factors and cytoskeletal proteins (Dhillon *et al.*, 2007). In the cytoplasm, MAPK regulates microtubule dynamics by phosphorylating microtubule-associated proteins to mediate cell motility and migration (Girnita *et al.*, 2014). Cytoplasmic targets for MAPK include p90 ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK), which phosphorylates several cytoplasmic targets and transcriptional regulators such as myosin phosphatase–targeting subunit 1 (Samson *et al.*, 2019; Cargnello and Roux, 2011). MAPK nuclear targets include ETS Like-1 protein (Elk1), a ternary complex factor transcription factor, which is involved in the expression of immediate-early (IE) genes, such as *c-Fos* to promote cell survival, cell division, and cell motility (Vickers *et al.*, 2004).

1.8.5 The PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling cascade

Activation of the IGF-1/IR signalling cascade leads to IRS1 and IRS2 phosphorylation at multiple tyrosine residues to create docking sites for the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K class I, leading to activation of the catalytic subunit p110 of PI3K (Luo *et al.*, 2005). This leads to the formation of PIP₃, which binds to the pleckstrin-homology (PH) domain of Akt disrupting its interaction with the catalytic domain, which is subsequently phosphorylated by phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1 (PDK1) (Um, D'Alessio and Thomas, 2006). Activated Akt subsequently phosphorylates multiple substrates including p21, transcription factor forkhead box O3 (FOXO3a) and glucose regulated protein 78 (GRP78) (Girnita *et al.*, 2014).

Redox homeostasis is regulated by the phosphorylation of p21 by Akt which increases the stability of nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like-2 (Nrf2) (Koundouros and Poulogiannis, 2018). Nrf2 and its repressor protein kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1) mediate cellular response to oxidative stress through the regulation of antioxidant genes such as thioredoxin (Trx) (Nakaso et al., 2003). Akt activation of p21 disrupts the interaction between Keap1 and Nrf2, reducing Nrf2 phosphorylation, preventing its nuclear export and ubiquitination (Koundouros and Poulogiannis, 2018). PI3K/Akt activation of Nrf2 promotes a cell protective role in response to changes in the redox state which is commonly perturbed in cancer (Gorrini, Harris and Mak, 2013). Akt activation also induces the nuclear translocation of FOXO3a which regulates several genes involved in apoptosis, such as Bcl-2-like protein (Bim) and cell proliferation such as cyclindependent kinase inhibitor 1B (p27Kip1) (Liu et al., 2018). Moreover, PI3K/Akt activation stabilises GRP78, which acts as a molecular chaperone protein, to prevent binding to pro-apoptotic factors thereby evading apoptosis (Dai et al., 2010). GRP78 plays a key role in cell survival and is upregulated in response to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress to suppress the activity of the pro-apoptotic factors and thus inhibit apoptosis (Fu, Li and Lee, 2007). Akt activation can also directly phosphorylate and inhibit several pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bcl-2associated death promoter (BAD), the pro-apoptotic effector protein glycogen synthase kinase-3ß (GSK-3ß) and caspase 9 (Cardone et al., 1998; Girnita et al., 2014).

Activated Akt also induces phosphorylation and degradation of tuberous sclerosis complex protein 2 (TSC2), which acts in a complex with TSC1 as a GTPase activating protein for the Ras homolog enriched in brain (Rheb) to form inactive

GDP-bound Rheb (Nobukuni, Kozma and Thomas, 2007)Therefore, TSC2 degradation permits GTP bound Rheb to directly interact with mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) which consists of regulatory-associated protein of mTOR (raptor), proline-rich Akt substrate 40 (PRAS40), G protein beta protein subunit-like (GβL) and DEP domain-containing mTOR-interacting protein (DEPTOR) (Saxton and Sabatini, 2017). Activation of mTOR leads to phosphorylation of several target proteins related to ribosomal biogenesis and cell growth, including ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1 (S6K) and eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1 (4EBP1) (Saxton and Sabatini, 2017).

Nutrient levels of BCAAs particularly leucine, substrates of hBCAT, regulate the mTOR pathway (Son et al., 2019) which is a key signalling kinase downstream of the EGFR pathways including HER2 and the insulin/IGF-1 signalling cascades which induces protein synthesis, supporting tumour growth (Christopoulos, Msaouel and Koutsilieris, 2015; Laplante and Sabatini, 2013). Hence, overexpression of hBCATc in breast cancer (Thewes et al., 2017) can be proposed to promote increased cell proliferation through the regulation of the mTOR pathway. Understanding the underlying mechanisms by which metabolic proteins may converge with components of these signalling cascades, such as mTOR, may offer novel therapeutic targets. As discussed, the hBCAT proteins are potentially involved in several processes including deregulated cell metabolism, redox status and aberrant mTOR signalling, offering multiple benefits to tumour cells for cell growth and survival in the unfavourable conditions found in the tumour stroma. Together, this highlights the importance of understanding the role of the hBCAT proteins in these signalling cascades, which will be investigated further in this thesis.
1.9 Overall aims

1.9.1 General hypothesis:

Metabolic reprogramming is an important cancer hallmark to support cell survival and growth. Key metabolic enzymes involved in BCAA metabolism (hBCATc and hBCATm), isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH1 and IDH2) and serine metabolism (PHGDH) are upregulated in breast cancer. The different breast cancer molecular subtypes lead to the activation of oncogenic pathways and subsequently differential metabolic liabilities. However, the expression patterns and the role of these metabolic proteins in breast cancer remain to be elucidated. As these metabolic pathways have been demonstrated to converge in gliomas, it was hypothesised that there is crosstalk between these metabolic pathways and that these are favoured differentially between breast cancer subtypes.

In breast cancer IGF-1/insulin signalling has also been demonstrated to contribute to tumourigenesis through the activation of growth signalling effectors mediated by two chief pathways: Akt/mTOR and RAS/MAPK. Therapeutic targets targeting the IGF-1 and insulin receptors lack efficacy, highlighting the need for novel therapeutic targets for the modulation of these signalling cascades. As nutrient levels of BCAAs particularly leucine, substrates of hBCATc, regulate the mTOR pathway hBCATc was hypothesised to play a role in the regulation of proliferation and migration of TNBC cells through the IGF-1 and insulin signalling pathways.

1.9.2 Overall aims and objectives

The aim of this study is to identify the role of metabolic dependencies in breast cancer and to assess the role of the metabolic proteins in signalling pathways associated with tumour progression.

Aim 1: Characterisation of metabolic proteins in breast cancer

To assess the expression levels and cellular localisation of metabolic enzymes involved in BCAA metabolism (hBCATc and hBCATm), isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH1 and IDH2) and serine metabolism (PHGDH) in a cohort of human breast cancer tissue samples. The expression of these metabolic proteins will be correlated with breast cancer subtypes, clinicopathological features and diseasefree survival.

Aim 2: The role of hBCATc in the IGF-1/insulin signalling cascades

To determine whether hBCATc plays a role in IGF-1 and insulin mediated proliferation and migration siRNA-mediated *BCAT1* knockdown models will be used. The role of hBCATc in the regulation of the two principal cell signalling pathways; Akt/mTOR and RAS/MAPK and relevant downstream signalling effectors will be investigated using shRNA-mediated *BCAT1* knockdown and overexpression models.

Chapter 2

2.0 Materials and Methods

Mai Ahmed Shafei

2.0 Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

Annexin V-FITC Kit was purchased from Biolegend (San Diego, CA, USA). Lentiviral pULTRA vector reference no. 24129, was supplied by Addgene (Cambridge, MA). Seahorse XFe24 FluxPak and Seahorse XF Glycolysis Rate Assay Pack were purchased from Agilent Technologies (Cheshire, UK). Directzol™ RNA MiniPrep and TriZol reagent were purchased from Cambridge bioscience (Cambridge, UK). Glass 18 mm diameter rounded coverslips were purchased from Cellpath (Newtown, UK). Annexin V Binding Buffer, Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), Earle's Balanced Salt Solution (EBSS), Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), ethylene glycol-bis(β-aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid (EGTA), foetal bovine serum (FBS), Gibco® Opti-MEM[™], Gibco[®] Trypsin-EDTA, glacial acetic acid, glycine, hydrogen chloride, Insulin-Transferrin, Lipofectamine[™] RNAiMAX, magnesium chloride, methanol, NuPAGE lithium dodecyl sulfate (LDS) sample buffer 4 X, poly-l-lysine, propidium iodide staining solution, sodium bicarbonate, sodium chloride, sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS), sodium hydroxide, Spectra ladder, trichloric acid (TCA), Superfrost Plus slides, Tris, Tween® 20, were purchased from Fisher Scientific (Loughborough, UK). Thincert[™] cell culture inserts (8 µm) for 24 well plates were purchased from Greiner Bio-One (Stonehouse, UK). Histoclear was purchased from National Diagnostics (Atlanta, GA, USA). Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane (IPFL00010) was purchased from Merck (Watford, UK). pSUPER plasmid was purchased from Oligoengine (Seattle, WA). Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was purchased from Oxoid (Hampshire, UK). Ultima gold liquid scintillation cocktail was purchased from Perkin Elmer (Beaconsfield, UK). BM chemiluminescence blotting substrate and complete mini EDTA-free protease inhibitor cocktail tablets were purchased from Roche (West Sussex, UK). 30% Acrylamide, β-mercaptoethanol, bovine serum albumin (BSA), bromophenol blue dye, Cholera Toxin from *Vibrio cholerae*, Coomassie blue G dye, Crystal Violet, DMEM/Nutrient Mixture F-12, DPX-mountant, Ham glucose, Harris's Haematoxylin, horse serum, hydrocortisone, insulin, L-glutamine, MISSION® lentiviral packaging mix, polyethylenimine (PEI) rapamycin, sodium cacodylate, TEMED and TritonTM X-100 were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Dorset, UK). ImmPACT DAB peroxidase (HRP) substrate, Vectashield hardset mounting medium with DAPI and Vectastain elite ABC kit were purchased from Vector Labs (Peterborough, UK). Ethanol was purchased from VWR (Leicestershire, UK). Marvel was purchased locally.

2.1.2 Cell lines

MCF10a: basal breast benign cells,and breast cancer cell lines BT20: basal A TN, MCF7: luminal ER+/PR+, MDA-MB-231: basal B TN, MDA-MB-361: luminal ER+/PR+/HER2+, MDA-MB-453: luminal ER-/PR-/HER2+, SKBR3: luminal ER-/PR-/HER2+ were obtained from ATCC [™] (Manassas, VA). Human embryonic kidney cells; HEK-293T cells used for lentiviral particle production were obtained from Takara Bio (Otsu, Japan).

Table 2.1: List of antibodies, dilution and source

Antibody (raised in)	Dilution (method)	Manufacturer Code	Manufacturer
α-tubulin (mouse)	1:5,000 (WB)	Ab7291	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
β-actin (mouse)	1:5,000 (WB)	Ab8226	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
Grb2 (rabbit)	1:3,000 (WB)	Ab32037	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
IDH1 (rabbit)	1:1,000 (WB) 1:400 (IHC)	Ab113232	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
IDH2 (mouse)	1:3,000 (WB) 1:200 (IHC)	Ab184196	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
mTOR (rabbit)	1:500 (WB)	Ab134903	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
Nrf2 (rabbit)	1:3,000 (WB)	Ab62352	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
PHGDH (rabbit)	1:5,000 (WB) 1:600 (IHC)	Ab125865	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
Phospho-mTOR (rabbit)	1:500 (WB)	Ab137133	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
mTOR (rabbit)	1:500 (WB)	Ab134093	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
SOS1 (rabbit)	1:1,000 (WB)	Ab140621	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
hBCATc (mouse)	1:50 (ICC)	611271	BD Biosciences (New Jersey, US)
Phospho-Akt (rabbit)	1:500 (WB)	9271	Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA)
Akt (rabbit)	1:500 (WB)	9272	Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA)

FOXO3a (rabbit)	1:1,000 (WB)	2497	Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA)
IGF1-Rβ (rabbit)	1:1,000 (WB)	9750	Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA)
MAPK (rabbit)	1:1,000 (WB) 1:100 (ICC)	4695	Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA)
Phospho-MAPK (rabbit)	1:1,000 (WB) 1:100 (ICC)	4370	Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA)
hBCATc (rabbit)	1:3,000 (WB) 1:200 (IHC)	Custom synthesis	Insight Biotechnology (Wembley, UK)
hBCATm (rabbit)	1:3,000 (WB) 1:800 (IHC)	Custom synthesis	Insight Biotechnology (Wembley, UK)
Donkey anti- Mouse IgG (H + L) IRDye® 800CW	1:5,000 (WB)	92532212	LI-COR Biosciences (Lincoln, USA)
Goat anti-Rabbit IgG (H + L) IRDye® 800CW	1:5,000 (WB)	92532213	LI-COR Biosciences (Lincoln, USA)
Goat anti-Mouse Alexa Fluor 488 Secondary	1:250 (ICC)	10544773	Invitrogen (Paisley, UK)
Goat anti-Rabbit Alexa Fluor 568 Secondary	1:500 (ICC)	10463022	Invitrogen (Paisley, UK)
GRP78 (mouse)	1:400 (WB)	SC-1050	Santa Cruz (Heidelberg, Germany)

GAPDH (mouse)	1:5,000 (WB)	SC-47724	Santa Cruz (Heidelberg, Germany)
SHC (mouse)	1:1,000 (WB)	SC-967	Santa Cruz (Heidelberg, Germany)
Mouse IgG HRP- conjugate (horse)	1:3,000 (WB)	PI-2000	Vector (Peterborough, UK)
Rabbit IgG HRP- conjugate (goat)	1:3,000 (WB)	PI-1000	Vector (Peterborough, UK)

2.2 Methods:

2.2.1 Immunohistochemistry 2.2.1.1 Patient Characteristics

Archival human breast cancer tissue samples from surgical resections of breast tumours were obtained from the Bristol Royal Infirmary under ethical approval from NHS Health Research Authority and UWE Ethics Committee (Ref. 11/SW/0127). To re-confirm phenotype all of the cases were IHC stained for ER, PR and HER2. The patient cohort consisted of a total of 83 breast cancer cases which were classified into subtypes; HER2+ subtype (18 cases), luminal A (19 cases), luminal B (10 cases) and TNBC (36). Patients' clinical pathological characteristics included hormone receptor status, tumour stage, lymph-node metastasis and survival. HER2+ breast cancer and TNBC demonstrated higher histopathological grading (p < 0.001) compared to the other subtypes (Table 2.2).

2.2.1.2 Immunohistochemical Staining and Scoring

Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue were serially sectioned at 4 µm using a microtome (Leica RM2235) and mounted on Superfrost Plus slides. Tissue sections were deparaffinised in histoclear and rehydrated using a series of ethanol concentrations and dH₂O. Endogenous peroxidase was quenched in 3% v/v hydrogen peroxide for 10 minutes at room temperature. Antigen retrieval was performed by heating sections in 10 mM citrate buffer pH 6.0 boiled at 95°C for 30 minutes using a water bath and then allowing the sections to cool to room temperature in the buffer. Non-specific binding sites were blocked with 5% horse serum in Tris-buffered saline (TBS; 200 mM sodium chloride, 2 mM tris, pH 7.5) for 1 hour at room temperature and sections were incubated with primary antibody in blocking serum overnight at 4°C.

Table	2.2	Clinicopathological	characteristics	of	the	patient	cohort
accord	ding	to breast cancer sub	types				

Parameters	Total (n=83) (%)	HER2 (n= 18) (%)	Luminal A (n= 19) (%)	Luminal B (n= 10) (%)	TN (n= 36) (%)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (year, mean±SD)	61.04±13.1	60.44±10.0	61.06±14.0	55.59±16.3	62.85±13.0	
ER						< 0.001
Negative	52 (64.2)	15 (88.2)	1 (5.3)	1 (10.0)	35 (100.0)	
Positive	29 (35.8)	2 (11.8)	18 (94.7)	9 (90.0)	0 (0.0)	
PR						< 0.001
Negative	58 (71.6)	15 (88.2)	5 (26.3)	3 (30.0)	35 (100.0)	
Positive	23 (28.4)	2 (11.8)	14 (73.7)	7 (70.0)	0 (0.0)	
HER2						< 0.001
Negative	57 (70.4)	2 (11.8)	15 (78.9)	5 (50.0)	35 (100.0)	
Positive	24 (29.6)	15 (88.2)	4 (21.0)	5 (50.0)	0 (0.0)	
Tumour type						0.159
Lobular	9 (10.8)	0 (0.0)	3 (15.8)	0 (0.0)	6 (16.7)	
Ductal	68 (81.9)	18 (100)	15 (78.9)	8 (80.0)	27 (75.0)	
Mixed/Other	6 (7.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (5.3)	2 (20.0)	3 (8.3)	
Histological Grade						< 0.001
1/11	42 (50.6)	7 (38.9)	18 (94.7)	6 (60.0)	11 (30.6)	
<i>III</i>	41 (49.4)	11 (61.1)	1 (5.3)	4 (40.0)	25 (69.4)	
Tumour Stage						0.208
T1	43 (52.4)	8 (44.4)	14 (73.7)	4 (40.0)	17 (48.6)	
T2	34 (41.5)	10 (55.6)	3 (15.8)	5 (50.0)	16 (45.7)	
ТЗ	5 (6.1)	0 (0.0)	2 (10.5)	1 (10.0)	2 (5.7)	
Nodal Stage						0.074
N0	54 (65.9)	9 (50.0)	15 (78.9)	5 (50.0)	25 (71.4)	
N1	18 (22.0)	7 (38.9)	2 (10.5)	3 (30.0)	6 (17.1)	
N2	7 (8.5)	2 (11.1)	2 (10.5)	0 (0.0)	3 (8.6)	
N3	3 (3.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (20.0)	1 (2.9)	
TNM Stage						0.03
Ι	35 (42.7)	3 (16.7)	13 (68.4)	4 (40.0)	15 (42.9)	
11	35 (42.7)	13 (72.2)	4 (21.1)	3 (30.0)	15 (42.9)	
	12 (14.6)	2 (11.1)	2 (10.5)	3 (30.0)	5 (14.3)	
Tumour size (cm)						0.162
≤ 2	46 (57.5)	7 (41.2)	13 (68.4)	8 (80.0)	18 (52.9)	
> 2	34 (42.5)	10 (58.8)	6 (31.6)	2 (20.0)	16 (47.1)	

ER, oestrogen receptor; HER2, Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2; TN, triple negative

Chapter 2

Sections were washed twice with TBS and incubated with biotinylated secondary antibody in TBS for 1 hour followed by avidin-biotin complex in TBS incubation for 30 minutes (Vectastain ABC kit). Slides were subsequently developed with 3,3'diaminobenzidine (ImmPACT DAB Peroxidase (HRP) Substrate) for 10 minutes. Sections were counter-stained with Haematoxylin (25% w/v Harris's Haematoxylin) for 2 minutes and washed in running water for 5 minutes. Slides were dehydrated with in a series of increasing concentrations of ethanol, cleared in two changes of histoclear for 5 minutes in each and mounted using Distyrene, a plasticizer, and xylene (DPX). Secondary antibody only controls were included.

The sections were examined on a light microscope and scored using the IRS scoring system as described in Table 2.3. The percentage of positive cells was defined on a scale between 0-4, as 0% (0), <10% (1), 10–50% (2), 51–80% (3), >80% (4) and the staining intensity evaluated on a scoring scale ranging from no reaction (0), weak (1), moderate (2) to intense reaction (3). The IRS class was calculated by multiplying the quantitative expression with the intensity score giving rise to a point range between 0 and 12. IRS classification was categorised on a scale between 0 and 3 from negative (0-1), weak positive expression (2-3), moderate positive expression (4-8) and strong positive expression (9-12). Independent scoring was performed by myself and Arwa Flemban (PhD colleague) to validate the scoring assigned. Representative images were captured on a Nikon Eclipse 80i (Nikon UK, Kingston Upon Thames, UK).

61

Percentage of positive cells	Intensity of staining	IRS class (0-12)	
0 = no positive cells	0 = no reaction	0-1 = negative	
1 = <10% of positive cells	1 = mild reaction	2-3 = mild	
2 = 10-50% positive cells	2 = moderate reaction	4-8 = moderate	
3 = 51-80% positive cells	3 = intense reaction	9-12 = strongly positive	
4 = >80% positive cells			
IRS - points	IRS classification (0-3)		
0–1	0 = negative		
2-3	1 = positive, weak expression		
4-8	2 = positive, moderate expression		

4-8	2 = positive, moderate expression
9-12	3 = positive, strong expression
Nuclear - score	Nuclear expression (0-3)
0	No nuclear staining
1	<10% of tumour cells have nuclear staining
2	10-50% of tumour cells have nuclear staining
3	≥51% of tumour cells have nuclear staining

IRS classification for protein expression is assessed by multiplying the scores of the percentage of positive cells and the immune reaction to give a combined IRS class on a scale between 0 and 3 (Kaemmerer *et al.*, 2012). The level of nuclear protein expression was categorised on a scale between 0 and 3, (Volante *et al.*, 2007).

2.2.2 Mammalian cell culture

All cell lines were cultured to 60-80% confluence in DMEM containing 10% FBS and 2.5 mM L-glutamine on Corning T-75 flasks in a humidified incubator at 37°C with 5% carbon dioxide. The exception to this was the MCF-10A cells, which were maintained in DMEM/F12 medium containing 5% horse serum, 2.5 mM L-glutamine, 0.5 mg/mL hydrocortisone, 100 ng/mL cholera toxin and 10 µg/mL insulin at 60-80% confluence in Corning T-75 flasks in a humidified incubator at 37°C with 5% carbon dioxide.

2.2.3 siRNA transfection

The siRNA sequences for *BCAT1* (Sense 5' CAUUAUCUACUGCUUCACAUU and antisense 5' UGUGAAGCAGUAGAUAAUGUU) were previously designed and validated by Tom Forshaw (Conway lab) (primers were synthesised by Eurofins Genomics, Germany). Cells were transfected with 20 nM *BCAT1* siRNA using Lipofectamine RNAimax or transfection solution prepared in Opti-MEM for 72 hours.

2.2.4 Lentiviral shRNA transfection

The pULTRA-*BCAT1* and overexpression plasmids were kindly provided by Tom Forshaw and Fred Hudd (Conway lab). In brief, for *BCAT1* knockdown, an H1 promoter-*BCAT1* shRNA sequence (CCCAATGTGAAGCAGTAGATATTCAAGA GATATCTACTGTTCACATTGGGTTTTT) cassette was assembled in the pSUPER plasmid (VEC-PBS-0002, Oligoengine, Seattle, WA) by ligation into the *Bgll1* and *Xho1* restriction sites. This was then amplified by PCR and the new plasmid assembled by ligation into the *SnaB1* restriction site of the pULTRA lentiviral vector (Addgene 24129, Cambridge, MA). For overexpression of *BCAT1*, the human gene was PCR amplified from pET28a (Novagen, Madison, WI) bacterial overexpression vectors (Davoodi *et al.*, 1998) and the plasmid assembled by ligation into the BamHI and EcoRI restriction sites of pULTRA. Unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions was included as a control. The pULTRA vector design included enhanced green fluorescent protein (GFP) expression, which was used to confirm uptake of the plasmid into transfected cells. These plasmids were subsequently transformed into DH5 competent cells and plasmid purified using a PureLink HiPure Plasmid Miniprep Kit (Fisher Scientific, UK) following manufacture guidelines. This work was carried out kindly by the Conway lab and subsequent steps performed by myself.

HEK293T cells, used to produce lentiviral particles, were grown in Sigma DMEM medium at a seeding density of 1 x10⁶ cells per T25 flask and grown to 60% confluence. A solution of 2 μ g polyethylenimine (PEI) in sterile serum-free Sigma DMEM was prepared, mixed by inversion, sterile filtered and incubated at room temperature for 2 minutes. Separate tubes were prepared containing 2 μ g of the respective pULTRA-*BCAT1* plasmids and 20 μ L MISSION® lentiviral packaging Mix, an optimised formulation containing two plasmids expressing the key packaging genes and a heterologous viral envelope gene necessary to produce viral particles in HEK293T (Albrecht *et al.*, 2015). The PEI-DMEM was mixed again by inversion and diluted 1:1 with each of the DNA-MISSION® lentiviral packaging mixtures. The solution was mixed and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes.

The HEK293T cells were then washed twice with warmed PBS, carefully to prevent the cells from detaching. The transfection mix was added to the cells and the medium changed with 10% FBS Sigma DMEM, supplemented with 1 mM

64

sodium butyrate to enhance viral yield after 4 hours. The lentiviral particles were harvested 48 hours post-transfection of the HEK293T cells. The supernatant on the HEK293T cells was collected, sterile filtered and stored in aliquots at -80 °C. The HEK293T cells were replenished with fresh Sigma DMEM and lentiviral particles harvested 24 hours later (72 hours post-transfection) as previously described.

For viral transfection of the MDA-MB-231 cells, harvested lentiviral particles were incubated with the cells for at least 8 days. To improve transfection efficiency 8 μ g/mL polybrene was added to the shRNA transfected cells. Transfection efficiency was assessed by fluorescent microscopy as indicated by GFP activation.

2.2.5 Cell treatments

Prior to cell treatments, cells were incubated in serum free DMEM for 24 hours. To assess insulin/IGF-1 signalling mechanisms, cells were treated with 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours and 100 nM insulin for 24 hours following optimisation using a range of concentrations as described in section 4.3.4. Following cell treatments, cells were harvested using trypsin, cell pellets washed with PBS and protein extracted.

2.2.6 Protein extraction of tumour cell lines

Cells were washed with ice cold PBS and harvested using trypsin. Cell pellets were washed with PBS and resuspended in RIPA buffer (10 mM TRIS, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA and 1 mM EGTA), 1 x protease inhibitor and 0.1% Triton X or 2% SDS), sonicated for 1 minute and allowed to sit on ice for 30 minutes. The cell pellet extraction buffer mixture was centrifuged at 15,000 x g at 4°C for 10 minutes. The supernatants were aliquoted and stored at -80°C.

2.2.7 Protein quantification using Amido Black assay

If SDS was used during the protein extraction, the amido black method was used for protein quantification. The extracted protein samples were diluted and standards prepared using BSA (0-10 μ g/ μ l) in ultrapure water. To all samples and protein standard solutions 10% Tris-HCI (1M Tris, 1% SDS, pH 7.5) and 20% of 60% trichloric acid (TCA) were added, samples vortexed and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. The Buchner flask and nitrocellulose membrane were assembled and submitted to vacuum. The nitrocellulose membrane was prepared by washing three times with 6% TCA solution, prepared protein standards and samples were added to a 4-square surface area of the membrane and rinsed intermittently between every 4 to 5 samples with 6% TCA solution. The membrane was stained with amido black stain (100 mM amido black, 45% methanol, 10% glacial acetic acid) for 2 minutes, washed with deionised water and destained (90% methanol, 2% glacial acetic acid) for 1 minute; with the cycle repeated three times. Following destain, each 4-square surface area was evenly cut and placed into a labelled microcentrifuge tube with eluent solution (25 mM NaOH, 0.05 mM EDTA, 50% ethanol), vortexed with subsequent incubation for 30 minutes at room temperature with rocking. The change in absorbance at λ 620 nm was monitored using a Fluostar Optima spectrophotometer to generate a standard curve and protein concentration estimated for each cell lysate.

2.2.8 Protein quantification using Bradford Assay

The extracted protein samples were diluted and standards prepared using BSA. Measurements were assessed in triplicate within a 96 well plate. Bradford working solution was prepared from 1.5% stock solution (330 mg Coomassie blue G, 66.6% phosphoric acid, 33.3% ethanol), 4% phosphoric acid, 1.9% ethanol and 92.6% deionised water. To each well Bradford working solution was added and the absorbance at λ 620 nm read using a Fluostar Optima spectrophotometer. A standard curve was generated to estimate the protein concentration of each cell lysate.

2.2.9 Protein expression using Western blot analysis

2.2.9.1 Gel electrophoresis.

Samples were prepared by combining 20 μg/μl protein, 4% β-mercaptoethanol and LDS sample buffer and adjusting total volume to 25 μl with deionised water. Prepared samples were then denatured at 95°C in a hot block for 10 minutes. Proteins were separated on a 4-12% polyacrylamide gel, comprised of a 4% acrylamide stacking gel (4% 37.5:1 acrylamide: bis-acrylamide, 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 0.1% SDS, 0.1% APS and 0.1% TEMED) and a 12% acrylamide resolving gel (12% 37.5:1 acrylamide: bis-acrylamide, 375 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.8, 0.1% SDS, 0.1% APS and 0.06% TEMED). The gel tank was filled with 1 x running buffer (25 mM tris-HCl pH 6.8, 192 mM glycine, 0.1% SDS) and run at 100 V for 20 minutes and then 170 V for 60 minutes.

2.2.9.2 Wet transfer Western blot.

Proteins were transferred onto activated (100% methanol, 10 minutes) PVDF membrane pre-soaked in transfer buffer (25 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.3, 192 mM glycine, 20% methanol). The proteins were transferred at 30 V for 18 hours at 4°C for high molecular weight proteins and at 50 V for 2 hours at 4°C for low molecular weight proteins. After the proteins had transferred to the membrane, the membrane was removed and washed in Tris buffered saline tween (TBST) (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween-20) for 3 x 10 minute washes before being blocked with blocking solution (5% marvel milk powder in TBST) for 1 hour at room temperature. The blocking solution was then removed and replenished with

primary antibody prepared in fresh blocking solution at the indicated concentrations in Table 2.1 and incubated for 18 hours at 4°C. The membrane was washed with TBST for 3 x 10 minute washes at room temperature and incubated with secondary antibody diluted (1:1,000 for anti-mouse and 1:3,000 for anti-rabbit) in fresh blocking solution for 1 hour at room temperature in the dark. The membrane was washed with TBST for 3 x 10 minute was used to visualise the bands using a Licor odyssey® FC system. Images were captured and densitometries obtained using the Image Studio[™] software.

2.2.10 ³H Thymidine Incorporation Proliferation Assay

Radioactively labelled (tritium) thymidine was used to measure the proliferation of MDA-MB-231 cells by the incorporation of [³H] thymidine into the DNA of dividing cells. Cells were seeded at a seeding density of 2×10^4 cells in 24 well plates. After 24 hours serum starvation and following 24 hours treatment with insulin (100 nM) or IGF-1 (100 ng/mL), *BCAT1*-siRNA (20 nM) transfected cells were labelled with 0.1 µCi/mL [³H] thymidine, incubated with 5% trichloroacetic acid at 4°C for 10 minutes, followed by a 1 hour incubation with 1 M sodium hydroxide. The resulting suspension was added to a vial containing 2 mL ultima gold liquid scintillation cocktail and incorporated counts were measured using a Beckman Scintillation Counter LS6500. Data were recorded as disintegrations per minute (DPM). All assays were done in triplicate and results were analysed using an unpaired t-test.

2.2.11 Apoptosis assay

To determine the effect of *BCAT1* siRNA knockdown on cell apoptosis, MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded at a density of 1x10⁶ cells per T-25 flask and treated with 20 nM *BCAT1* siRNA for 72 hours. Cells were detached and washed twice with ice cold PBS and resuspended in 1X binding buffer. Annexin V-FITC and

Chapter 2

propidium iodide (PI) were added into the binding buffer and incubated for 10 min at room temperature in the dark. The following controls were included to ensure proper analysis; unstained control and two positive controls of cells incubated in a heat block for 10 seconds at 60°C, one was stained with Annexin V-FITC and one stained with PI. One untreated control was also included to determine to ensure that the cells were not subjected to damage during experimental work.

Analysis was performed on a BD Accuri[™] C6 Flow Cytometer (BD Biosciences, UK) and data was analysed using Accuri[™] C6 Plus software (BD Biosciences, UK) to identify the subpopulations of the apoptotic cells. Cells were gated to exclude debris and cellular doubling, which was conducted on unstained controls from the analysis of >10,000 events. A single cell population was gated based on appropriate size on the basis of forward scatter (FCS-A) versus side scatter (SSC-A). Increased fluorescence was compared to unstained controls. Compensation for Annexin V-FITC/PI signal overlap was conducted using positive Annexin V-FITC control, positive PI control and mixed control (Annexin V-FITC and PI positive). Three independent experiments were performed and two-way ANOVA using Tukey honestly significant differences for statistical analysis.

2.2.12 Migration and Invasion assay

Transwell inserts containing polycarbonate filters with 8 μ m pores were used in the assay in 24-well plates. The inserts were coated with 10 μ g/ml Collagen-I to measure migration and Matrigel[®] to assess invasion 24 hours prior to cell seeding at room temperature. Following cell treatment, cells were seeded in the upper chambers of the inserts at a density of 1x10⁵ in serum-free DMEM in a humidified incubator at 37°C with 5% carbon dioxide. DMEM containing 10% FBS was placed in the lower chambers. Following 24 hours, the cells on the upper surface

of the membrane were removed using an ethanol coated cotton swab. Cells on the lower chamber were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and stained with 0.2% Crystal Violet. For each insert, representative images in 3 evenly distributed x40 fields of view were captured using a light microscope (Zeiss AX10). To quantify migration of cells, 0.1% SDS in PBS was added to the lower chambers and absorbance intensity measured on a plate reader at an excitation of 590 nm. Each experiment was repeated in triplicate.

2.2.13 Immunocytochemistry

For each experiment controls with medium alone and secondary antibody controls were included. Sterile 18 mm diameter rounded coverslips were treated with 0.01% poly-I-lysine for 20 minutes, washed 3 times with distilled water and one placed per well in a 12 well plate. MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded at a density of 5x10⁴ cells per well onto coverslips. After treatment, med/treatments were removed and each well washed twice with PBS. In the fume hood, 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS was added to each well for 20 minutes to fix the cells to the coverslips. Fixing solution was then removed and washed twice with PBS containing 0.01% Triton X-100 to permeabilise cells. The cells were then placed in blocking serum, (10% FBS, 1% BSA and 1% fish gelatine) for 1 hour at room temperature. Primary antibodies were prepared in blocking serum and applied to the cells overnight at 4 °C. The following day, secondary antibodies were prepared in blocking serum. Cells were then washed twice with PBS and the secondary antibody solution added for 1.5 hours in the dark at room temperature. Slides were sterilised with 70% ethanol and labelled. Following 2 PBS washes, coverslips, cell side down, were mounted onto labelled slides using hard-set mounting medium with DAPI. Slides were left in the fridge in the dark ready for

imaging. Labelled cells were imaged using a Zeiss Axiovert 200 confocal microscope.

To quantify nuclear translocation of phospho-MAPK and MAPK Mander's correlation coefficient (Mx) of the overlap of the 568 (red) channel with the 405 (blue) channel were derived using Velocity (Perkin-Elmer). Prior to analysis, the immunofluorescence z-stack images were deconvolved which was used to enhance fluorescent signal and reduce background noise (Biggs, 2010). Confocal analysis using Mx is a robust method for the quantification of the overlap of pixels in two distinct microscopy channels, whilst accounting for different thresholds of signal intensities for the different channels (Dunn, Kamocka and McDonald, 2011). The Mx value signifies the level of co-localisation whereby the signal intensity is quantified with 0 indicating no co-localisation and 1.0 indicating complete co-localisation.

2.2.14 Seahorse Glycolytic Rate assay

The XF^e24 Extracellular Flux analyzer (Seahorse Biosciences, Billerica, MA, USA) was used to measure the rate of glycolysis in the MDA-MB-231 cells. The cellular oxygen consumption rate (OCR) and the extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) were measured and expressed as pmol/min and mpH/min, respectively. Glycolytic rates for basal conditions and compensatory glycolysis following mitochondrial inhibition were assessed, to account for contribution of CO₂ to extracellular acidification derived from mitochondrial/TCA cycle activity.

Seeding density was optimised at 4×10^4 cells per well to ensure basal OCR and ECAR was within the recommended range of 50-400 pmol/min and 20-120 mpH/min respectively. Cells transfected with 20 nM *BCAT1* siRNA or with

RNAimax were seeded in a 24 well plate. After 24 hours cells were incubated with serum free DMEM 24 hours before cell treatments with 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours. The Agilent Seahorse XF^e24 Sensor Cartridge was hydrated at 37°C in a non-CO₂ incubator using XF Calibrant buffer 24 hours before the assay. XF assay phenol red free medium was prepared by the addition of 2 mM glutamine, 10 mM glucose, 1 mM pyruvate and 5 mM HEPES fresh on the day of the assay. Cells were washed once with warmed assay medium and incubated with assay medium for 60 minutes prior to the assay. Subsequently, freshly prepared solutions of Antimycin A (0.5 μ M), a mitochondrial inhibitor and 2-deoxy-D-glucose (50 mM), a glycolysis inhibitor were added to specific ports in the sensor cartridges. The prepared sensor cartridges with calibrant plate were loaded into the Seahorse XF^e Analyser for calibration. Once calibrated, assay medium on the cells was replaced with fresh assay medium and glycolytic rate was measured on the Seahorse XF^e Analyzer.

2.2.15 Statistical analysis

Data were statistically analysed using GraphPad Prism 8.0 software for Mac and values expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Significance levels for comparisons between groups were determined with unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test. Statistical significance was reported when p < 0.05. Immunohistochemical data was analysed using SPSS (Version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) for Mac. Linear by linear association was used to analyse the relationship between the expression of the metabolic proteins and clinicopathological characteristics. Kaplan–Meier survival curves and log-rank statistics were used to evaluate time to tumour recurrence and overall survival.

Chapter 3

3.0 Characterisation of Metabolic Proteins in Breast Cancer

Mai Ahmed Shafei

3.1 Introduction

3.2 Aims and Objectives

3.3 Results

Image redacted for copyright reasons.

Image redacted for copyright reasons.
3.4 Discussion

Chapter 4

4.0 The role of hBCATc in the IGF-1/insulin signaling cascades

Mai Ahmed Shafei

4.1 Introduction

Driven by oncogenic signals, cancer cells undergo metabolic reprogramming, upregulating metabolite transporters and shuttling nutrients to promote proliferation and migration (Yoshida, 2015). Altered metabolic activity fulfils the increased metabolic demand for proliferating cells to support tumour growth during nutrient limitation and fortification of redox homeostatic systems to counteract the metabolic stress caused by malignant transformation (Boroughs and DeBerardinis, 2015). The Ras/MAPK (also known as RAS/ERK) and PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling pathways are the cell's chief mechanisms for controlling cell survival, proliferation, metabolism and motility (Mendoza, Er and Blenis, 2011). These pathways are controlled through the import of nutrients into cells by growth factors, such as IGF-1 and insulin, which mediate a cascade of events that regulate numerous cellular processes including cell growth and migration (DeBerardinis and Chandel, 2016).

Activation of the IGF-1/insulin signalling cascades has been associated with increased cell proliferation and metastases in breast cancer (Byron *et al.*, 2006). Increased expression of IGF-1R and IR has been demonstrated to strongly correlate with poor patient clinical outcomes across the different molecular subtypes of breast cancer (Law *et al.*, 2008). Despite these correlations, clinical results of anti-IGF-IR monoclonal antibody trials in breast cancer have been disappointing (Ekyalongo and Yee, 2017), highlighting the need for new therapeutic targets for the modulation of this pathway. There is emerging evidence for cross-talk between BCAA metabolism and pathways associated with insulin resistance (Wubetu *et al.*, 2014; Hagiwara, Nishiyama and Ishizaki, 2012).

Nutrient levels of BCAAs particularly leucine, substrates of hBCAT, regulate the mTOR pathway (Son et al., 2019) where a role for hBCAT proteins is proposed in regulating the PI3K/Akt/mTOR axis. Moreover, glutamate, a product of hBCAT metabolism, also activates mTOR, a serine-threonine kinase that binds with proteins to induce intracellular signalling pathways directly involved in glutaminolysis, nucleotide and protein synthesis, supporting tumour growth (Laplante and Sabatini, 2013). Nutrient status is also sensed by the general control non-derepressible 2 kinase (GCN2) and together with mTOR co-ordinate cell growth, proliferation and cell survival (Anthony et al., 2004; Xiao et al., 2011). Therefore, by upregulating membrane transporters and nutrient uptake, cancer cells support the increased demand of macromolecules needed for cell growth (Hattori et al., 2017). Pull-out studies have recently established that the hBCAT proteins can form thiol-dependent interactions with key signalling pathways such as the PI3K/Akt/mTOR and Ras/ERK pathways (under review) and show that phosphorylation of hBCAT by kinases is redox dependent. Here, in this chapter, for the first time hBCATc was found to regulate cross-talk between the PI3K/Akt/mTOR and the Ras/ERK pathway under IGF-1 and insulin treatment in TNBC, indicating a novel role for this metabolic protein in the regulation of IGF-1/insulin-mediated proliferation and migration.

4.2 Aims and Objectives

4.2.1 Hypothesis

hBCATc regulates proliferation and migration of TNBC cells through the IGF-1 and insulin signalling pathways

4.2.2 Specific Aims

Specific aim 1: To optimise siRNA-mediated knockdown of *BCAT1* in TNBC MDA-MB-231 cells.

Specific aim 2: To assess the role of hBCATc in cell proliferation, migration, invasion and apoptosis in TNBC.

Specific aim 3: To establish whether expression of hBCATc plays a role in insulin and IGF-1 mediated proliferation and migration.

Specific aim 4: To investigate the role of hBCATc in the regulation of the two principal cell signalling pathways; Akt/mTOR and RAS/ERK using shRNA-mediated *BCAT1* knockdown and overexpression constructs.

Specific aim 5: To evaluate the role of hBCATc expression on downstream effectors of the Akt/mTOR and RAS/ERK signalling cascades.
4.3 Results

4.3.1 Confirmation of siRNA knockdown of BCAT1

The siRNA sequences for *BCAT1* were previously designed and validated by Tom Forshaw (Conway lab) using neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. The concentration of *BCAT1* siRNA was optimised using a range of concentrations and the level of knockdown of hBCATc protein expression assessed by Western blot analysis in TNBC MDA-MB-231 cells. A concentration of 12.5 nM *BCAT1*-siRNA was found to be insufficient to induce knockdown, whilst a concentration of 25 nM and 50 nM reduced hBCATc protein expression compared with the transfection control (Figure 4.1A). A lower siRNA concentration of 20 nM for 72 hours was found to be sufficient to significantly reduce hBCATc protein expression by 80% compared to transfection control (p < 0.0001) (Figure 4.1B).

4.3.2 Knockdown of *BCAT1* reduced cell proliferation, migration and invasion

Using the optimised conditions for *BCAT1* knockdown, hBCATc modulation of proliferation of TNBC cells was assessed utilising the tritiated thymidine incorporation (TTI) assay. This assay measures the incorporation of radioactive [³H] thymidine into the DNA of dividing cells using a scintillation counter (Taylor, Woods and Hughes, 1957). Knockdown of *BCAT1* was found to significantly reduce the proliferation of MDA-MB-231 cells (p < 0.0001) (Figure 4.2A). To investigate the role of hBCATc in tumour invasiveness *in vitro* transwell inserts with 8 µm pores (Greiner Bio-One, Stonehouse, UK) were coated with 10 µg/ml Collagen-I to measure migration and Matrigel[®] added to the inserts to assess invasion of the MDA-MB-231 cells (Kramer *et al.*, 2013). Migration and invasion of TNBC was significantly reduced following siRNA-mediated knockdown of *BCAT1* (p < 0.0001) suggesting hBCATc to play a significant role in these tumour promoting processes (Figure 4.2B and 4.2C).



Figure 4.1. Optimisation of siRNA knockdown of BCAT1 in MDA-MB-231 cells. Western blot analysis to assess hBCATc expression (A) Cells treated with 12.5, 25 and 50 nM *BCAT1* siRNA for 72 hours (B) Cells treated with 20 nM *BCAT1* siRNA transfection for 72 hours. Respective densitometric analysis of fold changes of protein expression relative to a-tubulin are presented to the right of immunoblots. Data representative of mean ±SEM (n=3). Statistical significance was calculated using t-tests, ***p < 0.001.



Figure 4.2. Knockdown of BCAT1 significantly reduces proliferation, migration and invasion of MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with 20 nM BCAT1 siRNA for 72 hours and the effect on proliferation assessed using the tritiated thymidine incorporation assay, migration was assessed using cells seeded onto 8 µm Transwell inserts (Greiner Bio-One) coated with collagen and after 24 hours, migrated were fixed and stained with 0.2% Crystal Violet, solubilised and absorbance measured and to assess invasion Matrigel added to the inserts as described above (A) Fold change in disintegrations per minute (DPM) and representative images of (B) migrated cells and (C) invaded cells with fold changes in absorbance at 590 nm ±SEM presented below (n=3). Statistical significance was calculated using t-tests,*** p< 0.001 and ****p < 0.0001.

As knockdown of *BCAT1*, which is responsible for the reversible catabolism of BCAA, reduced cell proliferation, the effect of BCAA levels on proliferation were assessed in the TNBC cells. Leucine treatment at 10 mM and 20 mM significantly increased cell proliferation (p < 0.01, p=0.027) compared to control cells (Figure 4.3). However, at higher concentrations of 20 mM and 40 mM leucine there was a dose-dependent decrease in proliferation relative to 10 mM leucine treatment. Similarly, isoleucine treatment at 20 mM and 40 mM significantly decreased proliferation of cells relative to cells treated with 10 mM isoleucine (p=0.0201). Valine treatment at all concentrations resulted in a similar level of increased cell proliferation. These results indicate that levels of BCAAs may play an important role in regulating hBCATc-mediated proliferation.

4.3.3 Knockdown of BCAT1 induces apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 cells

To assess the effect of hBCATc on apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 cells following siRNA mediated knockdown of *BCAT1*, fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-Annexin V detection was assessed by flow cytometry (Figure 4.4). Probing the cells with FITC-Annexin V in combination with propidium iodide (PI) allows separation of live, early-apoptotic, late-apoptotic and dead cells (Casciola-Rosen *et al.*, 1996). This assay is based on the observation that during early apoptosis, cells translocate phosphatidylserine from the inner surface of the plasma membrane to the cell surface (Rimon *et al.*, 1997). Once on the cell surface, phosphatidylserine can be specifically detected by staining with FITC-labelled Annexin V, thus identifying cells in early apoptosis. PI is a fluorescent dye used in combination with Annexin V which specifically binds to DNA to detect late apoptosis and necrotic cells (Nicoletti *et al.*, 1991). Knockdown of *BCAT1* using siRNA resulted in a significant decrease of live cells (p < 0.0001) whilst increasing cells in early



Figure 4.3. Branched-chain amino acid treatment regulates cell proliferation in a dose-dependent manner. Cells were treated with leucine, isoleucine and valine at the indicated concentrations. Tritiated thymidine incorporation (TTI) assay was used to assess changes in cell proliferation following treatments compared with control cells. Data presented as fold changes of mean values of disintegrations per minute (DPM) ±SEM, relative to control (n=3) Statistical significance was calculated by one-way ANOVA using Tukey honestly significant differences,*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 and ****p < 0.0001.





apoptosis (p < 0.0001) compared with cells treated with the transfection mix alone as control. The percentage of cells in late apoptosis and dead cells following *BCAT1* knockdown were also increased although this did not reach significance. These results indicate that hBCATc regulates early apoptosis in TNBC.

4.3.4 hBCATc regulates proliferation and migration through the IGF and insulin signalling pathway

The potential role of hBCATc in tumour progression induced by insulin and IGF-1 in tumour growth and metastatic potential of TNBC cells was evaluated using the TTI assay and the Transwell migration assay, respectively. Initially, MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with insulin and IGF-1 at a range of concentrations for 24 hours and cell proliferation assessed. Insulin treatment at a concentration of 50 nM significantly increased cell proliferation (p < 0.001), whilst 100 nM insulin treatment showed a moderately higher increase in cell proliferation (p < 0.0001) (Figure 4.5A). Although treatment of the TNBC cells with 400 nM insulin showed the highest increase in cell proliferation (p < 0.0001), a concentration of 100 nM was selected for further experimental work as increased proliferation observed between these two concentrations was not significantly higher despite being four times the concentration. IGF-1 treatment at a concentration of between 12.5 ng/mL to 50 ng/mL for 24 hours did not show a significant change in cell proliferation as observed in Figure 4.5A. A significant increase in cell proliferation was observed only at a concentration of 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours (p=0.0241) relative to control which was therefore selected as the optimal concentration for further experimental work.

At the optimised conditions of 100 ng/mL IGF-1 and 100 nM insulin cell proliferation of MDA-MB-231 cells was increased (p < 0.0001 and p= 0.1332



Figure 4.5. Knockdown of BCAT1 significantly reduces insulin and IGF-1mediated proliferation of MDA-MB-231 cells. (A) Cells were treated with insulin and IGF-1 at the indicated concentrations and cell proliferation measured using the thymidine incorporation (TTI) assay. Fold changes of mean values of disintegrations per minute (DPM) ±SEM, relative to control. (B) Cells were treated with 20 nM *BCAT1* siRNA, 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 accordingly and tritiated thymidine incorporation assay used to assess changes in cell proliferation. Data presented as fold changes of mean values of DPM ±SEM, relative to control. Statistical significance was calculated by one-way ANOVA using Tukey honestly significant differences, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, *** p< 0.001 and ****p < 0.0001.

Chapter 4

respectively) (Figure 4.5B). However, *BCAT1* knockdown significantly reduced this effect, leading to a significant decrease in cell proliferation with insulin treatment (p < 0.01). Similarly, although combined treatment of TNBC cells with IGF-1 and *BCAT1* knockdown did not significantly decrease cell proliferation compared to control, a significant decrease in cell proliferation compared with IGF-1 treatment was observed (p < 0.0001). Further, treatment of MDA-MB-231 cells with 100 nM insulin, for 24 hours significantly increased cell migration of TNBC cells (p < 0.01) (Figure 4.6). Knockdown of *BCAT1* significantly abrogated IGF-1 and insulin mediated cell migration (p < 0.001 and p < 0.0001, respectively). These results combined suggest that hBCATc plays an intrinsic role in insulin and IGF-1 mediated cell proliferation and migration.

4.3.5 Changes in expression of hBCATc does not affect glycolysis

Changes in the glycolytic rate were assessed using a XF^e24 Extracellular Flux analyser (Seahorse Biosciences, Billerica, MA, USA) which contains sensitive sensors which measure cellular oxygen consumption rate (OCR) and the extracellular acidification rate (ECAR), using small microchambers on the cells (Romero *et al.*, 2017). Glycolysis and mitochondrial-derived CO₂ (oxidative phosphorylation) are the two main contributors to extracellular acidification and proton efflux rate (PER) in cultured cells. Basal ECAR and OCR were measured followed by sequential injection of rotenone and antimycin A (Rot/AA), a mitochondrial inhibitor and 2-deoxy-D-glucose to assess complementary glycolysis (Figure 4.7A). There was an inhibition of mitochondrial induced compensatory glycolysis as indicated by a rapid increase in ECAR and by a rapid decrease in OCR for all conditions (Figure 4.7B). Changes in ECAR and OCR



Figure 4.6. Knockdown of BCAT1 significantly reduces insulin and IGF-1mediated migration of MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with 20 nM *BCAT1* siRNA, 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 accordingly and migration assessed using cells seeded onto 8 μ m Transwell inserts (Greiner Bio-One) coated with collagen and after 24 hours, migrated cells were fixed and stained with 0.2% Crystal Violet, solubilised and absorbance measured (**A**) Representative images of migrated cells (**B**) Data presented as mean fold changes of absorbance at 590 nm. Statistical significance was calculated by one-way ANOVA using Tukey honestly significant differences, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 and ****p < 0.0001.

Α





and overexpression of *BCAT1* compared to cells containing empty vector. Last, addition of 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG) to block glycolysis decreased ECAR back to basal rates in all conditions (Figure 4.7A). Knockdown of *BCAT1* did not affect basal glycolytic rate or compensatory glycolysis (Figure 4.7C and 4.7D). Treatment with IGF-1 resulted in a moderate increase of compensatory glycolysis, which was ameliorated following *BCAT1* knockdown, suggesting hBCATc to play a role in IGF-1-mediated glycolysis.

4.3.6 Development of stable transfection model using shRNA

Transduction with lentiviral vectors is well characterised as a highly efficient method capable of transducing cells to modulate expression of target genes (Blömer et al., 1997). To further understand the role of hBCATc upregulation in TNBC on downstream pathways affecting tumour progression, a stable transfection model for knockdown and overexpression for hBCATc was used for further work (Figure 4.8). This transfection model was optimised by Tom Forshaw (Team Conway). MDA-MB-231 cells were incubated with medium containing pULTRA-empty vector shRNA, pULTRA-BCAT1 knockdown and pULTRA-BCAT1 overexpression GFP-tagged shRNA lentiviral particles. Ideally, two independent BCAT1-shRNA sequences, targeting different regions in BCAT1 should have been used as a control for off-target knockdowns in this study (Moore et al., 2010). The target sequences for BCAT1-shRNA mediated knockdown were obtained from Tönjes et al. (2013) and have been validated in multiple studies (Raffel et al., 2017; McBrayer et al., 2018) as well as in MDA-MB-231 cells (Thewes et al., 2017). Almost 100% of cells were confirmed to uptake the lentiviral particles as confirmed by glowing cells on a fluorescent microscope as compared with control



Figure 4.8. shRNA Knockdown of BCAT1 and overexpression confirmation in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were stably transfected with shRNA for knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty). (A) Representative images following 8 days of incubation with shRNA lentivirus to show transduction efficiency, to the right cells are light microscopy and to the left FITC-filter images. (B) Western blot analysis of *BCAT1* knockdown and overexpression. (C) Densitometry analysis of fold changes of hBCATc expression relative to α -tubulin normalized to control. Data representative of mean ±SEM (n=3). Statistical significance was calculated using t-tests, *** p< 0.001 and **** p< 0.0001.

cells which were not exposed to the lentiviral particles (Figure 4.8A). Knockdown and over expression of hBCATc, following transduction with lentiviral particles containing the respective shRNA was confirmed using Western blot analysis (Figure 4.8B and 4.8C). Stable transfection of *BCAT1*-shRNA resulted in 80% decrease of hBCATc protein expression (p < 0.001) whilst the overexpression vector increased hBCATc protein expression by 2.68-fold (p < 0.001), indicating these shRNA constructs to significantly suppress and overexpress hBCATc protein expression.

4.3.7 hBCATc regulates IGF-1 mediated signalling pathway proteins but attenuates MAPK phosphorylation

To further elucidate the potential role of hBCATc in mediating IGF-1 and insulin induced cell proliferation and migration, following shRNA-mediated BCAT1 knockdown and overexpression the protein expression of downstream targets of the insulin/IGF-1 signalling pathway were assessed using Western blot analysis. Knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 using shRNA constructs was confirmed by Western blot analysis for all biological repeats (Figure 4.9A). Knockdown of BCAT1 led to significant decrease in the levels of the IGF-1 receptor β subunit (IGF-1R β) (p < 0.001) (Figure 4.9B). In line with this, although protein expression of growth factor receptor-bound 2 (Grb2) remained unchanged (Figure 4.9D), levels of the p66 isoform of Src homology 2 domain containing transforming protein (Shc) and son of sevenless (SOS) were shown to be significantly increased following hBCATc overexpression (p=0.0235 and p=0.0122 respectively) (Figure 4.9C and 4.9E). The increased level of these two proteins without a significant change in levels when hBCATc is knocked down indicates that hBCATc may sequester these scaffold proteins in the cytoplasm rather than affect their transcription.

Chapter 4



Figure 4.9. Knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates IGF-1/insulin signaling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) for 8 days. (A) Western blot analysis confirmed *BCAT1* knockdown and overexpression. Western blot analysis was also used to assess changes in the protein expression of IGF-1 downstream targets (B) IGF-IR β (C) Shc (D) Grb2 (E) SOS. Respective densitometric analysis of fold changes of protein expression relative to a-tubulin are presented. Data representative of mean ±SEM (n=3). Statistical significance was calculated using t-tests,*p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001 and **** p < 0.0001.

Interestingly, knockdown of *BCAT1* resulted in a significant increase in the activation of phospho-MAPK (p < 0.01), indicating that hBCATc may play a regulatory role in MAPK activation (Figure 4.10). To explore the role of hBCATc regulation of MAPK activation, *BCAT1*-shRNA knockdown and overexpression TNBC cells were treated with IGF-1 and insulin and Western blot analysis performed. Following IGF-1 and insulin treatment *BCAT1* knockdown significantly increased activation of MAPK (p < 0.0001 and p=0.0294 respectively) compared with treatment. whilst overexpression of hBCATc significantly reduced IGF-1 and insulin mediated phosphorylation of MAPK (p < 0.0001 and p < 0.001) compared with IGF-1 and insulin treatment. These results suggest that high levels of hBCATc, observed in breast tumours, increases activation of the IGF-1/insulin signalling cascades through sustained high levels of Shc and SOS, together with inhibition of MAPK activation.

4.3.8 hBCATc mediates insulin induced nuclear translocation of MAPK

In related studies, the Conway group has demonstrated hBCATc to influence the translocation of proteins to the membrane and nucleus. Here, using immunocytochemistry, the effect of hBCATc expression on phospho-MAPK and MAPK translocation was assessed (Figure 4.11 and Figure 4.12). Additionally, co-localisation of hBCATc with phospho-MAPK and MAPK under IGF-1 and insulin treatment was investigated (Figure 4.13 and Figure 4.14). Expression of phospho-MAPK was primarily cytoplasmic, with a low level of punctate expression in the nucleus of TNBC, MDA-MB-231 cells under normal conditions (Figure 4.11). Insulin and IGF-1 treatment alone did not affect nuclear localisation. Following BCAT1 knockdown nuclear localisation of phospho-MAPK was significantly decreased (p < 0.0001). Interestingly, knockdown of BCAT1



Figure 4.10. Knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. (**A**) Western blot analysis was used to assess changes in the protein expression of phospho-MAPK and (**B**) MAPK. Respective densitometric analysis of fold changes of protein expression relative to a-tubulin are presented below the immunoblots. Data representative of mean ±SEM (n=3) Statistical significance was calculated by one-way ANOVA using Tukey honestly significant differences, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 and *** p< 0.001.





Axiovert 200 confocal microscope. (B) Respective velocity analysis of Mander's coefficient as compared to control. Data representative of mean ±SEM (n=3) *p < 0.05 and *** p< 0.001. Blue -Figure 4.11. Knockdown of BCAT1 induces Insulin-mediated nuclear translocation of phospho-MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells. MDA-MB-231 cells were cultured on sterile glass coverslips (treated overnight at 4C, and then anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor® 568 (1:250) for 1.5 hours. The coverslips were then mounted in VECTASHIELD HardSet antifade mounting medium with DAPI and imaged using a Zeiss with poly-L-lysine) and treated with 20 nM BCAT1 siRNA, 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 accordingly. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and permeabilised with Triton X. (**A**) mmunofluorescence Z stacked images of MDA-MB-231 cells probed with anti-phospho-MAPK (1:100) DAPI; Red – phosho-MAPK



with BCAT1 knockdown in MDA-MB-231 cells. MDA-MB-231 cells were cultured on sterile insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 accordingly. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and permeabilised with Triton X. (A) Immunofluorescence Z stacked images of MDA-MB-231 cells for 1.5 hours. The coverslips were then mounted in VECTASHIELD HardSet antifade mounting medium with DAPI and imaged using a Zeiss Axiovert 200 confocal microscope. (B) Respective velocity analysis of Mander's coefficient as compared to control. Data representative of mean Figure 4.12. Insulin-mediated nuclear translocation of MAPK is significantly increased glass coverslips (treated with poly-L-lysine) and treated with 20 nM BCAT1 siRNA, 100 nM probed with anti-MAPK (1:100) overnight at 4C, and then anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor® 568 (1:250) ±SEM (n=3) *p < 0.05 and *** p< 0.001. Blue - DAPI; Red - MAPK.





Figure 4.13. Insulin increases phospho-MAPK co-localisation with hBCATc. MDA-MB-231 cells were cultured on sterile glass coverslips (treated with poly-Llysine) and treated with 20 nM *BCAT1* siRNA, 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 accordingly. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and permeabilised with Triton X. Immunofluorescence Z stacked images of MDA-MB-231 cells probed with anti-phospho-MAPK (1:100) and anti-hBCATc (1:50) overnight at 4C, and then antimouse Alexa Fluor® 488 (1:100) and anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor® 568 (1:100) for 1.5 hours. The coverslips were then mounted in VECTASHIELD HardSet antifade mounting medium with DAPI and imaged using a Zeiss Axiovert 200 confocal microscope. Blue - DAPI; Green - hBCATc; Red – phospho-MAPK.



Figure 4.14. Insulin increases MAPK co-localisation with hBCATc. MDA-MB-231 cells were cultured on sterile glass coverslips (treated with poly-L-lysine) and treated with 20 nM *BCAT1* siRNA, 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 accordingly. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and permeabilised with Triton X. Immunofluorescence Z stacked images of MDA-MB-231 cells probed with anti-MAPK (1:100) and anti-hBCATc (1:50) overnight at 4C, and then anti-mouse Alexa Fluor® 488 (1:250) and anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor® 568 (1:250) for 1.5 hours. The coverslips were then mounted in VECTASHIELD HardSet antifade mounting medium with DAPI and imaged using a Zeiss Axiovert 200 confocal microscope. Blue - DAPI; Green - hBCATc; Red - MAPK.

combined with insulin treatment led to increased nuclear phospho-MAPK localisation (p =0.036). Insulin treatment increased interaction of phospho-MAPK with hBCATc (Figure 4.13) thus indicating insulin to enhance hBCATc inhibition of phospho-MAPK nuclear translocation.

Similar to the results of Western blot analysis (Figure 4.10B), knockdown of *BCAT1* was found to increase expression of MAPK compared to control as observed in Figure 4.12. Additionally, knockdown of *BCAT1* significantly increased nuclear translocation of MAPK (p < 0.0001). IGF-1 and insulin treatment of cells also increased MAPK movement to the nucleus (p < 0.0001).

However, IGF-1 treatment combined with knockdown of *BCAT1* did not alter IGF-1-mediated MAPK nuclear translocation, indicating hBCATc expression is not involved in this process. Interestingly, knockdown of *BCAT1* was found to increase insulin-mediated MAPK translocation the nucleus, indicating hBCATc to inhibit MAPK activation of nuclear targets in response to insulin. Concurringly, whilst IGF-1 treatment had no effect on co-localisation of hBCATc with MAPK, insulin treatment increased co-localisation of these proteins compared to control (Figure 4.14). Interestingly, expression of both MAPK and hBCATc differed to the control whereby punctate areas could be observed suggesting hBCATc to interact with MAPK following insulin treatment. Combined these results indicate hBCATc to inhibit MAPK activation, hence the role of hBCATc on the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway was next investigated.

4.3.9 hBCATc significantly increases insulin mediated activation of Akt and increases protein levels of downstream targets

Following shRNA-mediated *BCAT1* knockdown and overexpression, levels of proteins associated with the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway were assessed using

Chapter 4

Western blot analysis. In response to insulin, overexpression of hBCATc caused a significant increase in the phosphorylation and activation of Akt (p < 0.01) relative to control and compared with *BCAT1* knockdown (p < 0.01) (Figure 4.15A). Increased levels of hBCATc also led to higher expression of Akt in response to insulin (p < 0.01) (Figure 4.15B). These findings indicate that overexpression of hBCATc activates Akt in response to insulin. Following IGF-1 and insulin treatment, knockdown of *BCAT1* significantly decreased levels of phospho-mTOR (p < 0.0137 and p < 0.0001 respectively) (Figure 4.16A) relative to treatments. Additionally, overexpression of hBCATc significantly increased levels of p-mTOR protein expression following IGF-1 and insulin treatment (p<0.001 and p < 0.0001, respectively) relative to treatments. Therefore, hBCATc is indicated to play a regulatory role for Akt/mTOR activation which is further enhanced upon IGF-1 and insulin treatment.

To assess hBCATc regulation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway protein expression of downstream targets of this pathway were assessed using Western blot analysis following *BCAT1* knockdown and overexpression. Knockdown of *BCAT1* significantly reduced protein expression of the transcription factor forkhead box O3 (FOXO3a) whilst overexpression of hBCATc significantly increased FOXO3a expression (p=0.0167 and p=0.0386 respectively) (Figure 4.17A). Similarly, knockdown of *BCAT1* reduced nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like-2 (Nrf2) protein expression (p=0.0025) whilst overexpression of hBCATc increased Nrf2 expression as observed (p=0.0143) in Figure 4.17B. Additionally, following hBCATc overexpression protein expression of glucose regulated protein 78 (GRP78), a downstream target of Akt/mTOR axis, was found to significantly increased (p=0.0435) (Figure 4.17C). Taken together these results indicate



Figure 4.15. Knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. (A) Western blot analysis was used to assess changes in the protein expression of phospho-Akt and (B) Akt. Respective densitometric analysis of fold changes of protein expression relative to a-tubulin are presented below the immunoblots. Data representative of mean ±SEM (n=3). Statistical significance was calculated by one-way ANOVA using Tukey honestly significant differences, *p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01.







Figure 4.17. Knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 regulates downstream targets of the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days. Western blot analysis was used to assess changes in the protein expression of (A) FOXO3a (B) Nrf2 (C) GRP78. Respective densitometric analysis of fold changes of protein expression relative to α-tubulin are presented to the right of the immunoblots. Data representative of mean \pm SEM (n=3). Statistical significance was calculated using t-tests, *p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01.

hBCATc to negatively regulate MAPK whilst upregulating Akt/mTOR activation which is supported by modulation of downstream targets of this pathway.

4.4 Discussion

As reported in chapter 4, hBCATc expression was limited to TNBC, MDA-MB-231, cells from the breast cancer cell panel assessed. Upregulation of hBCATc has been demonstrated to increase cell proliferation, migration and invasion in breast cancer cells (Thewes et al., 2017). To obtain an insight into the underlying metabolic processes that are controlled by hBCATc, transient knockdown of BCAT1 was induced using siRNA and later shRNA constructs for the knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 were developed in the TNBC cells. The IGF-1/insulin pathway facilitates an orchestrated activation of numerous cell signalling events initiated through phosphorylation of IRS1/2 (Boucher, Kleinridders and Ronald Kahn, 2014). For the first time knockdown of BCAT1 was found to augment IGF-1/insulin-mediated proliferation and migration. Moreover, suppression of hBCATc expression reduced protein levels of downstream targets of the IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade, indicating that hBCATc plays a role in the modulation of cell proliferation and migration through this pathway. Ultimately, hBCATc was found to modulate activation of Akt/mTOR whilst concomitantly suppressing RAS/MAPK signalling.

4.4.1 Knockdown of BCAT1 reduces cell proliferation, migration and invasion

Using Western blot analysis, the concentration of *BCAT1* siRNA was optimised at the lowest concentration sufficient to significantly decrease hBCATc protein expression at 20 nM for 72 hours in the MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 4.1), to minimise potential toxic effects of using higher concentrations of siRNA which could induce downstream toxic effects (Olejniczak, Galka and Krzyzosiak, 2009). siRNA knockdown of BCAT1 demonstrated hBCATc be intrinsically involved in mediating cell proliferation, migration and invasion of MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 4.2). This is supported by previous findings which demonstrate hBCATc to increase proliferation, metastasis and invasion of tumour cells in breast, colon and hepatocellular cancer (Thewes et al., 2017; Yoshikawa et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2016). Interestingly, BCAA levels were found to influence proliferation in a dose dependant manner whereby treatment with BCAAs initially increased cell proliferation however, at higher concentrations cell proliferation decreased (Figure 4.3). Increased levels of BCAAs, in particular leucine, have been demonstrated to contribute to tumour growth mediated by the activation of mTOR signalling by the acetylation of the mTOR regulator, Raptor (Zhang and Han, 2017; Son et al., 2019). mTOR activation leads to increased lipid and protein synthesis promoting cell growth and proliferation (Zhang, Pavlova and Thompson, 2017; Zhang and Han, 2017). Therefore, these findings indicate that tight regulation of BCAA levels, mediated by hBCATc transamination, is important for tumour cell proliferation mediated through the regulation of mTOR signalling (further detailed in section 4.4.6).

4.4.2 hBCATc regulates apoptosis

The ability for tumour cells to evade apoptosis, thereby leading to uncontrolled proliferation, is one of the key hallmarks of cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Previous reports have demonstrated a role for hBCATc in cell apoptosis which is mediated by the BCKA metabolites, in particular ketoisocaproate (Eden and Benvenisty, 1999). Overexpression of *BCAT1* has also been demonstrated to decrease cell apoptosis in prostate cancer cells (Zhu, Shao and Peng, 2017) and to regulate apoptosis in hepatocellular cancer (Ji *et al.*, 2019). To assess the

Chapter 4

role of hBCATc in apoptosis of TNBC cells siRNA-mediated knockdown of *BCAT1* was used. Knockdown of *BCAT1* was found to increase the percentage of cell in the early apoptotic stage and reduce the percentage of live cells (Figure 4.4), indicating hBCATc expression to allow TNBC cells to evade apoptosis. The underlying mechanism by which hBCATc regulates cell apoptosis has not yet been elucidated. Cancer cells often evade apoptosis by overexpressing or stabilising anti-apoptotic B cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) family proteins such as BAX and BAK while inhibiting pro-apoptotic BCL-2 proteins such as BID and Bcl-2-interacting killer (Bik) (Matsuura *et al.*, 2016).

Oxidative stress is induced as tumours initiate and the metabolic activity of cancer cells increases as a result of either an overproduction of reactive oxygen species or insufficient antioxidant activity (Gorrini, Harris and Mak, 2013). ROS has been proposed to support tumour promotion through the activation of signalling pathway that support cell proliferation, survival and metabolic adaptation, however excessive oxidative stress can induce apoptosis (Hole et al., 2013). To counteract excessive ROS accumulation tumour cells increase their antioxidant capacity (Chandel and Tuveson, 2014). The thiol regions of the CXXC motif in hBCATc exhibit sensitivity to changes in the redox environment (Conway et al., 2008) which is perturbed in cancer. Increased levels of glutamate, a product of hBCATc transaminase activity, contribute to GSH biosynthesis, by facilitating the uptake of cystine via the xc-cysteine transporter, which is coupled to the efflux of glutamate (Timmerman et al., 2013). GSH plays an important role in redox homeostasis and tumour cell survival by protecting cells from damage caused by ROS generated during oxidative stress (Zhang, Pavlova and Thompson, 2017). Moreover, expression levels of hBCATc were demonstrated to regulate the expression of Nrf2, which is the primary transcription factor responsible for the

regulation of genes encoding oxidative stress-related proteins (detailed in section 4.4.7). Therefore, overexpression of hBCATc in TNBC can be proposed as a survival mechanism for tumour cells, potentially through the regulation of redox homeostasis.

4.4.3 hBCATc regulates proliferation, migration and invasion through the IGF-1 and insulin signalling pathway

In breast cancer cells, IRS-1 and IRS-2 are the two primary adaptor proteins which regulate IGF-IR and insulin receptor (IR) signalling, in response to IGF-1 and insulin activation (Taniguchi, Emanuelli and Kahn, 2006), whereby IRS-1 mainly promotes cell proliferation while IRS-2 stimulates cell motility (Jackson *et al.*, 2001; Byron *et al.*, 2006). To determine the appropriate concentration of IGF-1 and insulin, which would increase proliferation, MDA-MB-231 cells were incubated with various concentrations of insulin and IGF-1 and proliferation assessed using the TTI assay (Sharma and Kumar, 2018). Concentrations of 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL were found to significantly increase proliferation of the TNBC cells (Figure 4.5) as supported by other studies (Gupta and Tikoo, 2013; Davison *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, these conditions were selected for further work involving the IGF-1 and insulin signalling pathways.

As expected, IGF-1 and insulin were found to increase cell migration using Transwell inserts (Figure 4.6). This is in support of previous findings, which have demonstrated that insulin and IGF-1 increased cell migration and markers of migration in TNBC (Morimura and Takahashi, 2011; Rodriguez-Monterrosas *et al.*, 2018). Interestingly, knockdown of *BCAT1* was found to significantly perturb IGF-1 and insulin-mediated increased proliferation and migration (Figure 4.5B and 4.6) indicating hBCATc controls these tumour promoting processes through the IGF-1 and insulin pathway. Leucine deprivation has been shown to improve

Chapter 4

insulin sensitivity, under insulin-resistant conditions in hepatoma (HepG2) cells, by the activation of GCN2 and subsequent inhibition of mTOR activation (Xiao *et al.*, 2011). Although lower concentrations of BCAAs increased cell proliferation, higher levels of BCAAs were found to reduce cell proliferation (Figure 4.3). Previous reports have Hagiwara, Nishiyama and Ishizaki (2012) demonstrated BCAAs to directly suppress insulin-induced cell proliferation by induction of IRS1 phosphorylation at the negative regulatory serine residue through mTOR activation (Hagiwara, Nishiyama and Ishizaki, 2012). Therefore, it can be speculated that hBCATc ameliorates the suppressive effect of elevated BCAAs on insulin/IGF-1 mediated cell proliferation and migration.

4.4.4 BCAT1 knockdown reduces IGF-1 mediated glycolysis in TNBC

Cellular bioenergetics in normal cells are primarily sourced from mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) and aerobic glycolysis to a lesser extent which contribute to cell growth regulation and other cellular functions (Zheng, 2012). Metabolic reprogramming in cancer cells results in enhanced glycolysis and reduced OXPHOS capacity leading to increased lactate production even in the presence of oxygen to support macromolecular synthesis (Warburg, Wind and Negelein, 1927). Attenuation of OXPHOS promotes evasion of apoptosis in tumour cells as the mitochondria is responsible for the activation of multiple proapoptotic proteins including Bax and Bak (Yadav *et al.*, 2015). Expression of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1), which initiates glycolysis, has been reported to be higher in TNBC compared to other subtypes indicating a more glycolytic phenotype for this subtype of breast cancer (Choi, Jung and Koo, 2013). To investigate whether hBCATc is involved in glycolysis in TNBC the Seahorse glycolytic rate assay was utilised. This assay provides precise measurement of the glycolytic rate whilst accounting for extracellular acidification derived from

Chapter 4

mitochondrial activity using the mitochondrial inhibitor Rot/AA (Romero *et al.*, 2017).

Inhibition of hBCATc activity has been found to reduce oxygen consumption and glycolysis in activated human macrophages and in activated T cells (Papathanassiu *et al.*, 2017; Ananieva *et al.*, 2014), indicating that hBCATc plays an intrinsic role in glycolysis in immune cells. However, in these experiments knockdown of *BCAT1* did not affect basal glycolytic rate or compensatory glycolysis in TNBC cells (Figure 4.7C and 4.7D) indicating expression of hBCATc does not directly affect metabolic dependency on glycolysis in TNBC cells under normal conditions. Activation of IGF-1R by both insulin and IGF-1 has been reported to increase glycolysis, which was demonstrated by the upregulation of genes involved in glycolysis and the downregulation of genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation in mammary gland tumours (ter Braak *et al.*, 2017). In TNBC, treatment with IGF-1 resulted in a moderate increase of compensatory glycolysis which was ameliorated following *BCAT1* knockdown, suggesting hBCATc may play a role in IGF-1-mediated glycolysis (Figure 4.7).

4.4.5 hBCATc significantly reduces IGF mediated activation of ERK

Knockdown of *BCAT1* led to a significant decrease in the level of IGF-1Rβ, which is responsible for intracellular signal transduction upon receptor activation (Kavran *et al.*, 2015) (Figure 4.9B), indicating hBCATc expression to be required for IGF-1 signalling. Elevated levels of BCAA have been reported to inhibit the activation of IGF-1R (Wubetu *et al.*, 2014), hence indicating increased hBCATc expression, allowing activation of the IGF-1R signalling cascade. This activation triggers two predominant growth signalling pathways, the Ras/ERK and Akt/mTOR pathway.

Shafei, M.A. (2019)

Chapter 4

ERK proteins are central transducers of extracellular signals from hormones, growth factors, cytokines and environmental stress; they regulate many cellular processes throughout the cell and phosphorylate transcription factors, cytoskeletal proteins and other protein kinases and enzymes (Zakrzewska et al., 2013; Han et al., 2018; Soond, 2005). MAPK (ERK 1/2) is activated through a series of phosphorylation reactions, which is transduced through the IGF-1/insulin axis. Initiation of IRS1/2 through IGF-1 and insulin activates Shc, the levels of which were shown to be significantly increased in response to hBCATc overexpression (Figure 4.9C). The Shc substrate binds to the adaptor protein Grb2 and the associated guanine nucleotide exchange protein, SOS, the levels of which were also shown to be increased when hBCATc is overexpressed (Figure 4.9E). Interestingly, expression levels of Shc and SOS were not significantly affected with knockdown of BCAT1 whilst overexpression of hBCATc significantly increased levels of these two proteins (Figure 4.9C and 4.9E). As discussed in section 3.4.2, metabolic proteins such as hBCATc, can exert extrametabolic functions; as such these are termed moonlighting proteins (Boukouris, Zervopoulos and Michelakis, 2016). A novel redox chaperone role for hBCATm has previously been reported, through interaction with PDI, a protein-folding protein, which is regulated through S-glutathionylation under oxidative stress (Hindy et al., 2014). Scaffolding proteins play a key role in the co-ordination of the transduction of receptor-mediated signalling pathways, by binding to signalling effectors leading to their sequestration in the cytoplasm and subsequent activation of downstream effectors (Mugabo and Lim, 2018). For example, the IQ motif-containing GTPase-activating proteins (IQGAP) represent a family of scaffolding proteins, of which IQGAP1 has been demonstrated to bind MEK1/2 and ERK1/2 following EGF stimulation to enhance growth factor signalling (Roy,

Li and Sacks, 2005; Zaballos *et al.*, 2019). Here in TNBC, hBCATc may sequester Shc and SOS, acting as a scaffold protein, rather than affecting transcription, to enhance the IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade. Increased levels of SOS allow the exchange of nucleotide guanosine diphosphate (GDP) bound to Ras with nucleotide guanosine triphosphate (GTP) in the cytosol (Pan *et al.*, 2010). GTPbound Ras allows membrane recruitment and activation of the serine/threonine protein kinase Raf to the plasma membrane followed by phosphorylation and activation of MEK1/2 (Girnita *et al.*, 2014). Normally, this would enhance and activate MAPK. Surprisingly, knockdown of *BCAT1* increased phosphorylation of MAPK, even in the presence of IGF-1 or insulin (Figure 4.10).

Following activation by phosphorylation, MAPK phosphorylates targets in the cytoplasm, and/or translocates to the nucleus, which is mediated by detachment from cytoplasmic anchoring proteins (Burotto et al., 2014). Cytoplasmic targets include proteins responsible for cell movement and metabolism including myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) which facilitates cell motility and ribosomal S6 kinases (RSK) which regulates glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) involved in cell metabolism (Klemke et al., 1997; Chu et al., 1996). Nuclear translocation of MAPK allows transcriptional regulation of nuclear targets including carbamoyl phosphate synthetase II (CPS II), a regulator of DNA synthesis and p90RSK which is responsible for promoting cell cycle progression (Brunet et al., 1999). Confocal analysis revealed that knockdown of BCAT1 increased insulin-mediated phospho-MAPK and MAPK nuclear translocation (Figure 4.11 and 4.12), additionally insulin treatment increased hBCATc co-localisation with MAPK (Figure 4.14). Therefore, these results combined indicate that under insulin treatment, hBCATc interacts with MAPK leading to an inhibitory effect of MAPK activation, which is mediated by abrogating MAPK nuclear translocation, which will therefore reduce activation of downstream nuclear targets responsible for cell proliferation. However, hBCATc overexpression leads to an increase in the levels of Shc and SOS proteins (Figure 4.9), which have also been implicated in the activation of PI3K/Akt activation (Castellano and Downward, 2011). Therefore, hBCATc shows both positive and negative regulation of key proteins involved in the Ras/ERK pathway with the ultimate decrease in insulin-mediated activation of MAPK suggesting that hBCATc-induced regulation of cell proliferation and metastasis is unlikely through this pathway.

4.4.6 hBCATc regulates cross-talk between the Ras/ERK and Akt/mTOR pathways.

Subsequently, it was considered whether hBCATc may be involved in the regulation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling cascade through activation by IGF-1 or insulin. Indeed, upregulation of hBCATc was found to increase phospho-Akt following insulin treatment (Figure 4.15). Additionally, knockdown of *BCAT1* was found to downregulate IGF-1 and insulin-mediated phosphorylation of mTOR (Figure 4.16). Activation of the mTOR pathway has previously been shown to play a role in cell proliferation with increased synthesis of proteins and lipids (Mirabilli *et al.*, 2018). Leucine, a substrate for hBCATc, stimulates protein synthesis through activation of the mTOR pathway as a result of phosphorylation of the eukaryotic initiation factor 4E binding protein and p70 ribosomal S6 kinase 1 (Zhang *et al.*, 2017).

As reported above, the levels of Shc and SOS were increased in response to hBCATc overexpression. An increase in these proteins was associated with activation of PI3K/Akt/mTOR with hBCATc overexpression whilst concomitantly attenuating the phosphorylation of MAPK. Whilst it is widely accepted that

activation of IGF-1Rβ, Shc, Grb2 and SOS leads to MAPK activation (Kiyatkin *et al.*, 2008; Pronk *et al.*, 1993), increased levels of SOS activates Ras, which can also activate PI3K, Rac and Rho proteins associated with the regulation of the cytoskeletal and invasiveness of tumour cells (Castellano and Downward, 2011). Shc has been shown to increase Grb2 interaction with PI3K on the p85 regulatory subunit leading to activation of the catalytic subunit of p110 leading to increased PI3k/Akt signalling (Radhakrishnan *et al.*, 2008; Jiménez *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, Grb2 in a complex with the scaffolding protein Grb2-associated binder 1 (GAB) directly binds to p85 and enhances PI3K activation and subsequent Akt signalling (Ong *et al.*, 2002; Kiyatkin *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, in this instance the increased level of the downstream signalling proteins Shc and SOS, mediated by hBCATc overexpression, can be associated with increased activation of the Akt/mTOR axis rather than increased activation of MAPK.

Cross-talk of the RAS/ERK and PI3K/Akt/ pathways in the IGF-1 signalling cascade allows plasticity of tumour cells to utilise different effector molecules to promote tumour survival and progression (extensively reviwed by Mendoza, Er and Blenis, 2011). One mechanism details that MAPK phosphorylation of GAB1 inhibits GAB-1 mediated membrane recruitment of PI3K which leads to the suppression of Akt signalling (Lehr *et al.*, 2004). On the other hand, at high doses of insulin and IGF-1, Akt phosphorylates RAF at Ser259 and thus suppresses the activity of the RAS/MAPK signalling pathway (Arkun, 2016; Moelling *et al.*, 2002). Interestingly, in response to IGF-1 and insulin stimulation hBCATc overexpression enhanced Akt activation, therefore, hBCATc here may play a novel chaperone role allowing metabolic plasticity by sequestering Shc and SOS in the cytoplasm to promote Akt signalling whilst attenuating MAPK activation.
4.4.7 hBCATc regulates expression levels PI3K/Akt signalling effectors

Downstream of the PI3K/Akt pathway, the transcription factor FOXO3a was found to be increased in response to hBCATc overexpression whilst knockdown of BCAT1 led to reduced expression FOXO3a (Figure 4.17A). FOXO3a is a member of the FOXO subfamily of forkhead transcription factors, which mediate a variety of cellular processes including proliferation, cell cycle progression and apoptosis (Farhan et al., 2017). The role of FOXO3a in breast cancer has been suggested to be ERa+ dependant whereby FOXO3a upregulation in ERa+ MCF-7 cells reduced cell migration, however in TNBC MDA-MB-231 cells FOXO3a was found to promote tumour cell invasion (Sisci et al., 2013; Storz et al., 2009). Therefore, hBCATc positive regulation of this transcription factor in TNBC may contribute to hBCATc-mediated proliferation, migration and invasion, as observed in Figure 4.2. FOXO3a can act on cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1B (p27^{Kip1}) directly by disrupting cyclin D/CDK4 and cyclin E/CDK2 complexes to promote cell proliferation (Greer and Brunet, 2005). IGF-1R signalling and subsequent Akt phosphorylation of FOXO3a leads to its translocation from nucleus to cytoplasm, where it associates with 14.3.3 protein (Hao et al., 2018). The 14.3.3 proteins act as a scaffold to integrate signalling proteins with targets involved in biological processes, including cell cycle regulation (Fu, Subramanian and Masters, 2002). Overexpression of 14.3.3 has been associated with breast recurrence indicating a role in therapy resistance, mediated by the downregulation of the pro-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2-associated death promoter (BAD) and Bcl-2-like protein (BIM) (Thistle et al., 2017; Niemantsverdriet et al., 2008).

As previously discussed in section 4.4.2 during tumorigenesis and tumour progression regulation of redox homeostasis is fundamental to ensure cell survival (DeBerardinis and Chandel, 2016). Redox status is predominantly

Chapter 4

regulated by the transcription factor Nrf2 and its repressor protein Keap1 in response to redox cellular status (Denicola et al., 2011). PI3K/Akt activation has been demonstrated to be essential for the nuclear translocation of Nrf2, whereby Akt inhibitors, but not MAPK inhibitors, was found to reduce Nrf2 transcriptional activation of antioxidant genes (Nakaso et al., 2003). Akt can also increase the stability of Nrf2 by activating p21 which disrupts the interaction between Keap1 and Nrf2, reducing Nrf2 phosphorylation, preventing its nuclear export and ubiquitination (Chen et al., 2009). Under low concentrations of ROS, Nrf2 is bound to the E3 ubiquitin ligase Keap1 in the cytosol and degraded by the proteasome (Taguchi and Yamamoto, 2017). Under oxidative stress, this interaction is inhibited, by the oxidation of cysteine residues on Keap1, thus allowing Nrf2 translocation to the nucleus to induce the expression of antioxidant genes such as the oxidoreductases, thioredoxin (Trx) and glutaredoxin (Grx) (Ma, 2013). Expression levels of Nrf2 were found to be increased with hBCATc overexpression and decreased with knockdown of BCAT1 (Figure 4.17B), suggesting levels of hBCATc to positively regulate Nrf2 expression. As hBCATc contains a redox-sensitive CXXC motif, the ability for hBCATc to regulate Nrf2 expression indicates a potential cell protective role in response to changes in the redox state in TNBC.

Additionally, GRP78 was found to be upregulated by hBCATc overexpression (Figure 4.17C). GRP78, is a molecular chaperone protein which is upregulated in response to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress as part of the unfolded protein response pathway (Pfaffenbach and Lee, 2011). IGF-1R signalling has been demonstrated to regulate GRP78 expression through the PI3K/AKT/mTOR axis (Pfaffenbach *et al.*, 2012), indicating that hBCATc expression could augment ER homeostasis by sequestering GRP78. Additionally, upregulation of GRP78

160

suppresses the activity of the pro-apoptotic Bik thus inhibiting apoptosis induction (Fu, Li and Lee, 2007). Therefore, hBCATc may promote evasion of apoptosis as shown in Figure 4.4 through the regulation of GRP78 expression. Hence, regulation of these Akt downstream effector proteins indicates an intrinsic role for hBCATc for tumour survival and progression mediated by cell proliferation, migration, cell cycle control and evasion of apoptosis through the regulation of FOXO3a, Nrf2 and GRP78.

4.4.8 Summary

Using the TNBC cell model, MDA-MB-231, knockdown of *BCAT1* resulted in a significant suppression of IGF-1 and insulin-mediated cell proliferation and migration, indicating that hBCATc regulates its control over proliferation and migration through this pathway. Subsequent analysis revealed that these measures of cell growth were precipitated through activation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway targeting an increase in FOXO3a, Nrf2 and GRP78, which play fundamental roles in cellular homeostasis and survival. Importantly, hBCATc at the same time reduced phosphorylation of MAPK indicating that regulation of proliferation and migration through hBCATc is primarly through the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway rather than through MAPK signalling.

Chapter 5

5.0 Summary and Future Work

Mai Ahmed Shafei

5.1 Summary

Metabolic reprogramming in tumour cells offers targetable vulnerabilities (Long, Li and Zhang, 2016). The expression of key metabolic proteins involved in BCAA metabolism (hBCATc and hBCATm), isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH1 and IDH2 and serine metabolism (PHGDH) were assessed in a cohort of breast cancer patients (Chapter 4). Differential expression of these metabolic proteins was associated with the different breast cancer subtypes, identifying distinct metabolic dependencies, which may offer novel therapeutic targets.

Expression of hBCATm correlated with smaller tumours and luminal A breast cancer, which associated with a better prognosis compared with other breast cancer subtypes. Using serial sections, hBCATm was found to be significantly associated with IDH1 expression, indicating that these two metabolic pathways are activated concomitantly, potentially through, SREBP1 which regulates both enzymes (Dey *et al.*, 2017; Ricoult *et al.*, 2016). IDH1 is responsible for the oxidative carboxylation of isocitrate to maintain levels of α -ketoglutarate in the cytosol, critical for sustaining the TCA cycle (Kabe *et al.*, 2006), whilst hBCATm utilises α -ketoglutarate in the transamination of BCAAs in the mitochondria to support cell growth (Conway *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, increased expression of IDH1 may replenish the α -ketoglutarate pool in cells with increased hBCATm, which can then be shuttled to the mitochondria (Kabe *et al.*, 2006), to support the TCA cycle. Here, IDH1 and hBCATm metabolism can be proposed to work in conjunction to support tumour growth.

hBCATc expression was found to be significantly associated with the more aggressive HER2+ and TNBC subtypes. Intriguingly, SKBR3 cells, which are a

Chapter 5

well-known model for HER2+ subtype, were found to lack hBCATc expression, also reported in related studies (Thewes et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2013). This suggests that the current breast cancer cell line models of HER2+ subtype do not reflect the pathophysiological outcome observed in the human breast cancer tissue. Expression levels of hBCATc were found to be increased in TNBC, MDA-MB-231 cells. To elucidate the functional role for hBCATc, transient knockdown was optimised with siRNA as well as shRNA mediated knockdown and overexpression of BCAT1 (Chapter 4). As reported in other relevant studies (Thewes et al., 2017), hBCATc was found to play an intrinsic role in promoting a significant increase in cell proliferation, migration and invasion indicating that activity or its proposed chaperone role enhances tumour progression. Additionally, BCAA levels were found to regulate cell proliferation in a dose dependant manner where lower concentrations increased cell proliferation whilst higher concentrations returned cell proliferation levels to baseline. Increased levels of leucine, a substrate for hBCATc, has been demonstrated to activate mTOR, a serine-threonine kinase that binds with proteins to induce intracellular signalling pathways directly involved in glutaminolysis, nucleotide and protein synthesis, supporting tumour growth (Laplante and Sabatini, 2013; Son et al., 2019; Zhang and Han, 2017).

In breast cancer insulin/IGF-1 signalling has been demonstrated to contribute to tumourigenesis through the activation of growth signalling effectors which is mediated by two chief pathways: Akt/mTOR and RAS/MAPK. For the first time, we show that hBCATc regulates IGF-1 and insulin mediated cell proliferation and migration in TNBC cells. Expression of hBCATc affected the expression of key proteins involved in the insulin/IGF-1 signalling cascade supporting a chaperone

164

Chapter 5

role in this pathway (Figure 5.1). Knockdown of *BCAT1* was found to reduce expression of IGF-1R β , which is responsible for intracellular signal transduction upon receptor activation (Kavran *et al.*, 1993). Moreover, downstream IGF-1R signalling effectors Shc and SOS levels were increased with shRNA-mediated *BCAT1* overexpression, however, the expression levels were not significantly affected with knockdown of *BCAT1*. We propose that hBCATc acts as a cytoplasmic scaffold protein, rather than affecting transcription, to enhance the IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade. Increased levels of SOS normally leads to the activation of Ras, Raf and subsequent activation of MAPK (Pan *et al.*, 2010). In this study, knockdown of *BCAT1* was found to increase phosphorylation of MAPK, in the presence of IGF-1 and insulin and nuclear translocation of MAPK. These findings suggest a regulatory role for hBCATc with respect to MAPK activation, mediated by abrogating MAPK nuclear translocation, despite increased expression of the upstream signalling effectors Shc and SOS of the RAS/MAPK signalling cascade.

Interestingly, hBCATc was found to activate Akt in response to insulin stimulation. Shc has been previously reported to increase Grb2 interaction with PI3K leading to activation of PI3K/Akt signalling (Radhakrishnan *et al.*, 2008; Jiménez *et al.*, 2002). Additionally, increased levels of SOS can induce Ras activation of PI3K/Akt (Castellano and Downward, 2011). We propose that hBCATc plays a novel chaperone role by enhancing this mechanism by sequestering the downstream signalling molecules Shc and SOS to promote Akt signalling. Cross-talk of the RAS/ERK and PI3K/Akt pathways in the IGF-1 signalling cascade

165



Figure 5.1 The role of hBCATc on the insulin/IGF-1 signalling cascades. Activation of IGF-1R and insulin receptor, mediated by ligand binding of IGF-1 or insulin leads to the subsequent activation of the phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K)/serine/threonine-specific protein kinase (Akt) and the Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways. Increased expression of hBCATc increased levels of IGF-1RB, Src homology 2 domain containing transforming protein (Shc) and son of sevenless (SOS) however MAPK activation was increased with knockdown of BCAT1 suggesting hBCATc to inhibit MAPK activation. Increased levels of hBCATc increased phosphorylation of Akt and the expression levels of the downstream effector proteins; forkhead box O3 (FOXO3a), mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like-2 (Nrf2) and glucose regulated protein 78 (GRP78) thereby promoting cell proliferation, migration, and evasion of apoptosis in triple negative breast cancer. Grb2, growth factor receptor-bound 2; IRS, insulin receptor substrate; Keap1, kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1; PDK, phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase; PIP₂, phosphatidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate; PIP₃, phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5) trisphosphate.

allows plasticity of tumour cells to utilise different effector molecules to promote tumour survival and progression (Mendoza, Er and Blenis, 2011). Downstream of the PI3K/Akt pathway hBCATc was also shown to positively regulate FOXO3a, Nrf2 and GRP78, proteins important to cell proliferation, cell survival and protein folding. In conclusion, data generated in this thesis supports a role for hBCATc as a molecular chaperone through the activation of PI3K/Akt signalling and subsequent Akt downstream effector proteins potentiating tumour survival and progression mediated by cell proliferation, migration, cell cycle control and evasion of apoptosis.

5.2 Future work

Work detailed in this thesis showed novel moonlighting roles for hBCATc, which may contribute to increased proliferation, migration and invasion. In particular, hBCATc was demonstrated to regulate cross-talk between the PI3K/Akt/mTOR and the Ras/ERK pathway under IGF-1 and insulin treatment in TNBC, indicating a novel role for this metabolic protein in the regulation of IGF-1/insulin-mediated proliferation. Moreover, a regulatory role for hBCATc of Nrf2 expression was also identified which may contribute to redox homeostasis and the evasion of apoptosis. Therefore, it is important to further understand the underlying mechanistic role for hBCATc in TNBC as there is the potential for developing a novel targeted therapeutic approach.

- To assess BCAA levels *in vitro* following *BCAT1* knockdown using LCMS to determine hBCATc regulation
- To establish whether hBCATc is involved in the regulation of the redox status of TNBC cells using a direct measure of ROS status
- To assess the expression of proteins involved in the regulation of the redox status such as Grx and Trx following *BCAT1* knockdown and overexpression to determine hBCATc involvement
- To assess the expression of pro-apoptotic proteins such as BAD, BCL and following *BCAT1* knockdown and overexpression to determine the mechanisms by which hBCATc regulates apoptosis
- Develop knockdown shRNA constructs with a rescue system to re-express hBCATc which would further validate findings in this study
- Optimise a method for live-cell observation of hBCATc in order to observe its movements in response to specific stimuli such as insulin and IGF-1

Chapter 5

treatment to monitor interaction with downstream signalling effectors such as MAPK and FOXO3a

- Investigate the effect of IGF-1R inhibitors on the expression of hBCATc
- Use of IGF-1R inhibitors and shRNA-mediated overexpression of hBCATc to assess whether hBCATc expression allows the reactivation of the IGF-1/insulin signalling in the absence of ligand activation

6.0 References

Mai Ahmed Shafei

6.0 References

Achouri, Y., Rider, M.H., Van Scharingen, E. and Robbi, M. (1997) Cloning, sequencing and expression of rat liver 3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase. *Biochemical Journal*. 323 (2), pp. 365–370.

Ahn, H.J., Jung, S.J., Kim, T.H., Oh, M.K. and Yoon, H.K. (2015) Differences in clinical outcomes between luminal A and B type breast cancers according to the St. Gallen consensus 2013. *Journal of Breast Cancer*. 18 (2), pp. 149–159.

Al-Khallaf, H. (2017) Isocitrate dehydrogenases in physiology and cancer: Biochemical and molecular insight. *Cell and Bioscience*. 7 (1), pp. 37.

Albain, K., Anderson, S., Arriagada, R., Barlow, W., Bergh, J., Bliss, J., Buyse, M., Cameron, D., Carrasco, E., Clarke, M., Correa, C., Coates, A., Collins, R., Costantino, J., et al. (2012) Comparisons between different polychemotherapy regimens for early breast cancer: Meta-analyses of long-term outcome among 100 000 women in 123 randomised trials. *The Lancet*. 379 (9814), pp. 432–444.

Albrecht, C., Hosiner, S., Tichy, B., Aldrian, S., Hajdu, S. and Nürnberger, S. (2015) Comparison of Lentiviral Packaging Mixes and Producer Cell Lines for RNAi Applications. *Molecular Biotechnology*. 57 (6), pp. 499–505.

Amin, M.B., Greene, F.L., Edge, S.B., Compton, C.C., Gershenwald, J.E., Brookland, R.K., Meyer, L., Gress, D.M., Byrd, D.R. and Winchester, D.P. (2017) The Eighth Edition AJCC Cancer Staging Manual: Continuing to build a bridge from a population-based to a more "personalized" approach to cancer staging. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*. 67 (2), pp. 93–99.

Ananieva, E.A., Patel, C.H., Powell, J.D., Hutson, S.M. and Drake, C.H. (2014) Cytosolic Branched Chain Aminotransferase (BCATc) Regulates mTORC1 Signaling and Glycolytic Metabolism in CD4 + T Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 289 (27), pp. 18793–18804.

Anastasi, N. and Lusher, J. (2019) The impact of breast cancer awareness interventions on breast screening uptake among women in the United Kingdom: A systematic review *Journal of Health Psychology* 24 (1) p.pp. 113–124.

Anderson, N.M., Mucka, P., Kern, J.G. and Feng, H. (2018) The emerging role and targetability of the TCA cycle in cancer metabolism *Protein and Cell* [online] 9 (2) p.pp. 216–237.

El Ansari, R., McIntyre, A., Craze, M.L., Ellis, I.O., Rakha, E.A. and Green, A.R. (2018) Altered glutamine metabolism in breast cancer; subtype dependencies and alternative adaptations. *Histopathology*. 72 (2), pp. 183–190.

Antanavičiūtė, I., Bordel, S., Skeberdis, V.A., Ceslevičienė, I., Mikalayeva, V. and Milašiūtė, G. (2017) Transcriptional hallmarks of cancer cell lines reveal an emerging role of branched chain amino acid catabolism. *Scientific Reports*. 7 (1), pp. 7820.

Anthony, T.G., McDaniel, B.J., Byerley, R.L., McGrath, B.C., Cavener, D.R.,

McNurlan, M.A. and Wek, R.C. (2004) Preservation of liver protein synthesis during dietary leucine deprivation occurs at the expense of skeletal muscle mass in mice deleted for eIF2 kinase GCN2. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 279 (35), pp. 36553–36561.

Arkun, Y. (2016) Dynamic Modeling and Analysis of the Cross-Talk between Insulin/AKT and MAPK/ERK Signaling Pathways Andrea Morrione (ed.). *PLOS ONE*. 11 (3), pp. e0149684.

Barford, D. (2004) The role of cysteine residues as redox-sensitive regulatory switches. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*. 14 (6), pp. 679–686.

Barnes, L.D., Kuehn, G.D. and Atkinson, D.E. (1971) Yeast Diphosphopyridine Nucleotide Specific Isocitrate Dehydrogenase. Purification and Some Properties. *Biochemistry*. 10 (21), pp. 3939–3944.

Ben-Yosef, T., Eden, A. and Benvenisty, N. (1998) Characterization of murine BCAT genes: Bcat1, a c-Myc target, and its homolog, Bcat2. *Mammalian Genome*. 9 (7), pp. 595–597.

Benvenisty, N., Leder, A., Kuo, A. and Leder, P. (1992) An embryonically expressed gene is a target for c-Myc regulation via the c-Myc-binding sequence. *Genes and Development*. 6 (12 B), pp. 2513–2523.

Berg, J.M., Tymoczko, J.L. and Stryer, L. (2002) *Biochemistry* [online]. 5th edition. New York: W H Freeman. [Accessed 21 February 2019].

Bertucci, F., Finetti, P., Cervera, N., Esterni, B., Hermitte, F., Viens, P. and Birnbaum, D. (2008) How basal are triple-negative breast cancers? *International Journal of Cancer.* 123 (1), pp. 236–240.

Bhagavan, N.V., Ha, C.-E., Bhagavan, N.V. and Ha, C.-E. (2015) Carbohydrate Metabolism I: Glycolysis and the Tricarboxylic Acid Cycle. *Essentials of Medical Biochemistry*. pp. 165–185.

Biggs, D.S.C. (2010) 3D deconvolution microscopy *Current Protocols in Cytometry* [online] 52 (SUPPL. 52) p.pp. 12.19.1-12.19.20.

Bleyer, A. and Welch, H.G. (2012) Effect of three decades of screening mammography on breast-cancer incidence. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 367 (21), pp. 1998–2005.

Blömer, U., Naldini, L., Kafri, T., Trono, D., Verma, I.M. and Gage, F.H. (1997) Highly efficient and sustained gene transfer in adult neurons with a lentivirus vector. *Journal of virology*. 71 (9), pp. 6641–6649.

Bloom, H.J. and Richardson, W.W. (1957) Histological grading and prognosis in breast cancer a study of 1409 cases of which 359 have been followed for 15 years. *British Journal of Cancer*. 11 (3), pp. 359–377.

Boehnke Michaud, L., Jones, K.L. and Buzdar, A.U. (2001) Combination Endocrine Therapy in the Management of Breast Cancer. *The Oncologist*. 6 (6), pp. 538–546.

Boroughs, L.K. and DeBerardinis, R.J. (2015) Metabolic pathways promoting cancer cell survival and growth. *Nature cell biology*. 17 (4), pp. 351–359.

Boucher, J., Kleinridders, A. and Ronald Kahn, C. (2014) Insulin receptor signaling in normal and insulin-resistant states. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*. 6 (1), pp. a009191–a009191.

Boukouris, A.E., Zervopoulos, S.D. and Michelakis, E.D. (2016) Metabolic Enzymes Moonlighting in the Nucleus: Metabolic Regulation of Gene Transcription. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*. 41 (8), pp. 712–730.

Bowers, L.W., Rossi, E.L., O'Flanagan, C.H., De Graffenried, L.A. and Hursting, S.D. (2015) The role of the insulin/IGF system in cancer: Lessons learned from clinical trials and the energy balance-cancer link *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 6 (MAY) p.pp. 77.

ter Braak, B., Siezen, C.L., Lee, J.S., Rao, P., Voorhoeve, C., Ruppin, E., Van Der Laan, J.W. and Van De Water, B. (2017) Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor activation promotes mammary gland tumor development by increasing glycolysis and promoting biomass production. *Breast Cancer Research*. 19 (1), pp. 1–15.

Bray, F., Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Siegel, R.L., Torre, L.A. and Jemal, A. (2018) Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians*. 68 (6), pp. 394–424.

Bröer, S. and Bröer, A. (2017) Amino acid homeostasis and signalling in mammalian cells and organisms. *Biochemical Journal*. 474 (12), pp. 1935–1963.

Brunet, A., Roux, D., Lenormand, P., Dowd, S., Keyse, S. and Pouysségur, J. (1999) Nuclear translocation of p42/p44 mitogen-activated protein kinase is required for growth factor-induced gene expression and cell cycle entry. *EMBO Journal.* 18 (3), pp. 664–674.

Bruning, P.F., Van Doorn, J., Bonfrèr, J.M.G., Van Noord, P.A.M., Korse, C.M., Linders, T.C. and Hart, A.A.M. (1995) Insulin-like growth-factor-binding protein 3 is decreased in early-stage operable pre-menopausal breast cancer. *International Journal of Cancer.* 62 (3), pp. 266–270.

Budczies, J., Brockmöller, S.F., Müller, B.M., Barupal, D.K., Richter-Ehrenstein, C., Kleine-Tebbe, A., Griffin, J.L., Orešič, M., Dietel, M., Denkert, C. and Fiehn, O. (2013) Comparative metabolomics of estrogen receptor positive and estrogen receptor negative breast cancer: Alterations in glutamine and beta-alanine metabolism. *Journal of Proteomics*. 94 pp. 279–288.

Burotto, M., Chiou, V.L., Lee, J.M. and Kohn, E.C. (2014) The MAPK pathway across different malignancies: A new perspective. *Cancer*. 120 (22), pp. 3446–3456.

Burton, R. and Bell, R. (2013) The Global Challenge of Reducing Breast Cancer Mortality. *The Oncologist*. 18 (11), pp. 1200–1202.

Bussard, K.M. and Smith, G.H. (2012) Human Breast Cancer Cells Are

Redirected to Mammary Epithelial Cells upon Interaction with the Regenerating Mammary Gland Microenvironment In-Vivo Alana L. Welm (ed.). *PLoS ONE*. 7 (11), pp. e49221.

Byron, S.A., Horwitz, K.B., Richer, J.K., Lange, C.A., Zhang, X. and Yee, D. (2006) Insulin receptor substrates mediate distinct biological responses to insulinlike growth factor receptor activation in breast cancer cells. *British Journal of Cancer*. 95 (9), pp. 1220–1228.

Calvert, A.E., Chalastanis, A., Wu, Y., Hurley, L.A., Kouri, F.M., Bi, Y., Kachman, M., May, J.L., Bartom, E., Hua, Y., Mishra, R.K., Schiltz, G.E., Dubrovskyi, O., Mazar, A.P., et al. (2017) Cancer-Associated IDH1 Promotes Growth and Resistance to Targeted Therapies in the Absence of Mutation. *Cell Reports*. 19 (9), pp. 1858–1873.

Capelan, M., Pugliano, L., De Azambuja, E., Bozovic, I., Saini, K.S., Sotiriou, C., Loi, S. and Piccart-Gebhart, M.J. (2013) Pertuzumab: New hope for patients with HER2-positive breast cancer. *Annals of Oncology*. 24 (2), pp. 273–282.

Cardone, M.H., Roy, N., Stennicke, H.R., Salvesen, G.S., Franke, T.F., Stanbridge, E., Frisch, S. and Reed, J.C. (1998) Regulation of cell death protease caspase-9 by phosphorylation. *Science*. 282 (5392), pp. 1318–1321.

Cargnello, M. and Roux, P.P. (2011) Activation and Function of the MAPKs and Their Substrates, the MAPK-Activated Protein Kinases. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*. 75 (1), pp. 50–83.

Casciola-Rosen, L., Rosen, A., Petri, M. and Schlissel, M. (1996) Surface blebs on apoptotic cells are sites of enhanced procoagulant activity: implications for coagulation events and antigenic spread in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 93 (4), pp. 1624–1629.

Castellano, E. and Downward, J. (2011) Ras interaction with PI3K: More than just another effector pathway. *Genes and Cancer*. 2 (3), pp. 261–274.

Caswell-Jin, J.L., Plevritis, S.K., Tian, L., Cadham, C.J., Xu, C., Stout, N.K., Sledge, G.W., Mandelblatt, J.S. and Kurian, A.W. (2018) Change in Survival in Metastatic Breast Cancer with Treatment Advances: Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. *JNCI Cancer Spectrum*. 2 (4), pp. pky062.

Chalhoub, N. and Baker, S.J. (2009) PTEN and the PI3-Kinase Pathway in Cancer. *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease*. 4 (1), pp. 127–150.

Chandel, N.S. and Tuveson, D.A. (2014) The Promise and Perils of Antioxidants for Cancer Patients Elizabeth G. Phimister (ed.). *New England Journal of Medicine*. 371 (2), pp. 177–178.

Chen, J., Chung, F., Yang, G.G., Pu, M., Gao, H., Jiang, W., Yin, H., Capka, V., Kasibhatla, S., Laffitte, B., Jaeger, S., Pagliarini, R., Chen, Y. and Zhou, W. (2013) Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase is dispensable for breast tumor maintenance and growth. *Oncotarget.* 4 (12), pp. 2502–2511.

Chen, J.Q., Brown, T.R. and Russo, J. (2009) Regulation of energy metabolism pathways by estrogens and estrogenic chemicals and potential implications in obesity associated with increased exposure to endocrine disruptors. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research*. 1793 (7), pp. 1128–1143.

Chen, W., Sun, Z., Wang, X.-J., Jiang, T., Huang, Z., Fang, D. and Zhang, D.D. (2009) Direct interaction between Nrf2 and p21(Cip1/WAF1) upregulates the Nrf2-mediated antioxidant response. *Molecular cell*. 34 (6), pp. 663–673.

Chitnis, M.M., Yuen, J.S.P., Protheroe, A.S., Pollak, M. and Macaulay, V.M. (2008) The type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor pathway *Clinical Cancer Research* [online] 14 (20) p.pp. 6364–6370.

Cho, H.S., Mason, K., Ramyar, K.X., Stanley, A.M., Gabelli, S.B., Denney, D.W. and Leahy, D.J. (2003) Structure of the extracellular region of HER2 alone and in complex with the Herceptin Fab. *Nature*. 421 (6924), pp. 756–760.

Choi, J., Jung, W.-H. and Koo, J.S. (2013) Metabolism-Related Proteins Are Differentially Expressed according to the Molecular Subtype of Invasive Breast Cancer Defined by Surrogate Immunohistochemistry. *Pathobiology*. 80 (1), pp. 41–52.

Christopoulos, P.F., Msaouel, P. and Koutsilieris, M. (2015) The role of the insulinlike growth factor-1 system in breast cancer. *Molecular Cancer*. 14 (1), pp. 43.

Chu, B., Soncin, F., Price, B.D., Stevenson, M.A. and Calderwood, S.K. (1996) Sequential phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase and glycogen synthase kinase 3 represses transcriptional activation by heat shock factor-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 271 (48), pp. 30847–30857.

Coleman, M.P., Quaresma, M., Berrino, F., Lutz, J.-M., De Angelis, R., Capocaccia, R., Baili, P., Rachet, B., Gatta, G., Hakulinen, T., Micheli, A., Sant, M., Weir, H.K., Mark Elwood, J., et al. (2008) Cancer survival in five continents: a worldwide population-based study (CONCORD). *Lancet Oncology*. 9 pp. 730–756.

Coles, S.J., Hancock, J.T. and Conway, M.E. (2012) Differential redox potential between the human cytosolic and mitochondrial branched-chain aminotransferase. *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica*. 44 (2), pp. 172–176.

Connolly, J.L., Schnitt, S.J., Wang, H.H., Longtine, J.A., Dvorak, A. and Dvorak, H.F. (2003) *Role of the Surgical Pathologist in the Diagnosis and Management of the Cancer Patient*.

Conway, M.E., Coles, S.J., Islam, M.M. and Hutson, S.M. (2008) Regulatory control of human cytosolic branched-chain aminotransferase by oxidation and S-glutathionylation and its interactions with redox sensitive neuronal proteins. *Biochemistry*. 47 (19), pp. 5465–5479.

Conway, M.E., Hull, J., El Hindy, M., Taylor, S.C., El Amraoui, F., Paton-Thomas, C., White, P., Williams, M., Ellis, H.P., Bertoni, A., Radlwimmer, B., Hutson, S.M. and Kurian, K.M. (2016) Decreased expression of the mitochondrial BCAT protein correlates with improved patient survival in IDH-WT gliomas. *Brain Pathology*. 26

(6), pp. 789–791.

Conway, M.E., Yennawar, N., Wallin, R., Poole, L.B. and Hutson, S.M. (2002) Identification of a peroxide-sensitive redox switch at the CXXC motif in the human mitochondrial branched chain aminotransferase. *Biochemistry*. 41 (29), pp. 9070–9078.

Creighton, C.J. (2012) The molecular profile of luminal B breast cancer. *Biologics : targets & therapy*. 6 pp. 289–297.

CRUK (2019) Breast cancer statistics | Cancer Research UK.

Dai, R.Y., Chen, S.K., Yan, D.M., Chen, R., Lui, Y.P., Duan, C.Y., Li, J., He, T. and Li, H. (2010) PI3K/Akt promotes GRP78 accumulation and inhibits endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis in HEK293 cells. *Folia biologica*. 56 (2), pp. 37–46.

Dai, X., Li, T., Bai, Z., Yang, Y., Liu, X., Zhan, J. and Shi, B. (2015) Breast cancer intrinsic subtype classification, clinical use and future trends. *American journal of cancer research*. 5 (10), pp. 2929–2943.

Damuni, Z., Merryfield, M.L., Humphreys, J.S. and Reed, L.J. (2006) Purification and properties of branched-chain alpha-keto acid dehydrogenase phosphatase from bovine kidney. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 81 (14), pp. 4335–4338.

Dang, C. V. (2009) MYC, microRNAs and glutamine addiction in cancers *Cell Cycle* [online] 8 (20) p.pp. 3243–3245.

Dang, L., White, D.W., Gross, S., Bennett, B.D., Bittinger, M.A., Driggers, E.M., Fantin, V.R., Jang, H.G., Jin, S., Keenan, M.C., Marks, K.M., Prins, R.M., Ward, P.S., Yen, K.E., et al. (2009) Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2-hydroxyglutarate. *Nature*. 462 (7274), pp. 739–744.

Daniel, C.W. and Smith, G.H. (1999) The mammary gland: a model for development. *Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia*. 4 (1), pp. 3–8.

Darby, S., McGale, P., Correa, C., Taylor, C., Arriagada, R., Clarke, M., Cutter, D., Davies, C., Ewertz, M., Godwin, J., Gray, R., Pierce, L., Whelan, T., Wang, Y., et al. (2011) Effect of radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery on 10-year recurrence and 15-year breast cancer death: Meta-analysis of individual patient data for 10 801 women in 17 randomised trials. *The Lancet.* 378 (9804), pp. 1707–1716.

Davies, C., Pan, H., Godwin, J., Gray, R., Arriagada, R., Raina, V., Abraham, M., Medeiros Alencar, V.H., Badran, A., Bonfill, X., Bradbury, J., Clarke, M., Collins, R., Davis, S.R., et al. (2013) Long-term effects of continuing adjuvant tamoxifen to 10 years versus stopping at 5 years after diagnosis of oestrogen receptor-positive breast cancer: ATLAS, a randomised trial. *The Lancet*. 381 (9869), pp. 805–816.

Davison, Z., de Blacquière, G.E., Westley, B.R. and May, F.E.B. (2015) Insulinlike Growth Factor-Dependent Proliferation and Survival of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells: Implications for Therapy. Neoplasia. 13 (6), pp. 504–515.

Davoodi, J., Drown, P.M., Bledsoe, R.K., Wallin, R., Reinhart, G.D. and Hutson, S.M. (1998) Overexpression and characterization of the human mitochondrial and cytosolic branched-chain aminotransferases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 273 (9), pp. 4982–4989.

Dawson, S.J., Provenzano, E. and Caldas, C. (2009) Triple negative breast cancers: Clinical and prognostic implications. *European Journal of Cancer.* 45 (SUPPL. 1), pp. 27–40.

Deberardinis, R.J. (2011) Serine metabolism: Some tumors take the road less traveled. *Cell Metabolism*. 14 (3), pp. 285–286.

DeBerardinis, R.J. and Chandel, N.S. (2016) Fundamentals of cancer metabolism. *Science advances*. 2 (5), pp. e1600200.

Denicola, G.M., Karreth, F.A., Humpton, T.J., Gopinathan, A., Wei, C., Frese, K., Mangal, D., Yu, K.H., Yeo, C.J., Calhoun, E.S., Scrimieri, F., Winter, J.M., Hruban, R.H., Iacobuzio-Donahue, C., et al. (2011) Oncogene-induced Nrf2 transcription promotes ROS detoxification and tumorigenesis. *Nature*. 475 (7354), pp. 106–110.

Dent, R., Trudeau, M., Pritchard, K.I., Hanna, W.M., Kahn, H.K., Sawka, C.A., Lickley, L.A., Rawlinson, E., Sun, P. and Narod, S.A. (2007) Triple-negative breast cancer: Clinical features and patterns of recurrence. *Clinical Cancer Research*. 13 (15), pp. 4429–4434.

Deugnier, M.A., Teulière, J., Faraldo, M.M., Thiery, J.P. and Glukhova, M.A. (2002) The importance of being a myoepithelial cell. *Breast Cancer Research*. 4 (6), pp. 224–230.

Dey, P., Baddour, J., Muller, F., Wu, C.C., Wang, H., Liao, W.T., Lan, Z., Chen, A., Gutschner, T., Kang, Y., Fleming, J., Satani, N., Zhao, D., Achreja, A., et al. (2017) Genomic deletion of malic enzyme 2 confers collateral lethality in pancreatic cancer. *Nature*. 542 (7639), pp. 119–123.

Dhankhar, R., Vyas, S.P., Jain, A.K., Arora, S., Rath, G. and Goyal, A.K. (2010) Advances in Novel Drug Delivery Strategies for Breast Cancer Therapy. *Artificial Cells, Blood Substitutes, and Biotechnology*. 38 (5), pp. 230–249.

Dhillon, A.S., Hagan, S., Rath, O. and Kolch, W. (2007) MAP kinase signalling pathways in cancer. *Oncogene*. 26 (22), pp. 3279–3290.

Dimitriadis, G., Parry-Billings, M., Bevan, S., Dunger, D., Piva, T., Krause, U., Wegener, G. and Newsholme, E.A. (1992) Effects of insulin-like growth factor I on the rates of glucose transport and utilization in rat skeletal muscle in vitro. *Biochemical Journal*. 285 (1), pp. 269–274.

Doherty, J.R. and Cleveland, J.L. (2013) Targeting lactate metabolism for cancer therapeutics. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 123 (9), pp. 3685.

Dunn, K.W., Kamocka, M.M. and McDonald, J.H. (2011) A practical guide to

evaluating colocalization in biological microscopy. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*. 300 (4), pp. C723–C742.

Eden, A. and Benvenisty, N. (1999) Involvement of branched-chain amino acid aminotransferase (Bcat1/Eca39) in apoptosis. *FEBS Letters*. 457 (2), pp. 255–261.

Egner, J.R. (2010) AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*. 304 (15), pp. 1726.

Ehinger, A., Malmström, P., Bendahl, P.-O., Elston, C.W., Falck, A.-K., Forsare, C., Grabau, D., Rydén, L., Stål, O. and Fernö, M. (2017) Histological grade provides significant prognostic information in addition to breast cancer subtypes defined according to St Gallen 2013. *Acta Oncologica*. 56 (1), pp. 68–74.

Ekyalongo, R.C. and Yee, D. (2017) Revisiting the IGF-1R as a breast cancer target. *npj Precision Oncology*. 1 (1), pp. 1–6.

Elston, C.W. and Ellis, I.O. (1991) pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology*. 19 (5), pp. 403–410.

Fan, J., Teng, X., Liu, L., Mattaini, K.R., Looper, R.E., Vander Heiden, M.G. and Rabinowitz, J.D. (2015) Human phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase produces the oncometabolite D-2-hydroxyglutarate. *ACS Chemical Biology*. 10 (2), pp. 510–516.

Farhan, M., Wang, H., Gaur, U., Little, P.J., Xu, J. and Zheng, W. (2017) FOXO signaling pathways as therapeutic targets in cancer. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*. 13 (7), pp. 815–827.

Feitelson, M.A., Arzumanyan, A., Kulathinal, R.J., Blain, S.W., Holcombe, R.F., Mahajna, J., Marino, M., Martinez-Chantar, M.L., Nawroth, R., Sanchez-Garcia, I., Sharma, D., Saxena, N.K., Singh, N., Vlachostergios, P.J., et al. (2015) Sustained proliferation in cancer: Mechanisms and novel therapeutic targets. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*. 35 (Suppl), pp. S25–S54.

Feng, Y., Spezia, M., Huang, S., Yuan, C., Zeng, Z., Zhang, L., Ji, X., Liu, W., Huang, B., Luo, W., Liu, B., Lei, Y., Du, S., Vuppalapati, A., et al. (2018) Breast cancer development and progression: Risk factors, cancer stem cells, signaling pathways, genomics, and molecular pathogenesis. *Genes and Diseases*. 5 (2), pp. 77–106.

Franceschini, G., Sanchez, A.M., Leone, A. Di, Magno, S., Moschella, F., Accetta, C. and Masetti, R. (2015) New trends in breast cancer surgery: a therapeutic approach increasingly efficacy and respectful of the patient. *II Giornale di Chirurgia*. 36 (4), pp. 145.

Friberg, S. and Nystrom, A. (2015) Cancer Metastases: Early Dissemination and Late Recurrences. *Cancer Growth and Metastasis*. 8 pp. 43–49.

Fu, H., Subramanian, R.R. and Masters, S.C. (2002) 14-3-3 Proteins: Structure, Function, and Regulation. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*. 40

(1), pp. 617–647.

Fu, Y., Li, J. and Lee, A.S. (2007) GRP78/BiP inhibits endoplasmic reticulum BIK and protects human breast cancer cells against estrogen starvation-induced apoptosis. *Cancer Research*. 67 (8), pp. 3734–3740.

Gabriel, J.L., Zervos, P.R. and Plaut, G.W.E. (1986) Activity of purified NAD-specific isocitrate dehydrogenase at modulator and substrate concentrations approximating conditions in mitochondria. *Metabolism*. 35 (7), pp. 661–667.

Giatromanolaki, A., Sivridis, E., Gatter, K.C., Turley, H., Harris, A.L. and Koukourakis, M.I. (2006) Lactate dehydrogenase 5 (LDH-5) expression in endometrial cancer relates to the activated VEGF/VEGFR2(KDR) pathway and prognosis. *Gynecologic Oncology*. 103 (3), pp. 912–918.

Girnita, L., Worrall, C., Takahashi, S.I., Seregard, S. and Girnita, A. (2014) Something old, something new and something borrowed: Emerging paradigm of insulin-like growth factor type 1 receptor (IGF-1R) signaling regulation. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*. 71 (13), pp. 2403–2427.

Giubellino, A., Burke, T.R. and Bottaro, D.P. (2008) Grb2 signaling in cell motility and cancer. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*. 12 (8), pp. 1021–1033.

Gnant, M. and Harbeck, N. (2011) Breast cancer. In: *Specialist Training in Oncology* [online]. (no place) Elsevier. pp. 115–133.

Le Goff, P., Montano, M.M., Schodin, D.J. and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. (1994) Phosphorylation of the human estrogen receptor. Identification of hormone-regulated sites and examination of their influence on transcriptional activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 269 (6), pp. 4458–4466.

Gonzalez-Angulo, A.M., Timms, K.M., Liu, S., Chen, H., Litton, J.K., Potter, J., Lanchbury, J.S., Stemke-Hale, K., Hennessy, B.T., Arun, B.K., Hortobagyi, G.N., Do, K.A., Mills, G.B. and Meric-Bernstam, F. (2011) Incidence and outcome of BRCA mutations in unselected patients with triple receptor-negative breast cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*. 17 (5), pp. 1082–1089.

Gorrini, C., Harris, I.S. and Mak, T.W. (2013) Modulation of oxidative stress as an anticancer strategy. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. 12 (12), pp. 931–947.

Greer, E.L. and Brunet, A. (2005) FOXO transcription factors at the interface between longevity and tumor suppression. *Oncogene*. 24 (50), pp. 7410–7425.

Guarneri, V. and Conte, P.F. (2004) The curability of breast cancer and the treatment of advanced disease. *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging*. 31 pp. S149–S161.

Gupta, C. and Tikoo, K. (2013) High glucose and insulin differentially modulates proliferation in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*. 51 (1), pp. 119–129.

Hagiwara, A., Nishiyama, M. and Ishizaki, S. (2012) Branched-chain amino acids prevent insulin-induced hepatic tumor cell proliferation by inducing apoptosis

through mTORC1 and mTORC2-dependent mechanisms. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*. 227 (5), pp. 2097–2105.

Hakuno, F. and Takahashi, S.-I. (2018) 40 YEARS OF IGF1: IGF1 receptor signaling pathways. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*. 61 (1), pp. 69–86.

Hall, T.R., Wallin, R., Reinhart, G.D. and Hutson, S.M. (1993) Branched chain aminotransferase isoenzymes. Purification and characterization of the rat brain isoenzyme. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 268 (5), pp. 3092–3098.

Haloua, M.H., Krekel, N.M.A., Winters, H.A.H., Rietveld, D.H.F., Meijer, S., Bloemers, F.W. and Van Den Tol, M.P. (2013) A systematic review of oncoplastic breast-conserving surgery: Current weaknesses and future prospects. *Annals of Surgery*. 257 (4), pp. 609–620.

Han, S., Ren, Y., He, W., Liu, H., Zhi, Z., Zhu, X., Yang, T., Rong, Y., Ma, B., Purwin, T.J., Ouyang, Z., Li, C., Wang, X., Wang, X., et al. (2018) ERK-mediated phosphorylation regulates SOX10 sumoylation and targets expression in mutant BRAF melanoma. *Nature Communications*. 9 (1), pp. 1–14.

Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R.A. (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*. 144 (5), pp. 646–674.

Hao, X., Ding, W., Wang, Y., Yu, W., Wu, W., Ponnusamy, M., Ao, X., Li, P., Liu, Y. and Wang, J. (2018) Critical role of FOXO3a in carcinogenesis. *Molecular Cancer.* 17 (1), pp. 104.

Haque, M.M. and Desai, K. V. (2019) Pathways to Endocrine Therapy Resistance in Breast Cancer. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*. 10 pp. 573.

Harbeck, N., Penault-Llorca, F., Cortes, J., Gnant, M., Houssami, N., Poortmans, P., Ruddy, K., Tsang, J. and Cardoso, F. (2019) Breast cancer. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*. 5 (1), pp. 1–31.

Harris, R.A., Hawes, J.W., Popov, K.M., Zhao, Y., Shimomura, Y., Sato, J., Jaskiewicz, J. and Hurley, T.D. (1997) Studies on the regulation of the mitochondrial α-ketoacid dehydrogenase complexes and their kinases. *Advances in Enzyme Regulation*. 37 pp. 271–293.

Harris, R.A., Paxton, R., Powell, S.M., Goodwin, G.W., Kuntz, M.J. and Han, A.C. (1986) Regulation of branched-chain α -ketoacid dehydrogenase complex by covalent modification. *Advances in Enzyme Regulation*. 25 (C), pp. 219–237.

Harris, T.J., Hipkiss, E.L., Borzillary, S., Wada, S., Grosso, J.F., Yen, H.R., Getnet, D., Bruno, T.C., Goldberg, M. V., Pardoll, D.M., DeWeese, T.L. and Drake, C.G. (2008) Radiotherapy augments the immune response to prostate cancer in a time-dependent manner. *Prostate*. 68 (12), pp. 1319–1329.

Hattori, A., Tsunoda, M., Konuma, T., Kobayashi, M., Nagy, T., Glushka, J., Tayyari, F., McSkimming, D., Kannan, N., Tojo, A., Edison, A.S. and Ito, T. (2017) Cancer progression by reprogrammed BCAA metabolism in myeloid leukaemia. *Nature*. 545 (7655), pp. 500–504.

Hayashi, N., Niikura, N., Yamauchi, H., Nakamura, S. and Ueno, N.T. (2013) Adding hormonal therapy to chemotherapy and trastuzumab improves prognosis in patients with hormone receptor-positive and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive primary breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*. 137 (2), pp. 523–531.

Hearne, B.J., Teare, M.D., Butt, M. and Donaldson, L. (2015) Comparison of nottingham prognostic index and adjuvant online prognostic tools in young women with breast cancer: Review of a single-institution experience. *BMJ Open*. 5 (1), pp. e005576.

Hecht, F., Pessoa, C.F., Gentile, L.B., Rosenthal, D., Carvalho, D.P. and Fortunato, R.S. (2016) The role of oxidative stress on breast cancer development and therapy. *Tumor Biology*. 37 (4), pp. 4281–4291.

Heiden, M.G. Vander, Cantley, L.C. and Thompson, C.B. (2009) Understanding the warburg effect: The metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science*. 324 (5930), pp. 1029–1033.

Vander Heiden, M.G. and DeBerardinis, R.J. (2017) Understanding the Intersections between Metabolism and Cancer Biology. *Cell*. 168 (4), pp. 657–669.

Holbro, T., Beerli, R.R., Maurer, F., Koziczak, M., Barbas, C.F. and Hynes, N.E. (2003) The ErbB2/ErbB3 heterodimer functions as an oncogenic unit: ErbB2 requires ErbB3 to drive breast tumor cell proliferation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 100 (15), pp. 8933–8938.

Hole, P.S., Zabkiewicz, J., Munje, C., Newton, Z., Pearn, L., White, P., Marquez, N., Hills, R.K., Burnett, A.K., Tonks, A. and Darley, R.L. (2013) Overproduction of NOX-derived ROS in AML promotes proliferation and is associated with defective oxidative stress signaling. *Blood.* 122 (9), pp. 3322–3330.

Hopkins, B.D., Hodakoski, C., Barrows, D., Mense, S.M. and Parsons, R.E. (2014) PTEN function: The long and the short of it *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 39 (4) p.pp. 183–190.

Huang, B., Omoto, Y., Iwase, H., Yamashita, H., Toyama, T., Coombes, R.C., Filipovic, A., Warner, M. and Gustafsson, J.A. (2014) Differential expression of estrogen receptor α , β 1, and β 2 in lobular and ductal breast cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 111 (5), pp. 1933–1938.

Hubbard, S.R., Mohammadi, M. and Schlessinger, J. (1998) Autoregulatory mechanisms in protein-tyrosine kinases *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273 (20) p.pp. 11987–11990.

Hull, J., Hindy, M. El, Kehoe, P.G., Chalmers, K., Love, S. and Conway, M.E. (2012) Distribution of the branched chain aminotransferase proteins in the human brain and their role in glutamate regulation. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. 123 (6), pp. 997–1009.

Hurley, J.H., Dean, A.M., Koshland, D.E. and Stroud, R.M. (1991) Catalytic

Mechanism of NADP+-Dependent Isocitrate Dehydrogenase: Implications from the Structures of Magnesium-Isocitrate and NADP+ Complexes. *Biochemistry*. 30 (35), pp. 8671–8678.

Hutson, S.M., Berkich, D., Drown, P., Xu, B., Aschner, M. and LaNoue, K.F. (1998) Role of branched-chain aminotransferase isoenzymes and gabapentin in neurotransmitter metabolism. *Journal of neurochemistry*. 71 (2), pp. 863–874.

Hutson, S.M., Sweatt, A.J. and LaNoue, K.F. (2018) Branched-Chain Amino Acid Metabolism: Implications for Establishing Safe Intakes. *The Journal of Nutrition*. 135 (6), pp. 1557S-1564S.

Ibrahim, I.M., Abdelmalek, D.H. and Elfiky, A.A. (2019) GRP78: A cell's response to stress *Life Sciences* 226 p.pp. 156–163.

Ichihara, A. and Koyama, E. (1966) Transaminase of branched chain amino acids. I. Branched chain amino acids-alpha-ketoglutarate transaminase. *Journal of biochemistry*. 59 (2), pp. 160–169.

Iqbal, N. and Iqbal, N. (2014) Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) in Cancers: Overexpression and Therapeutic Implications. *Molecular Biology International*. 2014 pp. 1–9.

Islam, M.M., Nautiyal, M., Wynn, R.M., Mobley, J.A., Chuang, D.T. and Hutson, S.M. (2010) Branched-chain amino acid metabolon: Interaction of glutamate dehydrogenase with the mitochondrial branched-chain aminotransferase (BCATm). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 285 (1), pp. 265–276.

Jackson, J.G., Zhang, X., Yoneda, T. and Yee, D. (2001) Regulation of breast cancer cell motility by insulin receptor substrate-2 (IRS-2) in metastatic variants of human breast cancer cell lines. *Oncogene*. 20 (50), pp. 7318–7325.

Ji, D., Jiang, C., Zhang, L., Liang, N., Jiang, T., Yang, B. and Liang, H. (2019) LncRNA CRNDE promotes hepatocellular carcinoma cell proliferation, invasion, and migration through regulating miR-203/ *BCAT1* axis. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*. 234 (5), pp. 6548–6560.

Jiménez, C., Hernández, C., Pimentel, B. and Carrera, A.C. (2002) The p85 regulatory subunit controls sequential activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase by Tyr kinases and Ras. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 277 (44), pp. 41556–41562.

Johnston, S.R.D. and Dowsett, M. (2003) Aromatase inhibitors for breast cancer: Lessons from the laboratory. *Nature Reviews Cancer*. 3 (11), pp. 821–831.

Jones, R.G., Ilic, V. and Williamson, D.H. (1984) Physiological significance of altered insulin metabolism in the conscious rat during lactation. *Biochemical Journal*. 220 (2), pp. 455–460.

Jung, S., Wang, M., Anderson, K., Baglietto, L., Bergkvist, L., Bernstein, L., van den Brandt, P.A., Brinton, L., Buring, J.E., Heather Eliassen, A., Falk, R., Gapstur, S.M., Giles, G.G., Goodman, G., et al. (2016) Alcohol consumption and breast cancer risk by estrogen receptor status: In a pooled analysis of 20 studies.

International Journal of Epidemiology. 45 (3), pp. 916–928.

Jutzy, J.M.S., Lemons, J.M., Luke, J.J. and Chmura, S.J. (2018) The Evolution of Radiation Therapy in Metastatic Breast Cancer: From Local Therapy to Systemic Agent. *International Journal of Breast Cancer*. 2018.

Kabe, Y., Ohmori, M., Shinouchi, K., Tsuboi, Y., Hirao, S., Azuma, M., Watanabe, H., Okura, I. and Handa, H. (2006) Porphyrin accumulation in mitochondria is mediated by 2-oxoglutarate carrier. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 281 (42), pp. 31729–31735.

Kaemmerer, D., Peter, L., Lupp, A., Schulz, S., Sänger, J., Baum, R.P., Prasad, V. and Hommann, M. (2012) Comparing of IRS and Her2 as immunohistochemical scoring schemes in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *International journal of clinical and experimental pathology*. 5 (3), pp. 187–194.

Kang, C., LeRoith, D. and Gallagher, E.J. (2018) Diabetes, Obesity, and Breast Cancer. *Endocrinology*. 159 (11), pp. 3801–3812.

Kast, K., Schoffer, O., Link, T., Forberger, A., Petzold, A., Niedostatek, A., Werner, C., Klug, S.J., Werner, A., Gatzweiler, A., Richter, B., Baretton, G. and Wimberger, P. (2017) Trastuzumab and survival of patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*. 296 (2), pp. 303–312.

Kavran, J.M., McCabe, J.M., Byrne, P.O., Connacher, M.K., Zhihong, W., , Alexander Ramek4 , David E Shaw4, 6, K.H., Sarabipour5, S., Yibing, S., Cole2, P.A. and Leahy1, D.J. (1993) Characterization of the Cellular Reduction of 3-(4,5dimethylthiazol-2- yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT): Subcellular Localization, Substrate Dependence, and Involvement of Mitochondrial Electron Transport in MTT Reduction. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*. 303 (2), pp. 474–482.

Kavran, J.M., Mccabe, J.M., Byrne, P.O., Katherine, M., Wang, Z., Ramek, A., Sarabipour, S., Shaw, D.E., Hristova, K., Cole, P.A. and Leahy, D.J. (2015) How IGF-1 activates its receptor. *eLife*. 1 (Id), pp. 1–28.

Kim, H., Borger, D.R., Comander, A.H., Burke, M., Sadrzadeh, H., Yen, K.E., Bardia, A., Matulis, C.R., Higgins, M.J., Agresta, S., Perry, A., Straley, K.S., Schenkein, D.P., Silver, R., et al. (2014) Isocitrate Dehydrogenase 1 (IDH1) Mutation in Breast Adenocarcinoma Is Associated With Elevated Levels of Serum and Urine 2-Hydroxyglutarate. *The Oncologist.* 19 (6), pp. 602–607.

Kim, J.J. and Accili, D. (2002) Signalling through IGF-I and insulin receptors: Where is the specificity? *Growth Hormone and IGF Research* [online] 12 (2) p.pp. 84–90.

Kispert, S. and McHowat, J. (2017) Recent insights into cigarette smoking as a lifestyle risk factor for breast cancer. *Breast cancer (Dove Medical Press)*. 9 pp. 127–132.

Kiyatkin, A., Aksamitiene, E., Markevich, N.I., Borisov, N.M., Hoek, J.B. and Kholodenko, B.N. (2008) Scaffolding Protein Gab1 Sustains Epidermal Growth

Factor-Induced Mitogenic and Survival Signaling by Multiple Positive Feedback Loops. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 281 (29), pp. 19925–19938.

Klemke, R.L., Cai, S., Giannini, A.L., Gallagher, P.J., De Lanerolle, P. and Cheresh, D.A. (1997) Regulation of cell motility by mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Journal of Cell Biology*. 137 (2), pp. 481–492.

Koh, J. and Kim, M.J. (2019a) Introduction of a new staging system of breast cancer for radiologists: An emphasis on the prognostic stage *Korean Journal of Radiology* 20 (1) p.pp. 69–82.

Koh, J. and Kim, M.J. (2019b) Introduction of a new staging system of breast cancer for radiologists: An emphasis on the prognostic stage. *Korean Journal of Radiology*. 20 (1), pp. 69–82.

Kondov, B., Milenkovikj, Z., Kondov, G., Petrushevska, G., Basheska, N., Bogdanovska-Todorovska, M., Tolevska, N. and Ivkovski, L. (2018) Presentation of the Molecular Subtypes of Breast Cancer Detected By Immunohistochemistry in Surgically Treated Patients. *Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences*. 6 (6), pp. 961.

Koundouros, N. and Poulogiannis, G. (2018) Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase/Akt Signaling and Redox Metabolism in Cancer. *Frontiers in oncology*. 8 pp. 160.

Kramer, N., Walzl, A., Unger, C., Rosner, M., Krupitza, G., Hengstschläger, M. and Dolznig, H. (2013) In vitro cell migration and invasion assays. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*. 752 (1), pp. 10–24.

Krell, D., Assoku, M., Galloway, M., Mulholland, P., Tomlinson, I. and Bardella, C. (2011) Screen for IDH1, IDH2, IDH3, D2HGDH and I2HGDH mutations in glioblastoma Joseph Charles Glorioso (ed.). *PLoS ONE*. 6 (5), pp. e19868.

Laplante, M. and Sabatini, D.M. (2013) Regulation of mTORC1 and its impact on gene expression at a glance. *Journal of Cell Science*. 126 (8), pp. 1713–1719.

Laron, Z. (2001) Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1): A growth hormone. *Journal of Clinical Pathology - Molecular Pathology*. 54 (5), pp. 311–316.

Law, J.H., Habibi, G., Hu, K., Masoudi, H., Wang, M.Y.C., Stratford, A.L., Park, E., Gee, J.M.W., Finlay, P., Jones, H.E., Nicholson, R.I., Carboni, J., Gottardis, M., Pollak, M., et al. (2008) Phosphorylated insulin-like growth factor-I/insulin receptor is present in all breast cancer subtypes and is related to poor survival. *Cancer Research*. 68 (24), pp. 10238–10246.

Lazennec, G., Bresson, D., Lucas, A., Chauveau, C. and Vignon, F. (2001) ER β inhibits proliferation and invasion of breast cancer cells. *Endocrinology*. 142 (9), pp. 4120–4130.

Lebert, J.M., Lester, R., Powell, E., Seal, M. and McCarthy, J. (2018) Advances in the systemic treatment of triple-negative breast cancer. *Current Oncology*. 25 (Suppl 1), pp. S142–S150.

Lee, J.J., Loh, K. and Yap, Y.S. (2015) PI3K/Akt/mTOR inhibitors in breast

cancer. Cancer Biology and Medicine. 12 (4), pp. 342–354.

Lehmann, B.D., Bauer, J.A., Chen, X., Sanders, M.E., Chakravarthy, A.B., Shyr, Y. and Pietenpol, J.A. (2011) Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 121 (7), pp. 2750–2767.

Lehr, S., Kotzka, J., Avci, H., Sickmann, A., Meyer, H.E., Herkner, A. and Muller-Wieland, D. (2004) Identification of major ERK-related phosphorylation sites in Gab1. *Biochemistry*. 43 (38), pp. 12133–12140.

Leone, J.P., Leone, J., Zwenger, A.O., Vallejo, C.T. and Leone, B.A. (2019) Prognostic significance of tumor subtypes in women with breast cancer according to stage: A population-based study. In: *American Journal of Clinical Oncology: Cancer Clinical Trials* [online]. 1 July 2019 (no place) Lippincott Williams and Wilkins. pp. 588–595.

Leong, S.P.L., Shen, Z.Z., Liu, T.J., Agarwal, G., Tajima, T., Paik, N.S., Sandelin, K., Derossis, A., Cody, H. and Foulkes, W.D. (2010) Is Breast cancer the same disease in Asian and Western countries? *World Journal of Surgery*. 34 (10), pp. 2308–2324.

Leroux, J.-P., Marchand, J.-C., Hong Tuan HA, R. and Cartier, P. (1975) The Influence of Insulin on Glucose Permeability and Metabolism of Human Granulocytes. *European Journal of Biochemistry*. 58 (2), pp. 367–373.

Lewitt, M.S. and Boyd, G.W. (2019) The Role of Insulin-Like Growth Factors and Insulin-Like Growth Factor–Binding Proteins in the Nervous System. *Biochemistry Insights*. 12 pp. 117862641984217.

Lien, E.C., Dibble, C.C. and Toker, A. (2017) PI3K signaling in cancer: beyond AKT *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 45 p.pp. 62–71.

Lipkus, I.M., Peters, E., Kimmick, G., Liotcheva, V. and Marcom, P. (2010) Breast cancer patients' treatment expectations after exposure to the decision aid program adjuvant online: The influence of numeracy. *Medical Decision Making*. 30 (4), pp. 464–473.

Lipovka, Y. and Konhilas, J.P. (2016) The complex nature of oestrogen signalling in breast cancer: Enemy or ally? *Bioscience Reports*. 36 (3), pp. e00352.

Liu, Y., Ao, X., Ding, W., Ponnusamy, M., Wu, W., Hao, X., Yu, W., Wang, Y., Li, P. and Wang, J. (2018) Critical role of FOXO3a in carcinogenesis *Molecular Cancer* 17 (1) p.pp. 1–12.

Locasale, J.W., Grassian, A.R., Melman, T., Lyssiotis, C.A., Mattaini, K.R., Bass, A.J., Heffron, G., Metallo, C.M., Muranen, T., Sharfi, H., Sasaki, A.T., Anastasiou, D., Mullarky, E., Vokes, N.I., et al. (2011) Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase diverts glycolytic flux and contributes to oncogenesis. *Nature Genetics*. 43 (9), pp. 869–874.

Long, J.-P., Li, X.-N. and Zhang, F. (2016) Targeting metabolism in breast cancer: How far we can go? *World Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 7 (1), pp. 122–130. Louie, M.C. and Sevigny, M.B. (2017) Steroid hormone receptors as prognostic markers in breast cancer. *American Journal of Cancer Research*. 7 (8), pp. 1617–1636.

Lu, J. and Holmgren, A. (2014) The thioredoxin antioxidant system. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. 66 pp. 75–87.

Lu, Y., Zi, X., Zhao, Y., Mascarenhas, D. and Pollak, M. (2001) Insulin-like growth factor-I receptor signaling and resistance to transtuzumab (Herceptin). *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*. 93 (24), pp. 1852–1857.

Luo, J., Field, S.J., Lee, J.Y., Engelman, J.A. and Cantley, L.C. (2005) The p85 regulatory subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase down-regulates IRS-1 signaling via the formation of a sequestration complex. *Journal of Cell Biology*. 170 (3), pp. 455–464.

Ma, Q. (2013) Role of Nrf2 in Oxidative Stress and Toxicity. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*. 53 (1), pp. 401–426.

Macias, H. and Hinck, L. (2012) Mammary gland development. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Developmental Biology*. 1 (4), pp. 533–557.

Makki, J. (2015) Diversity of breast carcinoma: Histological subtypes and clinical relevance. *Clinical Medicine Insights: Pathology*. 8 (1), pp. 23–31.

Malhotra, G.K., Zhao, X., Band, H. and Band, V. (2010) Histological, molecular and functional subtypes of breast cancers. *Cancer Biology and Therapy*. 10 (10), pp. 955–960.

Marmot, M.G., Altman, D.G., Cameron, D.A., Dewar, J.A., Thompson, S.G. and Wilcox, M. (2013) The benefits and harms of breast cancer screening: An independent review. *British Journal of Cancer*. 108 (11), pp. 2205–2240.

Marshman, E. and Streuli, C.H. (2002) Insulin-like growth factors and insulin-like growth factor binding proteins in mammary gland function *Breast Cancer Research* [online] 4 (6) p.pp. 231–239.

Masoud, V. and Pagès, G. (2017) Targeted therapies in breast cancer: New challenges to fight against resistance *World Journal of Clinical Oncology* 8 (2) p.pp. 120–134.

Masuda, H., Zhang, D., Bartholomeusz, C., Doihara, H., Hortobagyi, G.N. and Ueno, N.T. (2012) Role of epidermal growth factor receptor in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment.* 136 (2), pp. 331–345.

Matsuura, K., Canfield, K., Feng, W. and Kurokawa, M. (2016) Metabolic Regulation of Apoptosis in Cancer. *International review of cell and molecular biology*. 327 pp. 43–87.

Mattaini, K.R., Sullivan, M.R. and Heiden, M.G. Vander (2016) The importance of serine metabolism in cancer. *The Journal of Cell Biology*. 214 (3), pp. 249.

Matthews, S.B. and Thompson, H.J. (2016) The obesity-breast cancer conundrum: An analysis of the issues *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*

17 (6).

Mayers, J.R. and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2013) BCAT1 defines gliomas by IDH status. *Nature Medicine*. 19 (7), pp. 816–817.

McBrayer, S.K., Mayers, J.R., DiNatale, G.J., Shi, D.D., Khanal, J., Chakraborty, A.A., Sarosiek, K.A., Briggs, K.J., Robbins, A.K., Sewastianik, T., Shareef, S.J., Olenchock, B.A., Parker, S.J., Tateishi, K., et al. (2018) Transaminase Inhibition by 2-Hydroxyglutarate Impairs Glutamate Biosynthesis and Redox Homeostasis in Glioma. *Cell*. 175 (1), pp. 101-116.e25.

McCubrey, J.A., Steelman, L.S., Chappell, W.H., Abrams, S.L., Wong, E.W.T., Chang, F., Lehmann, B., Terrian, D.M., Milella, M., Tafuri, A., Stivala, F., Libra, M., Basecke, J., Evangelisti, C., et al. (2007) Roles of the Raf/MEK/ERK pathway in cell growth, malignant transformation and drug resistance *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research* 1773 (8) p.pp. 1263–1284.

Mendoza, M.C., Er, E.E. and Blenis, J. (2011) The Ras-ERK and PI3K-mTOR pathways: Cross-talk and compensation. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*. 36 (6), pp. 320–328.

Von Minckwitz, G., Untch, M., Blohmer, J.U., Costa, S.D., Eidtmann, H., Fasching, P.A., Gerber, B., Eiermann, W., Hilfrich, J., Huober, J., Jackisch, C., Kaufmann, M., Konecny, G.E., Denkert, C., et al. (2012) Definition and impact of pathologic complete response on prognosis after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in various intrinsic breast cancer subtypes. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 30 (15), pp. 1796–1804.

Mishra, P. and Ambs, S. (2015) Metabolic signatures of human breast cancer. *Molecular and Cellular Oncology*. 2 (3), pp. e992217.

Moelling, K., Schad, K., Bosse, M., Zimmermann, S. and Schweneker, M. (2002) Regulation of Raf-Akt cross-talk. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 277 (34), pp. 31099–31106.

Momenimovahed, Z. and Salehiniya, H. (2019) Epidemiological characteristics of and risk factors for breast cancer in the world *Breast Cancer: Targets and Therapy* 11 p.pp. 151–164.

Moore, C.B., Guthrie, E.H., Huang, M.T.H. and Taxman, D.J. (2010) Short hairpin RNA (shRNA): design, delivery, and assessment of gene knockdown. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)*. 629 pp. 141–158.

Morimura, S. and Takahashi, K. (2011) Rac1 and Stathmin but Not EB1 Are Required for Invasion of Breast Cancer Cells in Response to IGF-I. *International Journal of Cell Biology*. 2011 pp. 1–9.

Mugabo, Y. and Lim, G.E. (2018) Scaffold Proteins: From Coordinating Signaling Pathways to Metabolic Regulation. *Endocrinology*. 159 (11), pp. 3615–3630.

Nadji, M., Gomez-Fernandez, C., Ganjei-Azar, P. and Morales, A.R. (2005) Immunohistochemistry of estrogen and progesterone receptors reconsidered: Experience with 5,993 breast cancers. *American Journal of Clinical Pathology*. 123 (1), pp. 21–27.

Nakai, K., Hung, M.C. and Yamaguchi, H. (2016) A perspective on anti-EGFR therapies targeting triple-negative breast cancer. *American Journal of Cancer Research*. 6 (8), pp. 1609–1623.

Nakamura, H. (2005) Thioredoxin and Its Related Molecules: Update 2005. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*. 7 (5–6), pp. 823–828.

Nakaso, K., Yano, H., Fukuhara, Y., Takeshima, T., Wada-Isoe, K. and Nakashima, K. (2003) PI3K is a key molecule in the Nrf2-mediated regulation of antioxidative proteins by hemin in human neuroblastoma cells. *FEBS Letters*. 546 (2–3), pp. 181–184.

Ngeow, J., Sesock, K. and Eng, C. (2017) Breast cancer risk and clinical implications for germline PTEN mutation carriers *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 165 (1) p.pp. 1–8.

Nicoletti, I., Migliorati, G., Pagliacci, M.C., Grignani, F. and Riccardi, C. (1991) A rapid and simple method for measuring thymocyte apoptosis by propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry. *Journal of immunological methods*. 139 (2), pp. 271–279.

Niemantsverdriet, M., Wagner, K., Visser, M. and Backendorf, C. (2008) Cellular functions of 14-3-3 ζ in apoptosis and cell adhesion emphasize its oncogenic character. *Oncogene*. 27 (9), pp. 1315–1319.

Nobukuni, T., Kozma, S.C. and Thomas, G. (2007) hvps34, an ancient player, enters a growing game: mTOR Complex1/S6K1 signaling *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 19 (2) p.pp. 135–141.

Normanno, N., Morabito, A., De Luca, A., Piccirillo, M.C., Gallo, M., Maiello, M.R. and Perrone, F. (2009) Target-based therapies in breast cancer: current status and future perspectives. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*. 16 (3), pp. 675–702.

Nounou, M.I., Elamrawy, F., Ahmed, N., Abdelraouf, K., Goda, S. and Syed-Sha-Qhattal, H. (2015) Breast cancer: Conventional diagnosis and treatment modalities and recent patents and technologies supplementary issue: Targeted therapies in breast cancer treatment. *Breast Cancer: Basic and Clinical Research*. 9 (Suppl 2), pp. 17–34.

Noushmehr, H., Weisenberger, D.J., Diefes, K., Phillips, H.S., Pujara, K., Berman, B.P., Pan, F., Pelloski, C.E., Sulman, E.P., Bhat, K.P., Verhaak, R.G.W., Hoadley, K.A., Hayes, D.N., Perou, C.M., et al. (2010) Identification of a CpG Island Methylator Phenotype that Defines a Distinct Subgroup of Glioma. *Cancer Cell*. 17 (5), pp. 510–522.

Obr, A.E., Kumar, S., Chang, Y.J., Bulatowicz, J.J., Barnes, B.J., Birge, R.B., Lazzarino, D.A., Gallagher, E., LeRoith, D. and Wood, T.L. (2018) Insulin-like growth factor receptor signaling in breast tumor epithelium protects cells from endoplasmic reticulum stress and regulates the tumor microenvironment. *Breast cancer research : BCR*. 20 (1), pp. 138.

Oktyabri, D., Ishimura, A., Tange, S., Terashima, M. and Suzuki, T. (2016) DOT1L histone methyltransferase regulates the expression of BCAT1 and is involved in sphere formation and cell migration of breast cancer cell lines. *Biochimie*. 123 pp. 20–31.

Olejniczak, M., Galka, P. and Krzyzosiak, W.J. (2009) Sequence-non-specific effects of RNA interference triggers and microRNA regulators. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 38 (1), pp. 1–16.

Ong, S.H., Hadari, Y.R., Gotoh, N., Guy, G.R., Schlessinger, J. and Lax, I. (2002) Stimulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase by fibroblast growth factor receptors is mediated by coordinated recruitment of multiple docking proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 98 (11), pp. 6074–6079.

Osborne, C.K., Schiff, R., Fuqua, S.A.W. and Shou, J. (2001) Estrogen Receptor: Current Understanding of Its Activation and Modulation. *Clinical Cancer Research*. 7 (12), pp. 4338–4342.

Pan, X.L., Ren, R.J., Wang, G., Tang, H.D. and Chen, S. Di (2010) The Gab2 in signal transduction and its potential role in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience Bulletin*. 26 (3), pp. 241–246.

Pandini, G., Vigneri, R., Costantino, A., Frasca, F., Ippolito, A., Fujita-Yamaguchi, Y., Siddle, K., Goldfine, I.D. and Belfiore, A. (1999) Insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) receptor overexpression in breast cancers leads to insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptor overexpression: Evidence for a second mechanism of IGF-I signaling. *Clinical Cancer Research*. 5 (7), pp. 1935–1944.

Papathanassiu, A.E., Ko, J.H., Imprialou, M., Bagnati, M., Srivastava, P.K., Vu, H.A., Cucchi, D., McAdoo, S.P., Ananieva, E.A., Mauro, C. and Behmoaras, J. (2017) BCAT1 controls metabolic reprogramming in activated human macrophages and is associated with inflammatory diseases. *Nature Communications*. 8 pp. 16040.

Patra, K.C. and Hay, N. (2014) The pentose phosphate pathway and cancer. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*. 39 (8), pp. 347–354.

Perez, E.A., Romond, E.H., Suman, V.J., Jeong, J.H., Davidson, N.E., Geyer, C.E., Martino, S., Mamounas, E.P., Kaufman, P.A. and Wolmark, N. (2011) Fouryear follow-up of trastuzumab plus adjuvant chemotherapy for operable human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive breast cancer: Joint analysis of data from NCCTG N9831 and NSABP B-31. In: *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 1 September 2011 (no place) American Society of Clinical Oncology. pp. 3366– 3373.

Perou, C.M., Sørile, T., Eisen, M.B., Van De Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S.S., Ress, C.A., Pollack, J.R., Ross, D.T., Johnsen, H., Akslen, L.A., Fluge, Ø., Pergammenschlkov, A., Williams, C., Zhu, S.X., et al. (2000) Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*. 406 (6797), pp. 747–752.

Pfaffenbach, K.T. and Lee, A.S. (2011) The critical role of GRP78 in physiologic and pathologic stress. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*. 23 (2), pp. 150–156.

Pfaffenbach, K.T., Pong, M., Morgan, T.E., Wang, H., Ott, K., Zhou, B., Longo, V.D. and Lee, A.S. (2012) GRP78/BiP is a novel downstream target of IGF-1 receptor mediated signaling. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*. 227 (12), pp. 3803–3811.

Pfeiffer, T., Schuster, S. and Bonhoeffer, S. (2001) Cooperation and competition in the evolution of ATP-producing pathways. *Science*. 292 (5516), pp. 504–507.

Phi, L.T.H., Sari, I.N., Yang, Y.-G., Lee, S.-H., Jun, N., Kim, K.S., Lee, Y.K. and Kwon, H.Y. (2018) Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs) in Drug Resistance and their Therapeutic Implications in Cancer Treatment. *Stem Cells International.* 2018 pp. 1–16.

Phung, M.T., Tin Tin, S. and Elwood, J.M. (2019) Prognostic models for breast cancer: A systematic review *BMC Cancer* 19 (1) p.pp. 1–18.

Picon-Ruiz, M., Morata-Tarifa, C., Valle-Goffin, J.J., Friedman, E.R. and Slingerland, J.M. (2017) Obesity and adverse breast cancer risk and outcome: Mechanistic insights and strategies for intervention. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*. 67 (5), pp. 378–397.

Plevritis, S.K., Munoz, D., Kurian, A.W., Stout, N.K., Alagoz, O., Near, A.M., Lee, S.J., Van Den Broek, J.J., Huang, X., Schechter, C.B., Sprague, B.L., Song, J., De Koning, H.J., Trentham-Dietz, A., et al. (2018) Association of screening and treatment with breast cancer mortality by molecular subtype in US women, 2000-2012. *JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association*. 319 (2), pp. 154–164.

Possemato, R., Marks, K.M., Shaul, Y.D., Pacold, M.E., Kim, D., Birsoy, K., Sethumadhavan, S., Woo, H.-K., Jang, H.G., Jha, A.K., Chen, W.W., Barrett, F.G., Stransky, N., Tsun, Z.-Y., et al. (2011) Functional genomics reveal that the serine synthesis pathway is essential in breast cancer. *Nature*. 476 (7360), pp. 346–350.

Prat, A., Pineda, E., Adamo, B., Galván, P., Fernández, A., Gaba, L., Díez, M., Viladot, M., Arance, A. and Muñoz, M. (2015) Clinical implications of the intrinsic molecular subtypes of breast cancer. *The Breast*. 24 pp. S26–S35.

Pronk, G.J., McGlade, J., Pelicci, G., Pawson, T. and Bos, J.L. (1993) Insulininduced phosphorylation of the 46- and 52-kDa Shc proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 268 (8), pp. 5748–5753.

Qaid, M.M. and Abdelrahman, M.M. (2016) Role of insulin and other related hormones in energy metabolism A review Pedro Gonz lez-Redondo (ed.). *Cogent Food & Agriculture*. 2 (1), .

Radhakrishnan, Y., Maile, L.A., Ling, Y., Graves, L.M. and Clemmons, D.R. (2008) Insulin-like growth factor-I stimulates Shc-dependent phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activation via Grb2-associated p85 in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 283 (24), pp. 16320–16331.

Raffel, S., Falcone, M., Kneisel, N., Hansson, J., Wang, W., Lutz, C., Bullinger, L., Poschet, G., Nonnenmacher, Y., Barnert, A., Bahr, C., Zeisberger, P.,

Przybylla, A., Sohn, M., et al. (2017) BCAT1 restricts αkG levels in AML stem cells leading to IDHmut-like DNA hypermethylation. *Nature*. 551 (7680), pp. 384–388.

Rajpathak, S.N., Gunter, M.J., Wylie-Rosett, J., Ho, G.Y.F., Kaplan, R.C., Muzumdar, R., Rohan, T.E. and Strickler, H.D. (2009) The role of insulin-like growth factor-I and its binding proteins in glucose homeostasis and type 2 diabetes *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews* 25 (1) p.pp. 3–12.

Ramachandran, N. and Colman, R.F. (1980) Chemical characterization of distinct subunits of pig heart DPN-specific isocitrate dehydrogenase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 255 (18), pp. 8859–8864.

Ravaioli, A. and Tassinari, D. (2000) Staging of breast cancer: Recommended standards. In: *Annals of Oncology* [online]. 1 January 2000 (no place) Narnia. pp. 3–6.

Raynaud, S., Carbuccia, N., Colin, C., Adélaïde, J., Mozziconacci, M.-J., Metellus, P., Chinot, O., Birnbaum, D., Chaffanet, M. and Figarella-Branger, D. (2010) Absence of R140Q mutation of isocitrate dehydrogenase 2 in gliomas and breast cancers. *Oncology Letters*. 1 (5), pp. 883–884.

Redig, A.J. and Mcallister, S.S. (2013) Breast cancer as a systemic disease: A view of metastasis. *Journal of Internal Medicine*. 274 (2), pp. 113–126.

Ricoult, S.J.H., Dibble, C.C., Asara, J.M. and Manning, B.D. (2016) Sterol Regulatory Element Binding Protein Regulates the Expression and Metabolic Functions of Wild-Type and Oncogenic IDH1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 36 (18), pp. 2384–2395.

Rimon, G., Bazenet, C.E., Philpott, K.L. and Rubin, L.L. (1997) Increased surface phosphatidylserine is an early marker of neuronal apoptosis. *Journal of neuroscience research*. 48 (6), pp. 563–570.

Rodriguez-Monterrosas, C., Diaz-Aragon, R., Cortes-Reynosa, P. and Salazar, E.P. (2018) Linoleic acid induces an increased response to insulin in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*. 119 (7), pp. 5413–5425.

Romero, N., Swain, P., Neilson, A. and Dranka, B. (2017) Improving Quantification of Cellular Glycolytic Rate Using Agilent Seahorse XF Technology. *Agilent Technologies*. 5099.

Rose, D.P. and Vona-Davis, L. (2012) The cellular and molecular mechanisms by which insulin influences breast cancer risk and progression *Endocrine-Related Cancer* 19 (6).

Rouleau, M., Patel, A., Hendzel, M.J., Kaufmann, S.H. and Poirier, G.G. (2010) PARP inhibition: PARP1 and beyond. *Nature Reviews Cancer*. 10 (4), pp. 293–301.

Roy, M., Li, Z. and Sacks, D.B. (2005) IQGAP1 is a scaffold for mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 25 (18), pp. 7940–7952.

Saadatmand, S., Bretveld, R., Siesling, S. and Tilanus-Linthorst, M.M.A. (2015)

Influence of tumour stage at breast cancer detection on survival in modern times: Population based study in 173 797 patients. *The British Medical Journal*. 351 pp. h4901.

Saltiel, A.R. and Kahn, C.R. (2001) Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism *Nature* 414 (6865) p.pp. 799–806.

Samson, S.C., Elliott, A., Mueller, B.D., Kim, Y., Carney, K.R., Bergman, J.P., Blenis, J. and Mendoza, M.C. (2019) P90 ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK) phosphorylates myosin phosphatase and thereby controls edge dynamics during cell migration. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 294 (28), pp. 10846–10862.

Sanger, F. (1960) Chemistry of Insulin. *British Medical Bulletin*. 16 (3), pp. 183–188.

Sant, M., Allemani, C., Capocaccia, R., Hakulinen, T., Aareleid, T., Coebergh, J.W., Coleman, M.P., Grosclaude, P., Martinez, C., Bell, J., Youngson, J. and Berrino, F. (2003) Stage at diagnosis is a key explanation of differences in breast cancer survival across Europe. *International Journal of Cancer*. 106 (3), pp. 416–422.

Saxton, R.A. and Sabatini, D.M. (2017) mTOR Signaling in Growth, Metabolism, and Disease. *Cell*. 168 (6), pp. 960–976.

Schöffski, P., Cresta, S., Mayer, I.A., Wildiers, H., Damian, S., Gendreau, S., Rooney, I., Morrissey, K.M., Spoerke, J.M., Ng, V.W., Singel, S.M. and Winer, E. (2018) A phase Ib study of pictilisib (GDC-0941) in combination with paclitaxel, with and without bevacizumab or trastuzumab, and with letrozole in advanced breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research*. 20 (1), pp. 109.

Schwartz, A.M., Henson, D.E., Chen, D. and Rajamarthandan, S. (2014) Histologic grade remains a prognostic factor for breast cancer regardless of the number of positive lymph nodes and tumor size: A study of 161 708 cases of breast cancer from the SEER program. *Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine*. 138 (8), pp. 1048–1052.

Shagufta and Ahmad, I. (2018) Tamoxifen a pioneering drug: An update on the therapeutic potential of tamoxifen derivatives. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*. 143 pp. 515–531.

Shah, N.R., Borenstein, J. and Dubois, R.W. (2005) Postmenopausal hormone therapy and breast cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Menopause*. 12 (6), pp. 668–678.

Shah, S.P., Roth, A., Goya, R., Oloumi, A., Ha, G., Zhao, Y., Turashvili, G., Ding, J., Tse, K., Haffari, G., Bashashati, A., Prentice, L.M., Khattra, J., Burleigh, A., et al. (2012) The clonal and mutational evolution spectrum of primary triple-negative breast cancers. *Nature*. 486 (7403), pp. 395–399.

Sharma, P. and Kumar, S. (2018) S961, a biosynthetic insulin receptor antagonist, downregulates insulin receptor expression & amp; suppresses the growth of breast cancer cells. *The Indian journal of medical research*. 147 (6), pp. 545–551.

Shi, J., Sun, B., Shi, W., Zuo, H., Cui, D., Ni, L. and Chen, J. (2015) Decreasing GSH and increasing ROS in chemosensitivity gliomas with IDH1 mutation. *Tumor Biology*. 36 (2), pp. 655–662.

Shimizu, N., Yoshikawa, N., Ito, N., Maruyama, T., Suzuki, Y., Takeda, S.I., Nakae, J., Tagata, Y., Nishitani, S., Takehana, K., Sano, M., Fukuda, K., Suematsu, M., Morimoto, C., et al. (2011) Crosstalk between glucocorticoid receptor and nutritional sensor mTOR in skeletal muscle. *Cell Metabolism*. 13 (2), pp. 170–182.

Shimomura, Y., Nanaumi, N., Suzuki, M., Popov, K.M. and Harris, R.A. (1990) Purification and partial characterization of branched-chain α-ketoacid dehydrogenase kinase from rat liver and rat heart. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*. 283 (2), pp. 293–299.

Silberstein, G.B. (2001) Role of the stroma in mammary development. *Breast Cancer Research*. 3 (4), pp. 218–223.

Sims, A.H., Howell, A., Howell, S.J. and Clarke, R.B. (2007) Origins of breast cancer subtypes and therapeutic implications. *Nature Clinical Practice Oncology*. 4 (9), pp. 516–525.

Sisci, D., Maris, P., Cesario, M.G., Anselmo, W., Coroniti, R., Trombino, G.E., Romeo, F., Ferraro, A., Lanzino, M., Aquila, S., Maggiolini, M., Mauro, L., Morelli, C. and Andò, S. (2013) The estrogen receptor α is the key regulator of the bifunctional role of FoxO3a transcription factor in breast cancer motility and invasiveness. *Cell Cycle*. 12 (21), pp. 3405–3420.

Slamon, D., Clark, G., Wong, S., Levin, W., Ullrich, A. and McGuire, W. (1987) Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. *Science*. 235 (4785), pp. 177–182.

Smittenaar, C.R., Petersen, K.A., Stewart, K. and Moitt, N. (2016) Cancer incidence and mortality projections in the UK until 2035. *British Journal of Cancer*. 115 (9), pp. 1147–1155.

Smolková, K., Dvořák, A., Zelenka, J., Vítek, L. and Ježek, P. (2015) Reductive carboxylation and 2-hydroxyglutarate formation by wild-type IDH2 in breast carcinoma cells. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*. 65 pp. 125–133.

Snell, K. (1985) Enzymes of serine metabolism in normal and neoplastic rat tissues. *BBA - General Subjects*. 843 (3), pp. 276–281.

Son, S.M., Park, S.J., Lee, H., Siddiqi, F., Lee, J.E., Menzies, F.M. and Rubinsztein, D.C. (2019) Leucine Signals to mTORC1 via Its Metabolite Acetyl-Coenzyme A. *Cell Metabolism*. 29 (1), pp. 192–201.

Soond, S.M. (2005) ERK-mediated phosphorylation of Thr735 in TNF -converting enzyme and its potential role in TACE protein trafficking. *Journal of Cell Science*. 118 (11), pp. 2371–2380.

Sørlie, T., Tibshirani, R., Parker, J., Hastie, T., Marron, J.S., Nobel, A., Deng, S.,

Johnsen, H., Pesich, R., Geisler, S., Demeter, J., Perou, C.M., Lønning, P.E., Brown, P.O., et al. (2003) Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 100 (14), pp. 8418–8423.

Sreekumar, A., Roarty, K. and Rosen, J.M. (2015) The mammary stem cell hierarchy: A looking glass into heterogeneous breast cancer landscapes. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*. 22 (6), pp. T161–T176.

Stoddard, B.L., Dean, A. and Koshland, D.E. (1993) Structure of Isocitrate Dehydrogenase with Isocitrate, Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate, and Calcium at 2.5-Å Resolution: A Pseudo-Michaelis Ternary Complex. *Biochemistry*. 32 (36), pp. 9310–9316.

Storz, P., Doppler, H., Copland, J.A., Simpson, K.J. and Toker, A. (2009) FOXO3a Promotes Tumor Cell Invasion through the Induction of Matrix Metalloproteinases. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 29 (18), pp. 4906–4917.

Sun, Y.-S., Zhao, Z., Yang, Z.-N., Xu, F., Lu, H.-J., Zhu, Z.-Y., Shi, W., Jiang, J., Yao, P.-P. and Zhu, H.-P. (2017) Risk Factors and Preventions of Breast Cancer. *International journal of biological sciences*. 13 (11), pp. 1387–1397.

Taguchi, K. and Yamamoto, M. (2017) The KEAP1-NRF2 System in Cancer. *Frontiers in oncology*. 7 pp. 85.

Taniguchi, C.M., Emanuelli, B. and Kahn, C.R. (2006) Critical nodes in signalling pathways: insights into insulin action. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*. 7 (2), pp. 85–96.

Tao, L., Schwab, R.B., Miguel, Y.S., Gomez, S.L., Canchola, A.J., Gago-Dominguez, M., Komenaka, I.K., Murphy, J.D., Molinolo, A.A. and Martinez, M.E. (2019) Breast cancer mortality in older and younger patients in California. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention*. 28 (2), pp. 303–310.

Taylor, J.H., Woods, P.S. and Hughes, W.L. (1957) The Organization and Duplication of Chromosomes as Revealed by Autoradiographic Studies Using Tritium-Labeled Thymidine. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 43 (1), pp. 122–128.

Terunuma, A., Putluri, N., Mishra, P., Mathé, E.A., Dorsey, T.H., Yi, M., Wallace, T.A., Issaq, H.J., Zhou, M., Keith Killian, J., Stevenson, H.S., Karoly, E.D., Chan, K., Samanta, S., et al. (2014) MYC-driven accumulation of 2-hydroxyglutarate is associated with breast cancer prognosis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 124 (1), pp. 398–412.

Thewes, V., Simon, R., Hlevnjak, M., Schlotter, M., Schroeter, P., Schmidt, K., Wu, Y., Anzeneder, T., Wang, W., Windisch, P., Kirchgäßner, M., Melling, N., Kneisel, N., Büttner, R., et al. (2017) The branched-chain amino acid transaminase 1 sustains growth of antiestrogen-resistant and ERα-negative breast cancer. *Oncogene*. 36 (29), pp. 4124–4134.

Thistle, J.E., Hellberg, Y., Mortensen, K., Hamilton–Dutoit, S., Kjærsgaard, A., Cronin–Fenton, D., Sørensen, H.T. and Lash, T.L. (2017) The effect of 14-3-3ζ
expression on tamoxifen resistance and breast cancer recurrence: a Danish population-based study. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*. 165 (3), pp. 633–643.

Timmerman, L.A., Holton, T., Yuneva, M., Louie, R.J., Padró, M., Daemen, A., Hu, M., Chan, D.A., Ethier, S.P., Van'tVeer, L.J., Polyak, K., McCormick, F. and Gray, J.W. (2013) Glutamine Sensitivity Analysis Identifies the xCT Antiporter as a Common Triple-Negative Breast Tumor Therapeutic Target. *Cancer Cell*. 24 (4), pp. 450–465.

Tong, C.W.S., Wu, M., Cho, W.C.S. and To, K.K.W. (2018) Recent advances in the treatment of breast cancer *Frontiers in Oncology* 8 (JUN).

Tönjes, M., Bai, A.H.C., Schmidt, K., Pleier, S. V., Plass, C., Hull, W.-E., Schlotter, M., Okun, J.G., Witt, H., Piro, R.M., König, R., Weibrecht, I., Karra, D., Turcan, S., et al. (2013) BCAT1 promotes cell proliferation through amino acid catabolism in gliomas carrying wild-type IDH1. *Nature Medicine*. 19 (7), pp. 901–908.

Torre, L.A., Siegel, R.L., Ward, E.M. and Jemal, A. (2016) Global cancer incidence and mortality rates and trends - An update *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention* 25 (1) p.pp. 16–27.

Tsujimoto, T., Kajio, H. and Sugiyama, T. (2017) Association between hyperinsulinemia and increased risk of cancer death in nonobese and obese people: A population-based observational study. *International Journal of Cancer*. 141 (1), pp. 102–111.

Tung, N., Lin, N.U., Kidd, J., Allen, B.A., Singh, N., Wenstrup, R.J., Hartman, A.R., Winer, E.P. and Garber, J.E. (2016) Frequency of germline mutations in 25 cancer susceptibility genes in a sequential series of patients with breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 34 (13), pp. 1460–1468.

Um, S.H., D'Alessio, D. and Thomas, G. (2006) Nutrient overload, insulin resistance, and ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1, S6K1 *Cell Metabolism* 3 (6) p.pp. 393–402.

Vickers, E.R., Kasza, A., Kurnaz, I.A., Seifert, A., Zeef, L.A.H., O'Donnell, A., Hayes, A. and Sharrocks, A.D. (2004) Ternary Complex Factor-Serum Response Factor Complex-Regulated Gene Activity Is Required for Cellular Proliferation and Inhibition of Apoptotic Cell Death. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 24 (23), pp. 10340–10351.

Volante, M., Brizzi, M.P., Faggiano, A., Rosa, S. La, Rapa, I., Ferrero, A., Mansueto, G., Righi, L., Garancini, S., Capella, C., De Rosa, G., Dogliotti, L., Colao, A. and Papotti, M. (2007) Somatostatin receptor type 2A immunohistochemistry in neuroendocrine tumors: A proposal of scoring system correlated with somatostatin receptor scintigraphy. *Modern Pathology*. 20 (11), pp. 1172–1182.

Vu, T. and Claret, F.X. (2012) Trastuzumab: Updated mechanisms of action and resistance in breast cancer. *Frontiers in Oncology*. 2 (62), pp. 1–6.

Wahba, H.A. and El-Hadaad, H.A. (2015) Current approaches in treatment of

triple-negative breast cancer. Cancer biology & medicine. 12 (2), pp. 106–116.

Waks, A.G. and Winer, E.P. (2019) Breast Cancer Treatment: A Review JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association 321 (3) p.pp. 288–300.

Wang, L. (2017) Early Diagnosis of Breast Cancer. Sensors. 17 (7), pp. 1572.

Wang, Z.-Q., Gobeil, S., Gregoire, J., Guillemette, C., Bachvarova, M., Bachvarov, D., Vanderhyden, B., Plante, M., Faddaoui, A., Sebastianelli, A., Macdonald, E. and Renaud, M.-C. (2015) BCAT1 expression associates with ovarian cancer progression: possible implications in altered disease metabolism. *Oncotarget*. 6 (31), pp. 31522–31543.

Warburg, O., Wind, F. and Negelein, E. (1927) THE METABOLISM OF TUMORS IN THE BODY. *The Journal of general physiology*. 8 (6), pp. 519–530.

Weigelt, B., Geyer, F.C. and Reis-Filho, J.S. (2010) Histological types of breast cancer: How special are they? *Molecular Oncology* [online] 4 (3) p.pp. 192–208.

Wolff, A.C., Hammond, M.E.H., Hicks, D.G., Dowsett, M., McShane, L.M., Allison, K.H., Allred, D.C., Bartlett, J.M.S., Bilous, M., Fitzgibbons, P., Hanna, W., Jenkins, R.B., Mangu, P.B., Paik, S., et al. (2013) Recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 31 (31), pp. 3997–4013.

Wubetu, G.Y., Utsunomiya, T., Ishikawa, D., Ikemoto, T., Yamada, S., Morine, Y., Iwahashi, S., Saito, Y., Arakawa, Y., Imura, S., Arimochi, H. and Shimada, M. (2014) Branched chain amino acid suppressed insulin-initiated proliferation of human cancer cells through induction of autophagy. *Anticancer Research*. 34 (9), pp. 4789–4796.

Xiao, F., Huang, Z., Li, H., Yu, J., Wang, C., Chen, S., Meng, Q., Cheng, Y., Gao, X., Li, J., Liu, Y. and Guo, F. (2011) Leucine deprivation increases hepatic insulin sensitivity via GCN2/mTOR/S6K1 and AMPK pathways. *Diabetes*. 60 (3), pp. 746–756.

Xu, J., Chen, Y. and Olopade, O.I. (2010) MYC and Breast Cancer. *Genes & Cancer*. 1 (6), pp. 629–640.

Xu, M., Liu, Q., Jia, Y., Tu, K., Yao, Y., Liu, Q. and Guo, C. (2016) BCAT1 promotes tumor cell migration and invasion in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Oncology Letters*. 12 (4), pp. 2648–2656.

Yadav, N., Kumar, S., Marlowe, T., Chaudhary, A.K., Kumar, R., Wang, J., O'Malley, J., Boland, P.M., Jayanthi, S., Kumar, T.K.S., Yadava, N. and Chandra, D. (2015) Oxidative phosphorylation-dependent regulation of cancer cell apoptosis in response to anticancer agents. *Cell Death and Disease*. 6 (11), pp. e1969–e1969.

Yamaguchi, Y. (2007) Microenvironmental regulation of estrogen signals in breast cancer. *Breast cancer.* 14 (2), pp. 175–181.

Yan, H., Parsons, D.W., Jin, G., McLendon, R., Rasheed, B.A., Yuan, W., Kos, I.,

Batinic-Haberle, I., Jones, S., Riggins, G.J., Friedman, H., Friedman, A., Reardon, D., Herndon, J., et al. (2009) IDH1 and IDH2 Mutations in Gliomas. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 360 (8), pp. 765–773.

Yang, M. and Vousden, K.H. (2016) Serine and one-carbon metabolism in cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer.* 16 (10), pp. 650–662.

Yang, Z., Barnes, C.J. and Kumar, R. (2004) Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 status modulates subcellular localization of and interaction with estrogen receptor α in breast cancer cells. *Clinical Cancer Research*. 10 (11), pp. 3621–3628.

Yarden, Y. and Pines, G. (2012) The ERBB network: At last, cancer therapy meets systems biology. *Nature Reviews Cancer*. 12 (8), pp. 553–563.

Yoshida, G.J. (2015) Metabolic reprogramming: The emerging concept and associated therapeutic strategies. *Journal of Experimental and Clinical Cancer Research*. 34 (1), pp. 111.

Yoshikawa, R., Yanagi, H., Shen, C.S., Fujiwara, Y., Noda, M., Yagyu, T., Gega, M., Oshima, T., Yamamura, T., Okamura, H., Nakano, Y., Morinaga, T. and Hashimoto-Tamaoki, T. (2006) ECA39 is a novel distant metastasis-related biomarker in colorectal cancer. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*. 12 (36), pp. 5884–5889.

Zaballos, M.A., Acuña-Ruiz, A., Morante, M., Crespo, P. and Santisteban, P. (2019) Regulators of the RAS-ERK pathway as therapeutic targets in thyroid cancer. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*. 26 (6), pp. R319–R344.

Zakrzewska, M., Haugsten, E.M., Nadratowska-Wesolowska, B., Oppelt, A., Hausott, B., Jin, Y., Otlewski, J., Wesche, J. and Wiedlocha, A. (2013) ERK-mediated phosphorylation of fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 on Ser 777 inhibits signaling. *Science Signaling*. 6 (262), pp. ra11.

Zapf, J., Schmid, C. and Froesch, E.R. (1984) Biological and immunological properties of insulin-like growth factors (IGF) I and II. *Clinics in endocrinology and metabolism.* 13 (1), pp. 3–30.

Zhang, E.Y., Mu, Z., Snyder, M., Jeong, S.-K., Paik, Y.-K., Zhang, E.Y., Hofree, M., Beavis, R.C., Omenn, G.S., Robertson, F., Hancock, W.S., Zhang, A.F., Ideker, T., Im, H., et al. (2013) Genome Wide Proteomics of ERBB2 and EGFR and Other Oncogenic Pathways in Inflammatory Breast Cancer. *Journal of Proteome Research*. 12 (6), pp. 2805–2817.

Zhang, J., Pavlova, N.N. and Thompson, C.B. (2017) Cancer cell metabolism: the essential role of the nonessential amino acid, glutamine. *The EMBO Journal*. 36 (10), pp. 1302–1315.

Zhang, L. and Han, J. (2017) Branched-chain amino acid transaminase 1 (BCAT1) promotes the growth of breast cancer cells through improving mTORmediated mitochondrial biogenesis and function. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 486 (2), pp. 224–231. Zheng, J. (2012) Energy metabolism of cancer: Glycolysis versus oxidative phosphorylation (review). *Oncology Letters*. 4 (6), pp. 1151–1157.

Zhu, W., Shao, Y. and Peng, Y. (2017) MicroRNA-218 inhibits tumor growth and increases chemosensitivity to CDDP treatment by targeting BCAT1 in prostate cancer. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*. 56 (6), pp. 1570–1577.

7.0 Appendix

Mai Ahmed Shafei







Figure 7.2. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A and 3.20C of metabolic protein expression in breast cancer cell lines. 20 μ g of cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE on a 12% gel and probed for the respective antibodies as described in the materials and methods. Cropped immunoblots for hBCATc and loading control replicates.



Figure 7.3. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein expression in breast cancer cell lines. $20 \ \mu g$ of cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE on a 12% gel and probed for the respective antibodies as described in the materials and methods. (A) Full-length immunoblot for hBCATm for panel of breast cancer cell lines (B) full-length immunoblot for GAPDH for panel of breast cancer cell lines.



Figure 7.4. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein expression in breast cancer cell lines. 20 μ g of cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE on a 12% gel and probed for the respective antibodies as described in the materials and methods. Cropped immunoblots for hBCATm and GAPDH replicates.



Figure 7.5. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein expression in breast cancer cell lines. 20 μ g of cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE on a 12% gel and probed for the respective antibodies as described in the materials and methods. (A) Full-length immunoblot for IDH1 for panel of breast cancer cell lines (B) full-length immunoblot for GAPDH for panel of breast cancer cell lines.



Figure 7.6. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein expression in breast cancer cell lines. $20 \ \mu g$ of cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE on a 12% gel and probed for the respective antibodies as described in the materials and methods. Cropped immunoblots for IDH1 and GAPDH replicates.



Figure 7.7. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein expression in breast cancer cell lines. 20 μ g of cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE on a 12% gel and probed for the respective antibodies as described in the materials and methods. (A) Full-length immunoblot for IDH2 for panel of breast cancer cell lines (B) full-length immunoblot for GAPDH for panel of breast cancer cell lines.



Figure 7.8. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein expression in breast cancer cell lines. $20 \ \mu g$ of cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE on a 12% gel and probed for the respective antibodies as described in the materials and methods. Cropped immunoblots for IDH2 and GAPDH replicates.



GAPDH

Figure 7.9. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein expression in breast cancer cell lines. 20 μ g of cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE on a 12% gel and probed for the respective antibodies as described in the materials and methods. (A) Full-length immunoblot for PHGDH for panel of breast cancer cell lines (B) full-length immunoblot for GAPDH for panel of breast cancer cell lines.



Figure 7.10. Western blot repeats of Figure 3.20A of metabolic protein expression in breast cancer cell lines. 20 μ g of cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE on a 12% gel and probed for the respective antibodies as described in the materials and methods. Cropped immunoblots for PHGDH and GAPDH replicates.



Figure 7.11. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.1A of siRNA knockdown of *BCAT1* in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells treated with 20 nM *BCAT1* siRNA transfection for 72 hours. (A) Full-length immunoblot for hBCATc (B) Full-length immunoblot for α -tubulin (C) Cropped immunoblots for hBCATc and α -tubulin.



Figure 7.12. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.8B and 4.9A of shRNA knockdown of *BCAT1* and overexpression confirmation in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were stably transfected with shRNA for knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty). (A) Immunoblot for hBCATc with molecular markers (B) immunoblot for α -tubulin with molecular markers (C) Cropped immunoblots for hBCATc and α -tubulin.



Figure 7.13. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.8B and 4.9A of shRNA knockdown of *BCAT1* and overexpression confirmation in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were stably transfected with shRNA for knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty). Cropped immunoblots for hBCATc and α -tubulin.



Figure 7.14. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9B of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were stably transfected with shRNA for knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty). (A) Immunoblot for IGF1R- β with molecular markers (B) immunoblot for α -tubulin with molecular markers (C) Cropped immunoblots for IGF1R- β and α -tubulin.



Figure 7.15. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9C of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were stably transfected with shRNA for knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty). (A) Immunoblot for Shc with molecular markers (B) immunoblot for α -tubulin with molecular markers.







Figure 7.17. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.9D of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates IGF-1/insulin signalling cascade in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were stably transfected with shRNA for knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty). (A) Immunoblot for SOS with molecular markers (B) immunoblot for α -tubulin with molecular markers.



Figure 7.18. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10A of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. (A) Full length immunoblot for p-MAPK (B) Full-length immunoblot for α -tubulin.



Figure 7.19. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10A of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. Cropped immunoblots for p-MAPK and α -tubulin replicates.



α-tubulin

Figure 7.20. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10B of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. (A) Full length immunoblot for MAPK (B) Full-length immunoblot for α -tubulin.



Figure 7.21. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.10B of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* negatively regulates phosphorylation of MAPK in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. Cropped immunoblots for MAPK and α -tubulin replicates.



Figure 7.22. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.15A of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. (A) immunoblot for p-Akt with molecular markers (B) Full-length immunoblot for α -tubulin with molecular markers.



Figure 7.23. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.15A of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. Cropped immunoblots for p-Akt and α -tubulin replicates.







Figure 7.25. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.15B of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. Cropped immunoblots for Akt and α -tubulin replicates



Figure 7.26. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.16A of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates the mTOR axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. (A) immunoblot for p-mTOR with molecular markers (B) immunoblot for α -tubulin with molecular markers.



Figure 7.27. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.16A of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates the mTOR axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. Cropped immunoblots for p-mTOR and α -tubulin replicates.



Figure 7.28. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.16B of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates the mTOR axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. (A) immunoblot for mTOR with molecular markers (B) immunoblot for α -tubulin with molecular markers.



Figure 7.29. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.16B of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates the mTOR axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were treated with stable shRNA transfection for *BCAT1* knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty) for 8 days and treated with 100 nM insulin and 100 ng/mL IGF-1 for 24 hours accordingly. Cropped immunoblots for mTOR and α -tubulin replicates.



Figure 7.30. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.17A of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates downstream targets of the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were stably transfected with shRNA for knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty). (A) immunoblot for FOXO3a with molecular markers (B) immunoblot for α -tubulin with molecular markers (C) cropped immunoblots for FOXO3a and α -tubulin replicates.



Figure 7.31. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.17B of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates downstream targets of the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were stably transfected with shRNA for knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty). (A) immunoblot for Nrf2 with molecular markers (B) immunoblot for α -tubulin with molecular markers (C) cropped immunoblots for Nrf2 and α -tubulin replicates.


Figure 7.32. Western blot repeats of Figure 4.17C of knockdown and overexpression of *BCAT1* regulates downstream targets of the Akt axis in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cells were stably transfected with shRNA for knockdown (BCAT1) and overexpression (hBCATc) or unmodified pULTRA plasmid with no insertions as a control (Empty). (A) immunoblot for GRP78 with molecular markers (B) immunoblot for α -tubulin with molecular markers.